
 
Stephen Fulford        Gene Hall J T Surles Betsy Barfield Stephen Walker 

District 1   District 2 District 3 Vice-Chair District 4 Chairwoman District 5 
 

Kirk Reams Parrish Barwick T. Buckingham Bird 
Clerk of Courts County Coordinator County Attorney 

 

BOARD OF COUNTYCOMMISSIONERS 
JEFFERSON COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

THE KEYSTONE COUNTY-ESTABLISHED 1827 
1 COURTHOUSE CIRCLE; MONTICELLO, FLORIDA 32344 

PHONE: (850)-342-0287 

REGULAR SESSION AGENDA: 
February 21, 2019 at the Courthouse Annex 
435 W. Walnut Street, Monticello, FL 32344 

 

1. 6 PM CALL TO ORDER, INVOCATION, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

2. PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS, PRESENTATIONS & AWARDS 
 

3. CONSENT AGENDA 
a) Approval of Agenda 
b) General Fund / Transportation Vouchers For Approval: 2.12 & 2.21.2019  
c) BOCC Minutes For Approval 2.7.2019 – Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing  

 

4. GENERAL BUSINESS 
a) Presentation of Financial Audit 2016/17 – Chris Johnson 

1. Contract Professional For Accounting Oversight 
2. Accounting Software Discussion  
3. Carr Riggs & Ingram Future Contract 

b) Surplus Property Actions:  
1. U.S. 19 North Gas Station H. Thompson Property 
2. Moody Road Off HWY 59 Close to Hiawatha Farms area North of Lloyd 
3. 282 North Forest Rd.  

c) City of Monticello Road Construction Request – Comm. Hall 
d) Housing Department –  

1. SHIP Satisfaction of Lien Gillyard $30,000 
 

5. CLERK OF COURTS -  
 

6. Citizens Request & Input on Non-Agenda Items (3 Minute Limit Please) 
 

7. COUNTY COORDINATOR - Road Department – Reports and Activity  
 

8. COUNTY ATTORNEY - SHIP Housing Project Yeager - Items of Need: 
*Delinquent Taxes, *Property Deed, *Construction Completion & *Disposing of 
Property  

 

9. COMMISSIONER DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

ADJOURN: 
From the manual "Government in the Sunshine", page 40: Paragraph C. Each board, commission or agency of this state or of any political subdivision 
thereof shall include in the notice of any meeting or hearing, if notice of meeting or hearing is required, of such board, commission, or agency, 
conspicuously on such notice, the advice that if a person decides to appeal any decision made by the board, agency or commission with respect to any 
matter considered at such meeting or hearing, he will need a record of the proceedings, and for such purpose he may need to ensure that a verbatim 
record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 

mailto:bbarfield@jeffersoncountyfl.gov
mailto:dmonroe@jeffersoncountfl.gov
mailto:pbarwick@jeffersoncountyfl.gov
mailto:tbbird@nettally.com


REPORT DATE  02/14/2019                     JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS                          PAGE         1  
SYSTEM DATE  02/14/2019                    LIST OF VOUCHERS TO BE PAID - CASH CODE ORDER                            TIME  13:56:03  
FILES ID     B                                                                                                      USER  KNEWBERRY 

VENDOR                      DUE     PURCHASE     INVOICE   DUE       TY VOUCHER                                 TRANS      DISC/WITH
NAME                        DATE    ORDER NUMBER NUMBER      DATE    PE NUMBER       TRANSACTION DESCRIPTION   AMOUNT         AMOUNT

   CASH CODE-01001            G/L CASH ACCOUNT-011010000                 CASH-CHECKING-GEN. FUND                                    

Advanced Business System 02/21/2019         -    324491   12/18/2018 VR 01022119-060 Mtr#71985                  34.90            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR ADVBUSIN Advanced Business Systems   TOTALS           34.90            .00

Animal Medical Clinic*   02/21/2019         -    293107   01/25/2019 VR 01022119-056 #4512 Spay K9             190.00            .00
Animal Medical Clinic*   02/21/2019         -    293108   01/25/2019 VR 01022119-055 #4512 Meds                 18.00            .00
Animal Medical Clinic*   02/21/2019         -    293608   02/06/2019 VR 01022119-057 #4512 Vet Services        135.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR ANIMALCL Animal Medical Clinic*      TOTALS          343.00            .00

Apalachee Center         02/21/2019         -    681904   06/02/2019 VR 01022119-061 JeffCntyBaker-MarchmanAct                      
                                                                                                              2865.03            .00
Apalachee Center         02/21/2019         -    681904   06/02/2019 VR 01022119-062 JeffCntyBaker-MarchmanAct 401.64            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR APAMENHE Apalachee Center            TOTALS         3266.67            .00

BancorpSouth             02/21/2019         -    658504   02/03/2019 VR 22022119-071 #002-0070780-004                               
                                                                                                              3499.91            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR BANCORPS BancorpSouth                TOTALS         3499.91            .00

Gerald Barnes            02/21/2019         -    600      01/22/2019 VR 01022119-025 Build&StainShelving       850.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR BARNESGE Gerald Barnes               TOTALS          850.00            .00

Best Janitorial Supplies 02/21/2019         -    6122     02/07/2019 VR 22022119-077 SolidWaste-BathTis,Towels  71.87            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR BESTJANI Best Janitorial Supplies    TOTALS           71.87            .00

Big Bend Petroleum       02/21/2019         -    1699     01/19/2019 VR 19022119-069 Lloyd Vol Fuel             97.24            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR BIGBEND  Big Bend Petroleum          TOTALS           97.24            .00

Campbell's Plumbing, LLC 02/21/2019         -    13149    02/04/2019 VR 01022119-001 Courthouse-InstSupplyLine  95.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR CAMPBPLU Campbell's Plumbing, LLC    TOTALS           95.00            .00

CenturyLink              02/21/2019         -    09820219 02/01/2019 VR 01022119-033 Act#311120982              60.61            .00
CenturyLink              02/21/2019         -    64950219 02/02/2019 VR 22022119-086 Act#461036495             104.72            .00
CenturyLink              02/21/2019         -    87870219 02/01/2019 VR 01022119-035 Act#312248787              66.74            .00
CenturyLink              02/21/2019         -    87870219 02/01/2019 VR 01022119-036 Act#312248787              66.73            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR CENTLINK CenturyLink                 TOTALS          298.80            .00

Christine Golden Webcode 02/21/2019         -    2019-006 02/05/2019 VR 01022119-047 Monthly Website Services  250.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR CHRISTIN Christine Golden Webcode    TOTALS          250.00            .00

Cooksey Welding          02/21/2019         -    190202   02/04/2019 VR 19022119-065 Material&Labor-TrainBldg                       
                                                                                                              8725.00            .00



REPORT DATE  02/14/2019                     JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS                          PAGE         2  
SYSTEM DATE  02/14/2019                    LIST OF VOUCHERS TO BE PAID - CASH CODE ORDER                            TIME  13:56:03  
FILES ID     B                                                                                                      USER  KNEWBERRY 

VENDOR                      DUE     PURCHASE     INVOICE   DUE       TY VOUCHER                                 TRANS      DISC/WITH
NAME                        DATE    ORDER NUMBER NUMBER      DATE    PE NUMBER       TRANSACTION DESCRIPTION   AMOUNT         AMOUNT

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR COOKWELD Cooksey Welding             TOTALS         8725.00            .00

Corinne's Winner Center  02/21/2019         -    10151801 10/15/2018 VR 01022119-037 Extension-Plaques,Trophie 503.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR CORINNES Corinne's Winner Center     TOTALS          503.00            .00

Cricket's Tree Service   02/21/2019         -    012430   01/28/2019 VR 01022119-049 Tree Pruning                                   
                                                                                                              3000.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR CRICKETS Cricket's Tree Service      TOTALS         3000.00            .00

State of Florida         02/21/2019         -    2U-3742  09/19/2018 VR 01022119-013 #216-3888                  67.23            .00
State of Florida         02/21/2019         -    2U-3743  09/19/2018 VR 01022119-014 #216-3888                   1.53            .00
State of Florida         02/21/2019         -    2V-2466  10/22/2018 VR 01022119-015 #216-3888                  67.23            .00
State of Florida         02/21/2019         -    2V-2467  10/22/2018 VR 01022119-016 #216-3888                   1.53            .00
State of Florida         02/21/2019         -    2X-0855  11/20/2018 VR 01022119-017 #216-3888                  67.23            .00
State of Florida         02/21/2019         -    2X-0856  11/20/2018 VR 01022119-018 #216-3888                   1.03            .00
State of Florida         02/21/2019         -    2X-9296  12/21/2018 VR 01022119-019 #216-3888                  67.23            .00
State of Florida         02/21/2019         -    2X-9297  12/21/2018 VR 01022119-020 #216-3888                   3.99            .00
State of Florida         02/21/2019         -    2Y-7566  01/18/2019 VR 01022119-021 #216-3888                  67.23            .00
State of Florida         02/21/2019         -    2Y-7567  01/18/2019 VR 01022119-022 #216-3888                   2.10            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR DEPTMGMT State of Florida            TOTALS          346.33            .00

Dewberry Engineers, Inc. 02/21/2019         -    1649594  02/06/2019 VR 01022119-007 South Main Avenue                              
                                                                                                              7500.00            .00
Dewberry Engineers, Inc. 02/21/2019         -    1649595  02/06/2019 VR 01022119-008 River Road                                     
                                                                                                              3800.00            .00
Dewberry Engineers, Inc. 02/21/2019         -    1649596  02/06/2019 VR 01022119-010 Thompson Valley Road                           
                                                                                                              2810.80            .00
Dewberry Engineers, Inc. 02/21/2019         -    1649597  02/06/2019 VR 01022119-009 Waukeenah Hwy                                  
                                                                                                             20000.00            .00
Dewberry Engineers, Inc. 02/21/2019         -    1649966  02/04/2019 VR 01022119-011 Wacissa Spring Ph2                             
                                                                                                              1000.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR DEWBERRY Dewberry Engineers, Inc.    TOTALS        35110.80            .00

Duke Energy              02/21/2019         -    02580219 02/06/2019 VR 19022119-100 Act#8220140258            266.39            .00
Duke Energy              02/21/2019         -    02580219 02/06/2019 VR 28022119-101 Act#8220140258            266.38            .00
Duke Energy              02/21/2019         -    20520119 02/06/2019 VR 01022119-039 Act#6505372052            129.88            .00
Duke Energy              02/21/2019         -    45630119 02/05/2019 VR 01022119-044 Act#4293294563             18.58            .00
Duke Energy              02/21/2019         -    51500119 02/05/2019 VR 01022119-043 Act#9160135150                                 
                                                                                                              1396.06            .00
Duke Energy              02/21/2019         -    90900119 02/05/2019 VR 01022119-040 Act#0846449090            251.27            .00
Duke Energy              02/21/2019         -    90900119 02/05/2019 VR 01022119-041 Act#0846449090            251.28            .00
Duke Energy              02/21/2019         -    91430119 02/06/2019 VR 01022119-038 Act#7767549143             51.65            .00
Duke Energy              02/21/2019         -    93470219 02/06/2019 VR 22022119-081 Act#2704479347            225.95            .00
Duke Energy              02/21/2019         -    98070119 02/05/2019 VR 01022119-042 Act#5175629807                                 
                                                                                                              1296.39            .00



REPORT DATE  02/14/2019                     JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS                          PAGE         3  
SYSTEM DATE  02/14/2019                    LIST OF VOUCHERS TO BE PAID - CASH CODE ORDER                            TIME  13:56:03  
FILES ID     B                                                                                                      USER  KNEWBERRY 

VENDOR                      DUE     PURCHASE     INVOICE   DUE       TY VOUCHER                                 TRANS      DISC/WITH
NAME                        DATE    ORDER NUMBER NUMBER      DATE    PE NUMBER       TRANSACTION DESCRIPTION   AMOUNT         AMOUNT

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR DUKE     Duke Energy                 TOTALS         4153.83            .00

FourStar Freightliner,In 02/21/2019         -    01311901 01/31/2019 VR 22022119-079 #13611 EngineLightRepair                       
                                                                                                              5406.61            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR FOURSTAR FourStar Freightliner,Inc   TOTALS         5406.61            .00

William Greene           02/21/2019         -    02071901 02/07/2019 VR 28022119-103 HealthcareProviderCards   302.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR GREENEWI William Greene              TOTALS          302.00            .00

Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    48244    01/15/2019 VR 01022119-026 Plywood,Stain             284.95            .00
Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    48248    01/15/2019 VR 01022119-027 Plywood Exhange             1.98            .00
Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    48274    01/16/2019 VR 01022119-032 #300166 Spruce Plywood     20.94            .00
Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    48309    01/16/2019 VR 01022119-028 #300166 Bolts              21.47            .00
Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    48328    01/16/2019 VR 01022119-029 #300166 Roller,Tray,Liner  13.96            .00
Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    48336    01/17/2019 VR 01022119-030 #300166 Roller,Tray Liner  11.97            .00
Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    48400    01/18/2019 VR 01022119-031 #300166 Sealant,Gloves     19.96            .00
Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    49341    02/06/2019 VR 22022119-091 #300166 Pole,WindowBrush   34.48            .00
Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    49384    02/06/2019 VR 22022119-090 #300166 Padlocks          143.88            .00
Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    49426    02/07/2019 VR 22022119-078 #300166 BathTissue,Cleanr 123.34            .00
Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    49457    02/07/2019 VR 22022119-076 #300166 BRZ WP RND OutBox   9.48            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR GULFCOLU Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply*   TOTALS          686.41            .00

Total Funds              02/21/2019         -    02031901 02/03/2019 VR 01022119-059 Act#7900011002479908      750.50            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR HASLER   Total Funds                 TOTALS          750.50            .00

Jefferson Community Wate 02/21/2019         -    18000119 01/31/2019 VR 01022119-050 Act#0201800                38.50            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR JEFFCOMM Jefferson Community Water   TOTALS           38.50            .00

Ketchum, Wood & Burgert  02/21/2019         -    9-42     02/07/2019 VR 01022119-034 Medical Fees 02/19                             
                                                                                                              6234.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR KETCHUMW Ketchum, Wood & Burgert     TOTALS         6234.00            .00

Madison County           02/21/2019         -    01211901 01/21/2019 VR 01022119-058 VA Internet 01/19          42.68            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR MADISONB Madison County              TOTALS           42.68            .00

MunicipalEmergencyServic 02/21/2019         -    1306411  02/04/2019 VR 19022119-068 #C57362 Coat, Pant                             
                                                                                                              1475.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR MES      MunicipalEmergencyService   TOTALS         1475.00            .00

Monticello Carquest Inc. 02/21/2019         -    38178425 02/07/2019 VR 22022119-073 Cust#263 HydFitng,HydHose  70.70            .00
Monticello Carquest Inc. 02/21/2019         -    38178464 02/08/2019 VR 22022119-074 Cust#263 Hyd Oil          177.18            .00
Monticello Carquest Inc. 02/21/2019         -    38178699 02/12/2019 VR 01022119-012 Cust#132 BeltTransmission  21.72            .00



REPORT DATE  02/14/2019                     JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS                          PAGE         4  
SYSTEM DATE  02/14/2019                    LIST OF VOUCHERS TO BE PAID - CASH CODE ORDER                            TIME  13:56:03  
FILES ID     B                                                                                                      USER  KNEWBERRY 

VENDOR                      DUE     PURCHASE     INVOICE   DUE       TY VOUCHER                                 TRANS      DISC/WITH
NAME                        DATE    ORDER NUMBER NUMBER      DATE    PE NUMBER       TRANSACTION DESCRIPTION   AMOUNT         AMOUNT

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR MONTCARQ Monticello Carquest Inc.    TOTALS          269.60            .00

Monticello News          02/21/2019         -    11427    02/06/2019 VR 01022119-024 PublicMtgLocationChange    30.25            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR MONTINEW Monticello News             TOTALS           30.25            .00

Morris Petroleum, Inc*   02/21/2019         -    01311901 01/31/2019 VR 22022119-089 Solid Waste Fuel           52.28            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR MORRISPE Morris Petroleum, Inc*      TOTALS           52.28            .00

MyOfficeProducts         02/21/2019         -    6533546  02/06/2019 VR 01022119-004 #40534 Boxes              265.16            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR MYOFFICE MyOfficeProducts            TOTALS          265.16            .00

Office Depot*            02/21/2019         -    10741076 01/31/2019 VR 01022119-051 #254322473-1 FilingDrawer 274.12            .00
Office Depot*            02/21/2019         -    10741076 01/31/2019 VR 01022119-052 #254325584-1 Towels,KCups  47.35            .00
Office Depot*            02/21/2019         -    10741076 01/31/2019 VR 01022119-053 #254326572-1 TrashLiners   10.95            .00
Office Depot*            02/21/2019         -    10741076 01/31/2019 VR 01022119-054 #260456715-1 Pens,PostIts  52.74            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR OFFDEP   Office Depot*               TOTALS          385.16            .00

O'Reilly Automotive, Inc 02/21/2019         -    5-363692 02/11/2019 VR 19022119-067 #336410 Fuel Filter         4.89            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR OREILLY  O'Reilly Automotive, Inc.   TOTALS            4.89            .00

Physio-Control, Inc.     02/21/2019         -    11900319 01/14/2019 VR 28022119-102 #00563701 USB Cable       279.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR PHYSIOCO Physio-Control, Inc.        TOTALS          279.00            .00

Piggly Wiggly            02/21/2019         -    207494   02/11/2019 VR 19022119-096 Act#103 PaperTowels,Clnrs  51.91            .00
Piggly Wiggly            02/21/2019         -    207494   02/11/2019 VR 28022119-097 Act#103 PaperTowels,Clnrs  51.91            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR PIGGLYWI Piggly Wiggly               TOTALS          103.82            .00

Pitney Bowes Global      02/21/2019         -    01241901 01/24/2019 VR 01022119-045 Act#8000-9000-0348-3785   144.81            .00
Pitney Bowes Global      02/21/2019         -    01241901 01/24/2019 VR 01022119-046 Act#8000-9000-0348-3785   144.80            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR PITBOGLO Pitney Bowes Global         TOTALS          289.61            .00

Plantation Propane, Inc. 02/21/2019         -    93275    02/07/2019 VR 22022119-080 Solid Waste Delivery       60.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR PLANTATI Plantation Propane, Inc.    TOTALS           60.00            .00

Priced Right Services LL 02/21/2019         -    013019   02/11/2019 VR 22022119-083 Solid Waste-Tire Change    50.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR PRICEDRI Priced Right Services LLC   TOTALS           50.00            .00

Pro Chem, Inc.           02/21/2019         -    36028    02/04/2019 VR 22022119-075 SolidWaste-NaturalAir,Glo 378.16            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR PRO-CHEM Pro Chem, Inc.              TOTALS          378.16            .00



REPORT DATE  02/14/2019                     JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS                          PAGE         5  
SYSTEM DATE  02/14/2019                    LIST OF VOUCHERS TO BE PAID - CASH CODE ORDER                            TIME  13:56:03  
FILES ID     B                                                                                                      USER  KNEWBERRY 

VENDOR                      DUE     PURCHASE     INVOICE   DUE       TY VOUCHER                                 TRANS      DISC/WITH
NAME                        DATE    ORDER NUMBER NUMBER      DATE    PE NUMBER       TRANSACTION DESCRIPTION   AMOUNT         AMOUNT

Restoration Assistance   02/21/2019         -    I-022074 02/05/2019 VR 22022119-087 Site Inspection 01/19                          
                                                                                                              2250.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR RESTORAT Restoration Assistance      TOTALS         2250.00            .00

Rev Cafe                 02/21/2019         -    02061901 02/06/2019 VR 29022119-105 VNNF Luncheon             321.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR REVCAFE  Rev Cafe                    TOTALS          321.00            .00

Right Way Welding & Fabr 02/21/2019         -    1509     02/07/2019 VR 22022119-072 RepairCompactorWalls,Pain                      
                                                                                                              2500.00            .00
Right Way Welding & Fabr 02/21/2019         -    78       02/05/2019 VR 22022119-088 SolidWst-CardboardBailer                       
                                                                                                              4500.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR RIGHTWEL Right Way Welding & Fabri   TOTALS         7000.00            .00

Ring Power Corporation*  02/21/2019         -    L4652115 02/06/2019 VR 22022119-085 #024323 InstallBrakeCylin                      
                                                                                                              1240.62            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR RINGPOWC Ring Power Corporation*     TOTALS         1240.62            .00

Shiver's Auto Rep & Part 02/21/2019         -    39520    02/08/2019 VR 19022119-066 LloydVol-StarterCore      458.43            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR SHIVERAU Shiver's Auto Rep & Parts   TOTALS          458.43            .00

The Shoe Box Inc.        02/21/2019         -    26486    02/04/2019 VR 19022119-092 FireRescue-Casper,Justin   65.00            .00
The Shoe Box Inc.        02/21/2019         -    26486    02/04/2019 VR 28022119-093 FireRescue-Casper,Justin   65.00            .00
The Shoe Box Inc.        02/21/2019         -    26496    02/05/2019 VR 19022119-095 FireRescue-Kacur,Joseph    56.24            .00
The Shoe Box Inc.        02/21/2019         -    26496    02/05/2019 VR 28022119-094 FireRescue-Kacur,Joseph    56.25            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR SHOEBOX  The Shoe Box Inc.           TOTALS          242.49            .00

Sinclair Broadcast Group 02/21/2019         -    1099853  02/05/2019 VR 29022119-104 WeddingShowcase,HomeTour                       
                                                                                                              1755.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR SINCLAIR Sinclair Broadcast Group    TOTALS         1755.00            .00

Stewart Heating & Coolin 02/21/2019         -    21165    10/01/2018 VR 01022119-063 CrtHse-InstallNewHeatPump                      
                                                                                                              2750.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR STEWARTH Stewart Heating & Cooling   TOTALS         2750.00            .00

Teletrac Inc             02/21/2019         -    91543371 02/01/2019 VR 22022119-084 Solid Waste 02/19-04/19                        
                                                                                                              1800.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR TELETRAC Teletrac Inc                TOTALS         1800.00            .00

Thomson West             02/21/2019         -    83970318 02/01/2019 VR 14022119-064 Act#1004054973            612.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR THOMSONW Thomson West                TOTALS          612.00            .00

Toshiba Financial Servic 02/21/2019         -    24180053 01/31/2019 VR 01022119-005 #009-1321378-000          145.00            .00



REPORT DATE  02/14/2019                     JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS                          PAGE         6  
SYSTEM DATE  02/14/2019                    LIST OF VOUCHERS TO BE PAID - CASH CODE ORDER                            TIME  13:56:03  
FILES ID     B                                                                                                      USER  KNEWBERRY 

VENDOR                      DUE     PURCHASE     INVOICE   DUE       TY VOUCHER                                 TRANS      DISC/WITH
NAME                        DATE    ORDER NUMBER NUMBER      DATE    PE NUMBER       TRANSACTION DESCRIPTION   AMOUNT         AMOUNT

Toshiba Financial Servic 02/21/2019         -    24180053 01/31/2019 VR 01022119-006 #009-1321378-000           35.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR TOSHIBA2 Toshiba Financial Service   TOTALS          180.00            .00

UniFirst Corporation     02/21/2019         -    0181038  02/07/2019 VR 22022119-070 Cust#1237569              162.74            .00
UniFirst Corporation     02/21/2019         -    0181048  02/07/2019 VR 01022119-003 Cust#1311916               89.40            .00
UniFirst Corporation     02/21/2019         -    0181055  02/07/2019 VR 01022119-002 Cust#1381144               34.32            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR UNIFIRST UniFirst Corporation        TOTALS          286.46            .00

US Bank Equipment Financ 02/21/2019         -    37711238 02/01/2019 VR 19022119-099 #500-0418748-000           18.80            .00
US Bank Equipment Financ 02/21/2019         -    37711238 02/01/2019 VR 28022119-098 #500-0418748-000           18.79            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR USBANK   US Bank Equipment Finance   TOTALS           37.59            .00

W.E.C. Air Cond & Heatin 02/21/2019         -    1241     01/31/2019 VR 01022119-023 Annex-DoublePole,DiagnFee 299.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR WECAIR   W.E.C. Air Cond & Heating   TOTALS          299.00            .00

2k webgroup              02/21/2019         -    7302     02/01/2019 VR 01022119-048 Monthly Maint & Hosting   219.45            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR 2KWEBGRO 2k webgroup                 TOTALS          219.45            .00

                                                     CASH ACCOUNT # 011010000                  TOTALS        97202.02            .00

                                                     BANK ACCOUNT # 0101001611                 TOTALS        97202.02            .00

                                                                                  FINAL REPORT TOTALS        97202.02            .00





REPORT DATE  02/14/2019                     JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS                          PAGE         1  
SYSTEM DATE  02/14/2019                    LIST OF VOUCHERS TO BE PAID - CASH CODE ORDER                            TIME  13:56:33  
FILES ID     B                                                                                                      USER  KNEWBERRY 

VENDOR                      DUE     PURCHASE     INVOICE   DUE       TY VOUCHER                                 TRANS      DISC/WITH
NAME                        DATE    ORDER NUMBER NUMBER      DATE    PE NUMBER       TRANSACTION DESCRIPTION   AMOUNT         AMOUNT

   CASH CODE-08008            G/L CASH ACCOUNT-111010000                 CASH-CHECKING-CO TRANS                                     

AG-PRO Companies         02/21/2019         -    P71745   02/11/2019 VR 11022119-025 #JEFFE0015 Wheel Ring     635.49            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR AGPRO    AG-PRO Companies            TOTALS          635.49            .00

Beard Equipment Company  02/21/2019         -    1095984  01/31/2019 VR 11022119-011 #700352 Filters,Oil       646.10            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR BEARD    Beard Equipment Company     TOTALS          646.10            .00

Big Bend Tire            02/21/2019         -    20006    01/07/2019 VR 11022119-008 Road-New Tires (8)                             
                                                                                                              2307.28            .00
Big Bend Tire            02/21/2019         -    20048    01/08/2019 VR 11022119-007 Road-New Tire (3)         375.43            .00
Big Bend Tire            02/21/2019         -    20152    01/16/2019 VR 11022119-006 Road-New Tire (2)         735.60            .00
Big Bend Tire            02/21/2019         -    20297    01/28/2019 VR 11022119-005 Road-New Tire             342.12            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR BIGBENTI Big Bend Tire               TOTALS         3760.43            .00

Capital Rubber & Industr 02/21/2019         -    84189    02/04/2019 VR 11022119-028 RoadDept-Adapter,Clamp     35.69            .00
Capital Rubber & Industr 02/21/2019         -    84235    02/06/2019 VR 11022119-027 RoadDept-Hose,Cleaner     376.10            .00
Capital Rubber & Industr 02/21/2019         -    84268    02/07/2019 VR 11022119-026 RoadDept-Hose             303.68            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR CAPITALR Capital Rubber & Industri   TOTALS          715.47            .00

Capital Truck, Inc.      02/21/2019         -    312716   02/04/2019 VR 11022119-009 #70222 Valve,Fitting       75.38            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR CAPTRUCK Capital Truck, Inc.         TOTALS           75.38            .00

Conrad Yelvington Distri 02/21/2019         -    979860   02/04/2019 VR 11022119-020 Limerock Base             121.77            .00
Conrad Yelvington Distri 02/21/2019         -    980788   02/05/2019 VR 11022119-037 Limerock Base             456.52            .00
Conrad Yelvington Distri 02/21/2019         -    981628   02/06/2019 VR 11022119-036 Limerock Base                                  
                                                                                                              1753.54            .00
Conrad Yelvington Distri 02/21/2019         -    982566   02/07/2019 VR 11022119-035 Limerock Base                                  
                                                                                                              1140.89            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR CONRADYE Conrad Yelvington Distrib   TOTALS         3472.72            .00

Duke Energy              02/21/2019         -    61050119 02/04/2019 VR 11022119-001 Act#9734176105            685.34            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR DUKE     Duke Energy                 TOTALS          685.34            .00

Emerald Coast Striping   02/21/2019         -    4430     12/14/2018 VR 11022119-032 4" Rumble Strip                                
                                                                                                              4000.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR EMERALDC Emerald Coast Striping      TOTALS         4000.00            .00

Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    49028    01/30/2019 VR 11022119-013 #300170 Ext Cord,Hex Bush  77.51            .00
Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply 02/21/2019         -    49244    02/05/2019 VR 11022119-015 #300170 Lawn Bags          27.98            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR GULFCOLU Gulf Coast Lumber/Supply*   TOTALS          105.49            .00

Jones Welding & Industri 02/21/2019         -    00538297 01/31/2019 VR 11022119-016 #58688 Cylinder Rental     72.54            .00



REPORT DATE  02/14/2019                     JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS                          PAGE         2  
SYSTEM DATE  02/14/2019                    LIST OF VOUCHERS TO BE PAID - CASH CODE ORDER                            TIME  13:56:33  
FILES ID     B                                                                                                      USER  KNEWBERRY 

VENDOR                      DUE     PURCHASE     INVOICE   DUE       TY VOUCHER                                 TRANS      DISC/WITH
NAME                        DATE    ORDER NUMBER NUMBER      DATE    PE NUMBER       TRANSACTION DESCRIPTION   AMOUNT         AMOUNT

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR JONESWEL Jones Welding & Industria   TOTALS           72.54            .00

Monticello Carquest Inc. 02/21/2019         -    38177833 01/30/2019 VR 11022119-010 Cust#132 Hyd Hose-Bulk     67.30            .00
Monticello Carquest Inc. 02/21/2019         -    38178639 02/11/2019 VR 11022119-024 Cust#132 Lube              20.52            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR MONTCARQ Monticello Carquest Inc.    TOTALS           87.82            .00

Morris Petroleum, Inc*   02/21/2019         -    01311901 01/31/2019 VR 11022119-019 Road Dept Fuel                                 
                                                                                                             18731.33            .00
Morris Petroleum, Inc*   02/21/2019         -    77262    01/29/2019 VR 11022119-023 Road Dept Fuel             69.95            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR MORRISPE Morris Petroleum, Inc*      TOTALS        18801.28            .00

MST Sod Equipment        02/21/2019         -    84192    12/27/2018 VR 11022119-014 RoadDept-Flasher TFG750    54.82            .00
MST Sod Equipment        02/21/2019         -    84383    01/18/2019 VR 11022119-012 RoadDept-Steering TRG630  454.42            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR MSTSOD   MST Sod Equipment           TOTALS          509.24            .00

Grubbs Auto Parts, LLC   02/21/2019         -    227368   01/31/2019 VR 11022119-017 #1699 Oxygen               13.95            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR NAPAAUTO Grubbs Auto Parts, LLC      TOTALS           13.95            .00

Office Depot*            02/21/2019         -    26990776 02/04/2019 VR 11022119-029 #269907768-1 Paper         32.99            .00
Office Depot*            02/21/2019         -    26990776 02/04/2019 VR 11022119-030 #269907768-1 Gum,Towels    42.28            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR OFFDEP   Office Depot*               TOTALS           75.27            .00

Ring Power Corporation*  02/21/2019         -    R4629743 01/30/2019 VR 11022119-004 #024320 RepairOilLeak     474.48            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR RINGPOWC Ring Power Corporation*     TOTALS          474.48            .00

Safety-Kleen Systems, In 02/21/2019         -    08350568 02/01/2019 VR 11022119-031 #JE10809 #CN08350568       49.68            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR SAFETYKL Safety-Kleen Systems, Inc   TOTALS           49.68            .00

Stewart's BP & Repair    02/21/2019         -    M9549765 01/30/2019 VR 11022119-018 Road Dept Fuel             43.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR STEWARTB Stewart's BP & Repair       TOTALS           43.00            .00

TRACTOR SUPPLY COMPANY   02/21/2019         -    257044   01/04/2019 VR 11022119-033 #6035301202683833 Hitch    99.99            .00
TRACTOR SUPPLY COMPANY   02/21/2019         -    257781   01/10/2019 VR 11022119-034 #6035301202683833 Ratchet  72.00            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR TRACTORS TRACTOR SUPPLY COMPANY      TOTALS          171.99            .00

Tri-County Electric Coop 02/21/2019         -    90060119 01/30/2019 VR 11022119-003 Act#72001059006            30.77            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR TRI-CO.  Tri-County Electric Coop.   TOTALS           30.77            .00

UniFirst Corporation     02/21/2019         -    0180567  01/31/2019 VR 11022119-002 Cust#1508769              141.80            .00
UniFirst Corporation     02/21/2019         -    0181074  02/07/2019 VR 11022119-022 Cust#1508769              141.80            .00



REPORT DATE  02/14/2019                     JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS                          PAGE         3  
SYSTEM DATE  02/14/2019                    LIST OF VOUCHERS TO BE PAID - CASH CODE ORDER                            TIME  13:56:33  
FILES ID     B                                                                                                      USER  KNEWBERRY 

VENDOR                      DUE     PURCHASE     INVOICE   DUE       TY VOUCHER                                 TRANS      DISC/WITH
NAME                        DATE    ORDER NUMBER NUMBER      DATE    PE NUMBER       TRANSACTION DESCRIPTION   AMOUNT         AMOUNT

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR UNIFIRST UniFirst Corporation        TOTALS          283.60            .00

Vector Security          02/21/2019         -    63182897 02/05/2019 VR 11022119-021 Act#6478853                31.45            .00

                                 CHECK TO VENDOR==>VENDOR VECTOR   Vector Security             TOTALS           31.45            .00

                                                     CASH ACCOUNT # 111010000                  TOTALS        34741.49            .00

                                                     BANK ACCOUNT # 0101006511                 TOTALS        34741.49            .00

                                                                                  FINAL REPORT TOTALS        34741.49            .00



                    JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
Regular Session 

         Courthouse Annex 
            February 7, 2019 

      6:00 P.M. 
 
The Board met this date in regular session.  Present were Chair Betsy Barfield, Commissioners 
Stephen Fulford, Eugene Hall, J.T. Surles and Stephen Walker.  Also present were County 
Attorneys Buck Bird and Scott Shirley, County Coordinator Parrish Barwick and Clerk of Court 
Kirk Reams.   
 

1. Chair Barfield called the meeting to order. County Coordinator Parrish Barwick led the 
invocation and pledge of allegiance.  
 

2. County Coordinator Barwick stated that Kim Albritton with the Jefferson County Health 
Department had a conflict and would provide information at a future meeting. 
Commissioner Hall requested an agenda item for an update on Kim Albritton’s pursuit of 
her Master’s Degree.  
 

3. Katrina Walton, with the Tourist Development Council, provided an update on the Bed 
Tax and thanked the Board for the increased amount, which resulted in a 78% increase of 
Bed Tax revenue.  
 

4. On motion Commissioner Walker, seconded by Commissioner Surles and 
unanimously carried, the Board approved the Consent Agenda consisting of: 
Approval of Agenda, General Fund/Transportation Vouchers: 1/22/2019 & 
2/7/2019; Bond 2/7/2019; Debt Register 1/25/2019; BOCC Minutes for 1/3/2019 
Regular Session, BOCC Minutes for 1/17/2019 Regular Session; and amended TDC 
Agreement with Chamber of Commerce. 
 

5. Chair Barfield introduced the Duke Rail Bed Corridor Bike Trail item. Sheriff Mac 
McNeill asked everyone to be courteous even though the topic was sensitive. 
Commissioners Hall and Surles both stated they felt misinformed regarding adjacent 
landowners being notified. Commissioner Hall requested to rescind his “yes” vote to the 
bike trail, to which Attorney Scott Shirley stated that a single vote could not be rescinded, 
but a motion to rescind the action taken could be made. Commissioner Hall made a 
motion to rescind the action taken (approval of the Bike Trail) to which 
Commissioner Surles seconded for discussion. Commissioner Surles stated that over 
50 people opposed to the bike trail had approached him and that he had only spoken with 
two people in favor of the project. Chair Barfield requested that Attorney Shirley address 
several issues presented at the recent public hearing prior to public comments at tonight’s 
meeting, as some of what he presented may answer subsequent questions. Attorney 
Shirley addressed the following questions/concerns: there was no information on the 
effect the trail would have on property value; that biking is a low noise activity; that a 
feasibility/economic study would be at the discretion of the Board of County 
Commissioners; that a notice to adjacent landowners was not necessary since this project 
was exempt from the definition of development; that maintenance costs were expected to 
minimal since most of the work would be performed by volunteers; and that he did not 
have reason to believe in any violations of the Sunshine Law. The following people 
spoke in favor of the bike trail as currently approved: Rick Ashton; Brad McLoud; 



Chucha Barber; Jim Phillips; Gary Robertson; Robert Carruthers; Phil Calandra; Robert 
Sidler; Dean Dugger; Jed Smith; Georgia Ackerman; Mack Barfield; Matthew Boyland; 
Curt Blair; Jeff Mims; Robin Saffley; Michael Ashworth; Harold McQueen; and Joann 
Mattese. The following people spoke in opposition to the bike trail as currently approved: 
Melvin Roberts; Chip Beal; BJ Nelson; Stewart Wheeler; Jimmy Graganella; David 
Collins; Lynn McGrady; Michael Gay (attorney represent adjacent landowner that 
recently filed a lawsuit); Mike Willis; Winchester Johnson; Maitland Remington; Valerie 
Welch; David Ward; Wallace Bullock; Bud Wheeler; Charlie Ward; and Drew Mitchell. 
Chair Barfield stated she was open to the idea of “pressing reset” and starting the process 
over with workshops held to obtain input from the citizens on both sides of the issue. 
Commissioner Fulford stated this type of project had been discussed for years and he 
would love the County to have something like this, but landowners are clearly not ready 
for this iteration. Chair Barfield expressed her desire to work together with adjacent 
landowners. Citizen Chip Beal asked for clarification on the motion as to whether it was 
rescind the previous vote or just have workshops on the currently approved project, to 
which Chair Barfield stated it was the former. Chair Barfield asked Attorney Michael 
Gay if the lawsuit would be dropped if the vote on the previous action were to be 
rescinded, to which he responded in the affirmative. The motion to rescind was carried 
4 to 1 (Walker opposed). Commissioner Walker asked if the County would be able to 
legally walk on the trail for future planning purposes, to which Danny Collins with Duke 
Energy stated just place a call and arrangements can be made to walk the trail.  
 

6. Clerk of Court Kirk Reams introduced the Thompson Valley Road SCRAP project item. 
He noted this project was for resurfacing and drainage on Thomason Valley Road from 
US-19 on the west to Turkey Scratch on the east. The low bidder was Capital Asphalt at 
$823,597, which was below the budget of $1.1 million. On motion by Commissioner 
Surles, seconded by Commissioner Walker and unanimously carried, the Board approved 
low bidder Capital Asphalt and a duplicate resolution accepting the project at the new bid 
level.  
 

7. County Engineer Josh Baxley, with Dewberry, introduced the Land and Water 
Conservation Fund grant application for the Malloy property. Clerk of Court Kirk Reams 
stated there was a public hearing prior to this regular session and that the appraisal on the 
land came back less than expected at $45,000. He also noted that the grant would be for 
$22,500, which is half of the appraised amount, and then provided an overview of the 
timeline for this particular grant. On motion by Commissioner Walker, seconded by 
Commissioner Fulford and unanimously carried, the Board voted to proceed with 
the grant application.   
 

8. County Coordinator Parrish Barwick introduced the SHIP Housing Project change order 
requests for Dosber Cuyler ($11,327) and Leatha Holmes ($225). On motion by 
Commissioner Walker, seconded by Commissioner Surles and unanimously carried, 
the Board approved the change orders as presented.   
 

9. Clerk of Court Kirk Reams introduced the Supervisor of Elections request to move into 
the annex facility in July 2019. He stated that the Election’s Office needed more space 
and a better layout for early voting as well as better storage. Chair Barfield inquired if the 
move would be permanent, to which Clerk of Court Reams responded in the affirmative. 
On motion by Commissioner Surles, seconded by Commissioner Walker and 



unanimously carried, the Board approved the Supervisor of Elections Office moving 
to the Annex in July 2019.  
 

10. David Collins, attorney for Clerk of Court Kirk Reams, stated he was present at the 
meeting to answer any questions about the request for legal expenses on behalf of his 
client. Commissioner Hall inquired about the total cost of the request for payment, to 
which Mr. Collins stated it was $114,163 ($84,163 for expenses not yet paid and $30,000 
reimbursed to Clerk Reams). These expenses are comprised of $38,313 for criminal case 
and $75,850 for the civil portion. Commissioner Fulford asked Mr. Collins why these 
expenses are the county’s responsibility, to which Mr. Collins cited case law and 
precedent. County Attorney Scott Shirley stated that both he and County Attorney Buck 
Bird could not give objective advice as they represent both the Board and the Clerk and 
recommended the Board obtaining outside counsel in order to be advised how to proceed. 
It was the consensus of the Board to obtain outside counsel. Citizen Richard Connell 
asked County Attorneys Shirley and Bird if they had read the case law and whether or not 
it supported Mr. Reams, to which Mr. Shirley stated they would not opine.  
 

11. Citizen Paul Henry stated he would like the opportunity to provide input/comment on the 
consent agenda before it is approved. He also made several recommendations about 
voucher payable checks and balances. Chair Barfield also expressed issues with the 
accounting software currently utilized. Clerk of Court Kirk Reams stated the currently 
software did have limitations, but was functional and more affordable than alternatives. 
Chief Deputy Clerk Tyler McNeill stated the software utilized for Accounts Payable also 
operates Accounts Receivable, Budget and Payroll and that web-based alternatives had 
been explored, but were cost prohibitive for a county of our size that processes all of the 
above functions “in-house.” 
 

12.  Citizen George Evans asked for clarification on the paving of city roads with county 
funds. There was a discussion about the necessity of an inter-local agreement allocating 
the city’s $48,000 per year from the gas tax towards road paving projects, which has 
never been executed. Therefore, the county is not able to use funds to pave city roads at 
this time.  
 

13. County Coordinator Parrish Barwick requested direction from the Board with regard to 
engineering proposals for special projects, such as those related to Economic 
Development. It was the consensus of the Board to form a committee to review those 
projects and place with one of the 6 engineering firms that provided proposals. 
Commissioner Fulford was asked to be the Board’s appointee to the committee, to which 
he obliged.  
 

14. County Coordinator Barwick provided an update on activities at the Road Department. 
He also expressed the need to surplus several vehicles/pieces of equipment as well as the 
mobile home at the old Fire/EMS station. It was the consensus of the Board for Mr. 
Barwick to move forward with declaring these items surplus.  
 

15. County Attorney Buck Bird stated there was an issue with an upcoming tax sale and that 
he would be writing to that person’s attorney.  
 



16. County Attorney Scott Shirley scheduled an executive session to discuss Elder vs. 
Jefferson County and Morris Petroleum for 5;00 pm on February 21, 2019 at the 
Courthouse Annex.  
 

17. Commissioner Hall requested an agenda item be added for the next meeting regarding the 
paving of city streets in order to provide more clarification to the citizens. Commissioner 
Hall also commented that the paint on the ceiling in the courtroom was peeling and 
would need to be addressed in the near future.  
 

18. Chair Barfield stated she would bring RESTORE ACT information to a future meeting. 
She also stated that the Dirty Pecan ride would be happening on March 2nd at 8 am and 
that food had been donated by Carrabba’s. Chair Barfield also noted the county audit had 
been completed and would be on the agenda for the next meeting.  
 

19. On motion by Commissioner Walker, seconded by Commissioner Surles and 
unanimously carried, the meeting was adjourned.  
 
 

 
Board of County Commissioners 
Jefferson County, Florida 

 
 

____________________________ 
Betsy Barfield, Chair 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Kirk Reams, Clerk of Court 



JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
PUBLIC HEARING 

Jefferson County Courthouse 
February 7, 2019 

5:30 P.M. 
 
The Board met this date for a public hearing on the Malloy Landing Land Acquisition.  Present 
were Chair Betsy Barfield, Commissioners Stephen Fulford, Eugene Hall, J.T. Surles and 
Stephen Walker.  Also present were County Attorneys Buck Bird and Scott Shirley, County 
Coordinator Parrish Barwick and Clerk of Court Kirk Reams.   
 

1. Chair Barfield called the meeting to order.  
 

2. County Engineer Josh Baxley, with Dewberry, introduced the Malloy Landing Land 
Acquisition item and explained it would be a grant via the Department of Environmental 
Protection. 
 

3. Mr. Baxley stated he had provided questionnaires/surveys for any attendees at the hearing 
that would help the county gain points towards the grant. 
 

4. Clerk of Court Kirk Reams stated the appraised value of the land was $45,000, which 
was lower than anticipated. He explained that the grant was tethered to this amount and 
that because of these constraints any purchase price exceeding this amount would be the 
responsibility of the county. 
 

5. Commissioner Walker noted that appraised value did not always reflect the true value of 
the property.  
 

6. Clerk of Court Kirk Reams stated that the county paid approximately $50,000 per acre 
for the land at the head of the river and the appraisal of this land was $10,000 per acre. 
 

7. Clerk of Court Kirk Reams explained how the County received points for various 
meetings being held and also detailed the timeline of this grant process moving forward.  
 

8. The public hearing was adjourned at 5:45 pm.   
 
 

 
Board of County Commissioners 
Jefferson County, Florida 

 
 

____________________________ 
Betsy Barfield, Chair 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Kirk Reams, Clerk of Court 



 

 

Jefferson County, Florida 
 

Financial Statements 
 

September 30, 2017 
 



 

 

  
 
 
 

Jefferson County, Florida 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 September 30, 2017 
  
 
 BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
 Stephen Fulford - District 1 
 Eugene Hall - District 2 
 J.T. Surles - District 3 
 Betsy Barfield - District 4 
 Stephen Walker - District 5 
 
 
 CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT COURT 
 Tim Sanders, Ad Interim 
 
 SHERIFF TAX COLLECTOR  
 Mac McNeill Lois Howell Hunter 
 
 PROPERTY APPRAISER SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS 
 Angela Gray Marty Bishop 
 
 COUNTY ATTORNEY AUDITOR 
 T. Buckingham Bird Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC 
 



 Jefferson County, Florida 
Table of Contents 

September 30, 2017 

 

  
REPORT
Independent Auditors’ Report 1

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 4

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Government-wide Financial Statements
Statement of Net Position 5

Statement of Activities 6

Fund Financial Statements
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds 7

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to 
  the Statement of Net Position 8

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - 
  Governmental Funds 9

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
  Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 11

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - 
  General Fund - Budget and Actual 12

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance -
 Fines and Forfeitures Fund - Budget and Actual 13

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - 
 Transportation Fund - Budget and Actual 14

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - 
  Capital Projects Fund - Budget and Actual 15

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Agency Funds 16

Notes to Financial Statements 17
 

 



 Jefferson County, Florida 
Table of Contents (Continued) 

September 30, 2017 

 

 
COMBINING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Governmental Funds 47

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 49
  Balances - Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Agency Funds 51

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Schedule of Proportional Share of Net Pension Liability
  Florida Retirement System (Last 5 Fiscal Years) 52

Schedule of Contributions
  Florida Retirement System (Last 5 Fiscal Years) 53

Schedule of Proportional Share of Net Pension Liability
  Health Insurance Subsidy (Last 5 Fiscal Years) 54

Schedule of Contributions
  Health Insurance Subsidy (Last 5 Fiscal years) 55

Schedule of County's Proportionate Share of the Net
  OPEB Liability (Last 10 years) 56

COMPLIANCE SECTION
Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
  Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of 
  Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government 
  Auditing Standards 57

Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major State Project 
  and on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by Chapter 10.550,
  Rules of the Florida Auditor General 59

Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance Projects 62

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance Projects 64
 

 
  
 



 Jefferson County, Florida 
Table of Contents (Continued) 

September 30, 2017 

 

 
 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 65

Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 78

Independent Auditors’ Management Letter 79

Independent Accountants' Report on Compliance with Section 218.415,
  Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies 82

Independent Accountants' Report on Compliance with Section 365.172(10)
  and 365.173(2)(d), Florida Statutes 83

Management’s Response 84

SPECIAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Clerk of the Circuit Court

Property Appraiser

Sheriff

Supervisor of Elections

Tax Collector



REPORT



 
 
 
 

 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 
To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
   and Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Report on Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information, and the respective budgetary comparisons for the General 
Fund and the Major Special Revenue funds of Jefferson County, Florida (the “County”) as of and for the 
year ended September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the County’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the basic financial statements are free of material 
misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 



 

 

 
To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
   and Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida  
 
Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information, of Jefferson County, Florida as of September 30, 2017, and the respective 
changes in financial position, where applicable, thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the 
General Fund and the Major Special Revenue Funds for the year then ended in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis on pages 4.1 to 4.8 and other required supplementary information as listed in the 
table of contents to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of the financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise Jefferson County, Florida’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual 
non-major fund financial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. The Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial 
Assistance Projects is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Chapter 10.550 of the 
Rules of the Auditor General State of Florida and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
   and Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
The combining and individual non-major fund financial statements, and the Schedule of Expenditures of 
State Financial Assistance Projects are the responsibility of management and were derived from and 
relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied to the audit of the basic 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the 
information is fairly stated in all material respects to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As discussed in Note 22 and 23 of the financial statements, the 2016 financial statements have been 
restated to correct misstatements and a change in accounting principle.  Our opinion is not modified 
with respect to these matters. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated December 6, 2018, 
on our consideration of Jefferson County, Florida’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Jefferson County, Florida’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and 
should be read in conjunction with this report in considering the County’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 
 

 
Marianna, Florida 
December 6, 2018 
 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND
                                              ANALYSIS 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

-4.1- 
 

 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
Our discussion and analysis of Jefferson County’s financial performance provides an overview of the 
County’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017.  It should be read in 
conjunction with the County’s financial statements, which begin on page 5. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

• The County’s net position decreased as a result of this year’s operations.  Net position of our 
governmental activities decreased by $760,342 or 7.7%.  The County does not have any 
business-type activities. 

 
• During the year, the County’s program and general revenues were $19,983,381. An increase of 

$957,527 from the prior year. 
 
• The County’s expenses increased by approximately $2,545,232 over the preceding year (an 

increase of 15%). 
 

• The millage rate was 7.7198 mills for the current year. This represents a decrease from the 
prior year rate of 8.3114. 
 

 
USE OF THIS REPORT 
 
This report consists of a series of financial statements.  The Statement of Net Position and the Statement 
of Activities (on pages 5 and 6) provide information about the activities of the County as a whole and 
present a long-term view of the County’s finances.  These statements reflect the County as a whole and 
are deemed government-wide financial statements.  The fund financial statements start on page 7.  
These statements tell how governmental services were financed in the short term as well as what 
remains for future spending.  Fund financial statements also report the County’s operations in more 
detail than the government-wide statements by providing information about the County’s most 
significant funds.  The remaining statement for Fiduciary Funds provides financial information about 
activities for which the County acts solely as a trustee or agent for the benefit of others outside of the 
County. 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

-4.2- 
 

 
Reporting the County as a Whole 
Our analysis of the County as a whole is detailed later in this discussion.  One of the most frequently 
asked questions about the County’s finances is “Is the County, as a whole, better off or worse off as a 
result of this year’s activities?”  The Statement of Net position and the Statement of Activities report 
information about the County as a whole and about its activities in a way that helps answer this 
question.  These statements include all assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting, which 
is similar to the accounting system used by most private companies.  All of the current year’s revenues 
and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
 
These two statements report the County’s net position and the changes in them.  You can think of the 
County’s net position (the difference between assets, deferred outflows of resources and liabilities, 
deferred inflows of resources) as one way to measure the County’s financial health, or its financial 
position.  Over time, increases or decreases in the County’s net position are one indicator of whether its 
financial health is improving or deteriorating.  You will need to consider other nonfinancial factors, 
however, such as changes in the County’s property tax base, the condition of the County roads and 
equipment, and other matters to assess the overall health of the County. 
 
Since the County does not have any business-type activities (utilities, etc.) and no component units to 
report, the remaining activities of the County are governmental activities.  These include all of the 
County’s basic services, including law enforcement, fire protection, building inspection, ambulance 
service, parks and recreation, library services, road and bridge maintenance, etc.  Property taxes, 
gasoline taxes, sales tax, and State grants generally finance most of these activities. 
 
Reporting on the County’s Most Significant Funds 
The fund financial statements begin on page 7 and provide detailed information about the most 
significant funds and not the County as a whole.  Some funds are required to be established by State law 
or other governing authority.  However, the County Commission may establish other funds to help it 
control and manage money for particular purposes or to show that it is meeting legal responsibilities for 
using certain taxes, grants, and other money (like grants received from State and Federal Agencies).  The 
County has only the general fund, special revenue funds, capital projects fund and debt service fund 
which are all considered to be governmental funds.  There are no proprietary funds maintained by the 
County. 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

-4.3- 
 

 
All of the County’s basic services are reported in governmental funds, which focus on how money flows 
into and out of those funds and the balances left at year-end that are available for spending.  These 
funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting, which measures 
cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash.  The governmental fund 
statements provide a detailed short-term view of the County’s general government operations and the 
basic services it provides.  Governmental fund information helps you determine whether there are more 
or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the County’s programs.  We 
describe the relationship (or differences) between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of 
Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds in a reconciliation at the bottom of 
the fund financial statements. 
 
The County as Trustee 
The County is the trustee, or fiduciary, for several sources of funds that belong to other governments, 
individuals or agencies.  All of the County’s fiduciary type activities are reported in separate statements. 
We exclude these activities from the County’s other financial statements because the County cannot use 
these assets to finance its operations.  The County is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in 
these funds are used for their intended purposes. 
 
THE COUNTY AS A WHOLE 
 
Unrestricted net position, the part of net position that can be used to finance day-to-day operations 
without constraints established by debt covenants, enabling legislation, or other legal requirements, 
decreased by $1,480,312 (or -41%) from the prior year after consideration of change in accounting 
principle.  Restricted net position increased by $394,803 (or 13%) from the prior year.  
 
The County’s total revenue decreased by 5%, or $957,527 during the year and total expenses decreased 
by 15%, or $2,545,232.     



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

-4.4- 
 

 
 

09/30/17 09/30/16

As Restated

Cash and other assets 6,631,649$       8,420,942$       
Capital assets - net 17,675,842       17,158,843       
   Total assets 24,307,491       25,579,785       

Deferred outfows 4,833,023         5,705,121         

Long-term debt outstanding 18,567,839       17,613,781       
Other liabilities 840,864             1,609,958         
  Total liabilities 19,408,703       19,223,739       

Deferred inflows 657,086             1,785,259         

Net assets:
Invested in capital assets, 
  net of debt 11,453,736       10,338,962       
Restricted 2,750,466         3,145,269         
Unrestricted (5,129,477)        (3,208,323)        
  Total net assets 9,074,725$       10,275,908$     

Governmental Activities 

Table 1
Net Assets

 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

-4.5- 
 

 

09/30/17 09/30/16
As Restated

Revenues
Program revenues:
Charges for services 1,591,108$       1,967,880$       
Federal and state grants 4,600,398         2,997,006         
General revenues:
Property and other taxes 10,556,867       10,486,059       
Other general revenues 3,235,008         3,574,909         
  Total revenues 19,983,381       19,025,854       

Program expenses:
General government 4,776,210         5,135,276         
Transportation 4,452,247         2,666,567         
Public safety and judiciary 8,007,733         7,686,321         
Health and sanitation 1,453,577         1,435,523         
Economic development 881,374             344,081             
Culture, recreation and agriculture 1,012,504         781,483             
Interest on long-term debt 160,078             149,240             
  Total program expenses 20,743,723       18,198,491       

Increase (decrease) in net assets (760,342)           827,363             

Net position, beginning as previously reported 10,275,908       9,698,155         

Change in accounting principle, Note 22 (440,842)           -                          
Prior period adjustment, Note 21 -                          (249,610)           

Net position, beginning as restated 9,835,066         9,448,545         

Net position, ending 9,074,724$       10,275,908$     

Governmental Activities 

Table 2
Changes in Net Position

 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

-4.6- 
 

 
THE COUNTY’S FUNDS 
 
The County’s governmental funds (as presented in the balance sheet on page 7) reported a combined 
fund balance of $5.8 million, which is a decrease of $1.1 million over the prior year.  Included in this 
year’s total change in fund balance is an decrease of $.5 million in the County’s general fund balance.   In 
addition, these other changes in fund balances should be noted: 
 
• The transportation fund incurred an increase in fund balance of $455,254. 
• The capital projects fund incurred a increase in fund balance of $927. 

 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
The County Commission revised the County budget several times throughout the fiscal year.  These 
budget amendments are required to properly reflect unanticipated revenues and unforeseen events that 
happen during every fiscal year.    
 
Operating expenditures were less than appropriations primarily in the areas of the general government 
operations, transportation operations, and public health and safety. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
The County had $17.67 million, net of depreciation, invested in a broad range of capital assets, including 
land, buildings, roads, bridges, park facilities and equipment.  The net increase over last year of 
approximately $.58 million net of depreciation.   Table 3 below details the composition of these assets.   



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

-4.7- 
 

 

09/30/17 09/30/16

Land 1,737,456$       1,737,456$       
Buildings & Improvements 6,099,101          6,235,885          
Equipment 3,147,272          2,956,751          
Infrastructure 5,224,591          5,468,766          
Construction in progress 1,458,997          692,273             

  Totals 17,667,417$     17,091,131$     

Governmental Activities

Table 3
Capital Assets at Year-end

(Net of Depreciation)

 
Major additions for the year were heavy equipment, building construction and road paving. 
Infrastructure includes all the County roads and bridges.  Major deletions were disposition of equipment. 
 
Debt 
The County had various installment purchase obligations of $660,040, notes payable of $1,717,066 and 
revenue bonds of $3,845,000 outstanding at the end of the 2017 fiscal year, a decrease of $597,775 as 
shown in Table 4. 
 

09/30/17 09/30/16

Installment obligations 660,040$           991,008$           
Notes payable 1,717,066          1,783,873          
Revenue and gas tax bonds 3,845,000          4,045,000          

  Totals 6,222,106$       6,819,881$       

Governmental Activities

Table 4
Outstanding Debt at Year-end

 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

-4.8- 
 

 
 ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES 
 
The County’s elected Commissioners consider many factors when considering the fiscal year 2018 
budget to include assessed values, tax rates and charges for services.  One of those factors is the 
economy.  Jefferson County is not a fast growing County compared to other metropolitan areas of the 
State, however, the County does continue to enjoy growth in its population and offers its citizens a 
relaxed form of lifestyle when compared to other, more populous surrounding areas.   
 
CONTACTING THE COUNTY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and creditors with a 
general overview of the County’s finances and to show the accountability for the money it receives.  If 
you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact the Clerk of the 
Circuit Court, County Courthouse, Room 10, Monticello, Florida 32344. 



                                  BASIC FINANCIAL
                                         STATEMENTS 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Statement of Net Position 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
- 5 - 

 

Governmental
September 30, 2017 Activities
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,291,440$                 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,803,586                   
Equity in pooled investments 273,557                      
Accounts receivable 164,664                      
Internal balances - due from agency funds 54,430                        
Due from other governmental units 2,025,428                   
Inventory 18,544
Capital assets, net 
  Nondepreciable capital assets 3,196,453                   
  Depreciable capital assets, net 14,479,389                 

Total assets 24,307,491                 

Deferred outflows of resources
    Pension 4,833,023                   
Total deferred outlows of resources 4,833,023                   

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 644,065
Due to other agency 9,073                           
Unearned revenue 150,818                      
Accrued interest payable 36,908
Long-term liabilities 
  Portion due or payable within one year
    Capital lease obligations 206,651                      
    Public improvement revenue bonds payable 200,000                      
    Notes payable 383,767                      
    Compensated absences 114,743                      
    Landfill closure and post-closure costs 54,169
  Portion due or payable after one year
    Capital lease obligations 453,389                      
    Public improvement revenue bonds payable 3,645,000                   
    Notes payable 1,333,299                   
    Compensated absences 330,117                      
    Other post-employment benefit obligation 938,966                      
    Landfill closure and post-closure costs 162,508
 Net pension liability 10,745,230                 

Total liabilities 19,408,703                 

Deferred inflows of resources
    Pension 657,086                      
Total deferred inflows of resources 657,086                      

Net position
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 11,453,736
Restricted 2,750,466                   
Unrestricted (deficit) (5,129,477)                 
Total net position 9,074,725$                 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Statement of Activities 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
- 6 - 

 

 
For the year ended September 30, 2017

Net (Expense)
Revenue and

Changes in Net Assets
Primary Government

Charges Operating Capital

for Grants and Grants and Governmental
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities

Primary government
Governmental activities
  General government 4,125,956$           973,843$              1,443,459$           -$                           (1,708,654)$                      
  Public safety 6,747,357             547,843                2,739,005             393,830                (3,066,679)                        
  Fire safety 794,696 -                             -                             -                             (794,696)                            
  Physical environment 305,050                -                             -                             -                             (305,050)                            
  Health and sanitation 1,453,577 69,422                  -                             -                             (1,384,155)                        
  Transportation 4,452,247             -                             24,104                  -                             (4,428,143)                        
  Economic development 881,374                -                             -                             -                             (881,374)                            
  Human services 345,204                -                             -                             -                             (345,204)                            
  Culture and recreation 746,341                -                             -                             -                             (746,341)                            
  Agriculture 266,163 -                             -                             -                             (266,163)                            
  Court related 465,680                -                             -                             -                             (465,680)                            
  Interest on long-term debt 160,078                -                             -                             -                             (160,078)                            

Total primary government 20,743,723$        1,591,108$           4,206,568$           393,830$              (14,552,217)                      

General revenues
  Taxes
    Property taxes 3,998,398                          
    Local option taxes  1,830,544                          

  Sales tax, other taxes and shared revenue 4,727,925                          
  Investment earnings 13,766
  Miscellaneous 3,221,242

Total general revenues 13,791,876                       

Change in net position (760,341)                            

Net position, beginning as previously reported 10,446,426                       

Prior Period Adjustment, Note 22 (170,518)                            

Change in Accounting Principle, Note 23 (440,842)                            

Net position, beginning as restated 9,835,066                          

Net position, ending 9,074,725$                       

Progam Revenues



Jefferson County, Florida 
Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
- 7 - 

 

September 30, 2017

Other Total
General Fines and Capital Governmental Governmental 

Fund Forfeitures Transportation Projects Funds Funds

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,586,130$           475,637$              -$                           -$                           2,953$                  2,064,720$           
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 244,038                -                             633,364 500,927                650,551                2,028,880             
Equity in pooled investments 138,056                14,825                  122,102 -                             -                             274,983                
Accounts receivable 164,691                -                             -                             -                             -                             164,691                
Due from other funds 1,149,572             -                             -                             26                          1,016,006             2,165,604             
Due from agency funds 54,431                  -                             -                             -                             -                             54,431                  
Due from other governmental units 1,152,405             62,020                  183,880                -                             627,123                2,025,428             
Inventory -                             -                             18,544                  -                             -                             18,544                  

Total assets 4,489,323$           552,482$              957,890$              500,953$              2,296,633$           8,797,281$           

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 291,779$              10,581$                71,743$                -$                           269,991$              644,094$              
Interest payable -                             -                             -                             -                             36,908                  36,908                  
Due to other funds 596,941                426,413                439,244                572,370                130,636                2,165,604             
Due to other agency 9,073                     -                             -                             -                             -                             9,073                     
Unearned revenue 61,641                  -                             -                             -                             89,177                  150,818                

Total liabilities 959,434                436,994                510,987                572,370                526,712                3,006,497             

Fund balances

Nonspendable -                             -                             18,544                  -                             -                             18,544                  
Restricted 423,973                115,488                428,359                -                             1,771,946             2,739,766             
Committed 10,700                  -                             -                             -                             10,700                  
Assigned 102,465                -                             -                             -                             102,465                
Unassigned 2,992,751             -                             -                             (71,417)                 (2,025)                   2,919,309             

Total fund balances 3,529,889             115,488                446,903                (71,417)                 1,769,921             5,790,784             

Total liabilities and fund balances 4,489,323$           552,482$              957,890$              500,953$              2,296,633$           8,797,281$           



Jefferson County, Florida 
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental 

Funds to the Statement of Net Position 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
- 8 - 

 

 
 
September 30, 2017

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the 
  statement of net position are different because:

Total fund balances – governmental funds 5,790,784$              

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources, 
and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds. 17,675,842

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions are applicable
to future periods and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.
    Deferred outflows of resources - pensions 4,833,023
    Deferred inflows of resources - pensions (657,086)                  

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the 
current period, and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds.
    Total long-term liabilities - see note 9 (18,567,838)            

Net position of governmental activities 9,074,725$              

 



Page 1 of 2 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
Governmental Funds 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
- 9 - 

 

For the year ended September 30, 2017

General Fines and Capital 
Fund Forfeitures Transportation Projects

Revenues
Taxes 4,207,703$        852,268$           1,993,912$        -$                        
Licenses and permits 163,883             -                           -                           -                           
Intergovernmental 3,287,593 -                           -                           -                           
Grants 2,739,005 201,113 24,104                -                           
Charges for services 973,843             9,970                  -                           -                           
Fines and forfeitures 249,577             124,413             -                           -                           
Investment earnings 5,431                  1,316                  3,154                  1,263                  
Other fees and miscellaneous revenues 1,100,025          -                           24,589                -                           

Total revenues 12,727,060        1,189,080          2,045,759          1,263                  

Expenditures
Current:
  General government 3,352,615          -                           -                           -                           
  Public health and safety 5,645,139          164,458             -                           -                           
  Fire safety -                           -                           -                           -                           
  Physical environment 114,073             -                           -                           -                           
  Health and sanitation -                           -                           -                           -                           
  Transportation 1,977,195          -                           2,023,299          336                     
  Economic development 22,713                -                           -                           -                           
  Human services 345,204             -                           -                           -                           
  Culture and recreation 532,886             -                           -                           -                           
  Agriculture 257,507             -                           -                           -                           
  Court related 422,400             -                           -                           -                           
Capital outlay 1,191,533          42,725                152,781             -                           
Debt service
  Principal 76,078                -                           137,031             -                           
  Interest and other charges 31,308                -                           7,553                  -                           

Total expenditures 13,968,651        207,183             2,320,664          336                     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (1,241,591)         981,897             (274,905)            927                     

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 4,228,840          2,851,729          -                           -                           
Transfers out (3,730,140)         (3,939,974)         (297,325)            -                           
Debt proceeds 217,029             -                           116,976             -                           

Net other financing sources (uses) 715,729             (1,088,245)         (180,349)            -                           

Net changes in fund balances (525,862)            (106,348)            (455,254)            927                     

Fund balances - beginning as previously reported 4,009,605          340,836             961,745             (72,344)              

Prior Period Adjustments, Note 22 46,146                (119,000)            (59,588)              -                           

Fund balances - beginning as restated 4,055,751          221,836             902,157             (72,344)              

Fund balances - ending 3,529,889$        115,488$           446,903$           (71,417)$            



Page 2 of 2 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
Governmental Funds 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
- 10 - 

 

For the year ended September 30, 2017

Other Total
Governmental Governmental 

Funds Funds

Revenues
Taxes -$                        7,053,883$        
Licenses and permits -                           163,883             
Intergovernmental 215,390             3,502,983          
Grants 1,636,176          4,600,398          
Charges for services 69,422                1,053,235          
Fines and forfeitures -                           373,990             
Investment earnings 2,602                  13,766                
Other fees and miscellaneous revenues 2,096,628          3,221,242          

Total revenues 4,020,218          19,983,380        

Expenditures
Current:
  General government 361                     3,352,976          
  Public health and safety 201,530             6,011,127          
  Fire safety 794,696             794,696             
  Physical environment -                           114,073             
  Health and sanitation 1,504,271          1,504,271          
  Transportation 2,025                  4,002,855          
  Economic development 858,661             881,374             
  Human services -                           345,204             
  Culture and recreation 193,419             726,305             
  Agriculture -                           257,507             
  Court related -                           422,400             
Capital outlay 685,603             2,072,642          
Debt service  
  Principal 478,970             692,079             
  Interest and other charges 121,217             160,078             

Total expenditures 4,840,753          21,337,587        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (820,535)            (1,354,207)         

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 1,175,736          8,256,305          
Transfers out (288,866)            (8,256,305)         
Debt proceeds -                           334,005             

Net other financing sources (uses) 886,870             334,005             

Net changes in fund balances 66,335                (1,020,202)         

Fund balances - beginning as previously reported 1,741,662          6,981,504          

Prior Period Adjustments, Note 21 (38,076)              (170,518)            

Fund balances - beginning as restated 1,703,586          6,810,986          

Fund balances - ending 1,769,921$        5,790,784$        



Jefferson County, Florida 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
- 11 - 

 

 
 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

  Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (1,020,202)$        

  Capital outlay, reported as expenditures in governmental funds, are shown as 
  capital assets in the statement of net position. 2,072,642            

  Depreciation expense on governmental capital assets included in the 
  governmental activities in the statement of activities. (1,315,941)          

  Repayment of long-term debt is reported as an expenditure in governmental 
  funds but as a reduction of long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. 692,079               

  The issuance of long-term debt (notes payable) provides current financial
  resources to governmental funds, while it has no effect on the statement of 
  activities. (334,005)              

  Accrued other post-employment benefits do not require the use of current
  financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures
  in the governmental funds. (54,124)                

  Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use 
  of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in 
  governmental funds.  These expenses include:
    Long-term landfill closure and post-closure liability 50,694                 
    Pension expenses (865,600)              
    Compensated absences 14,116                 

Change in net position (760,341)$           

For the year ended September 30, 2017



Jefferson County, Florida 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance 

General Fund 
Budget and Actual 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
- 12 - 

 

Actual
Amounts

 Original  Final (Budgetary  Variance with 
Budget Budget Basis)  Final Budget  

Revenues
Taxes 4,366,518$            4,366,518$           4,207,703$         (158,815)$                
Licenses and permits 114,000                  114,000                 163,883               49,883                      
Intergovernmental 3,228,706               3,228,706             3,287,593           58,887                      
Grants 3,299,154               3,382,959             2,739,005           (643,954)                   
Charges for services 1,914,500               1,914,500             973,843               (940,657)                   
Fines and forfeitures 392,559                  392,559                 249,577               (142,982)                   
Investment earnings 20,000                    20,000                   5,431                   (14,569)                     
Other fees and miscellaneous revenues 67,907                    67,907                   1,100,025           1,032,118                 

Total revenues 13,403,344            13,487,149           12,727,060         (760,089)                   

Expenditures
Current:
  General government 3,775,337               3,775,510             3,352,615           422,895                    
  Public health and safety 5,308,388               5,392,193             5,645,139           (252,946)                   
  Physical environment 104,378                  104,378                 114,073               (9,695)                       
  Transportation 2,841,095               2,841,095             1,977,195           863,900                    
  Economic environment 20,270                    20,270                   22,713                 (2,443)                       
  Human services 362,668                  362,668                 345,204               17,464                      
  Culture and recreation 466,274                  466,274                 532,886               (66,612)                     
  Agriculture 250,263                  250,263                 257,507               (7,244)                       
  Court related 574,969                  574,969                 422,400               152,569                    
Capital outlay 249,707                  249,707                 1,191,533           (941,826)                   
Debt service 6,732                      6,732                     107,386               (100,654)                   

Total expenditures 13,960,081            14,044,059           13,968,651         75,408                      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (556,737)                 (556,910)               (1,241,591)          (684,681)                   

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 4,223,224               4,223,224             4,228,840           5,616                        
Transfers out (3,072,345)             (3,072,345)            (3,730,140)          (657,795)                   
Debt proceeds -                               -                              217,029               217,029                    

Net other financing sources (uses) 1,150,879               1,150,879             715,729               (435,150)                   

Net change in fund balance 594,142                  593,969                 (525,862)             (1,119,831)               

Fund balance - beginning, as restated 4,055,751               4,055,751             4,055,751           -                                 

Fund balance - ending 4,649,893$            4,649,720$           3,529,889$         (1,119,831)$             

For the year ended September 30, 2017

 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance 

Fines and Forfeitures Fund 
Budget and Actual 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
- 13 - 

 

 

Actual
Amounts

 Original  Final (Budgetary  Variance with 
Budget Budget Basis)  Final Budget  

Revenues
Taxes 883,504$                883,504$              852,268$            (31,236)$                   
Grants 253,163                  253,163                 201,113               (52,050)                     
Charges for services 15,000                    15,000                   9,970                   (5,030)                       
Fines and forfeitures 281,000                  281,000                 124,413               (156,587)                   
Investment earnings -                               -                              1,316                   1,316                        

Total revenues 1,432,667               1,432,667             1,189,080           (243,587)                   

Expenditures
Current:
  Public health and safety 327,000                  327,000                 164,458               162,542                    
Capital outlay 40,000                    40,000                   42,725                 (2,725)                       

Total expenditures 367,000                  367,000                 207,183               159,817                    

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
  over (under) expenditures 1,065,667               1,065,667             981,897               (83,770)                     

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 2,922,807               2,922,807             2,851,729           (71,078)                     
Transfers out (3,988,474)             (3,988,474)            (3,939,974)          48,500                      

Net other financing sources (uses) (1,065,667)             (1,065,667)            (1,088,245)          (22,578)                     

Net change in fund balance -                               -                              (106,348)             (106,348)                   

Fund balance - beginning, as restated 221,836                  221,836                 221,836               -                                 

Fund balance - ending 221,836$                221,836$              115,488$            (106,348)$                

For the year ended September 30, 2017



Jefferson County, Florida 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance 

Transportation Fund 
Budget and Actual 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
- 14 - 

 

 
For the year ended September 30, 2017

 Original  Final Actual  Variance with 
Budget Budget Amounts  Final Budget  

Revenues
Taxes 1,920,906$           1,920,906$           1,993,912$           73,006$                   
Investment earnings -                             -                             3,154                     3,154                       
Grants -                             -                             24,104                  24,104                     
Other fees and miscellaneous revenues 70,000                  70,000                  24,589                  (45,411)                    

Total revenues 1,990,906             1,990,906             2,045,759             54,853                     

Expenditures
Current:
  Transportation 1,528,406             1,528,406             2,023,299             (494,893)                 
Capital outlay 162,500                162,500                152,781                9,719                       
Debt service
Principal -                             -                             137,031                (137,031)                 
Interest and other charges -                             -                             7,553                     (7,553)                      

Total expenditures 1,690,906             1,690,906             2,320,664             (629,758)                 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
   (under) expenditures 300,000                300,000                (274,905)               (574,905)                 

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers out (297,025)               (297,025)               (297,325)               (300)                         
Debt proceeds -                             -                             116,976                116,976                   

Net other financing sources (uses) (297,025)               (297,025)               (180,349)               116,676                   

Net change in fund balance 2,975                     2,975                     (455,254)               (458,229)                 

Fund balance - beginning 902,157                902,157                902,157                -                                

Fund balance - ending 905,132$              905,132$              446,903$              (458,229)$               



Jefferson County, Florida 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance 

Capital Projects Fund 
Budget and Actual 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
- 15 - 

 

For the year ended September 30, 2017

 Original  Final Actual  Variance with 
Budget Budget Amounts  Final Budget  

Revenues
Investment earnings -$                           -$                           1,263$                  1,263$                     
Other fees and miscellaneous revenues -                             -                             -                             -                                

Total revenues -                             -                             1,263                     1,263                       

Expenditures
Current:
  Transportation -                             -                             336                        (336)                         

Total expenditures -                             -                             336                        (336)                         

Net change in fund balance -                             -                             927                        927                           

Fund balance - beginning (72,344)                 (72,344)                 (72,344)                 -                                

Fund balance - ending (72,344)$               (72,344)$               (71,417)$               927$                        



Jefferson County, Florida 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 

Agency Funds 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
- 16 - 

 

 
 
September 30, 2017

Agency
Funds

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,454,614$     

Total assets 1,454,614$     

Liabilities
Due to other governments 1,154,945$     
Due to other funds 54,431             
Due to others 245,238

Total liabilities 1,454,614$     



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

- 17 - 

  
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The County of Jefferson, Florida legally exists under Article VIII of the Constitution of the State of Florida 
as a non-chartered County and operates under an elected County Commission (five members) and 
provides services to its more than 13,000 residents in many areas, including law enforcement, 
community enrichment and development, culture and recreation, and human services. 
 
The Clerk of the Circuit Court, Supervisor of Elections, Tax Collector, Property Appraiser, and Sheriff 
constitute the other elected officials of the County.  Theses Constitutional Officers maintain separate 
accounting records and budgets from the Board of County Commissioners.  The Constitution of the State 
of Florida, Article VIII, Section 1(d) created the constitutional officers and Article VII, Section 1(e), 
created the Board of County Commissioners. 

 
The financial statements of the County have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) is the standard-setting body for governmental accounting and financial reporting.  The 
GASB periodically updates its codification of the existing Governmental Accounting and Financial 
Reporting Standards which, along with subsequent GASB pronouncements (Statements and 
Interpretations), constitutes GAAP for governmental units along with the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants publication entitled Audits of State and Local Governmental Units, and 
pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (when applicable). The more significant 
accounting policies of the County are described below. 
 
Reporting Entity 
The concept underlying the definition of the reporting entity is that elected officials are accountable to 
their constituents for their actions.  The reporting entity’s financial statements should allow users to 
distinguish between the primary government (the County) and its component units.  As required by 
generally accepted accounting principles, the financial reporting entity consists of (1) the primary 
government (the County), (2) organizations for which the County is financially accountable, and (3) other 
organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the County are such that 
exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.  The 
County is financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of the organization’s governing body and 
(a) is able to impose its will on that organization or (b) there is a potential for the organization to provide 
specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the County.   
        

 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

- 18 - 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 
The basic financial statements consist of the government-wide financial statements and fund financial 
statements.  The government-wide financial statements include the statement of net position and the 
statement of net activities.  These statements report financial information for the Jefferson County, 
Florida as a whole excluding fiduciary activities.  For the most part, the effect of inter-fund activity has 
been removed from these statements.  Individual funds are not displayed but the statement 
distinguishes governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental 
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees 
and charges for support. 

 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given program are 
offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific 
program.  Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly 
benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given program and 2) operating or capital grants 
and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular 
program.  Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as 
general revenues.  Fiduciary funds are not included in these financial statements.  
 
Fund Financial Statements 
The County segregates transactions related to certain functions or activities in separate funds in order to 
aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance.  These statements present each major 
fund as a separate column on the fund financial statements; all non-major funds are aggregated and 
presented in a single column.   
 
Governmental funds are those funds through which most governmental functions typically are financed. 
The measurement focus of governmental funds is on the sources, uses and balance of current financial 
resources.  Reconciliations are provided that converts the results of governmental fund accounting to 
the government-wide presentations.  The County has presented the following major governmental 
funds: 
 

General Fund- General Fund is the main operating fund of the County.  This fund is used to 
account for all financial resources not accounted for in other funds.  All general tax revenues and 
other receipts that are not restricted by law or contractual agreement to some other fund are 
accounted for in this fund.  General operating expenditures, fixed charges and capital 
improvement costs that are not paid through other funds are paid from the General Fund. 

 
Transportation Fund- County Transportation Trust Fund is a special revenue fund used to 
account for the gasoline and fuel taxes that are restricted for specific purposes. 

 
Fines and Forfeitures Fund - The Fines and Forfeitures Fund accounts a portion of the County’s 
property taxes and the fines and fees collected and remitted by the Clerk of the Courts.  In 
addition, this fund accounts for grants and other funds collected for the purpose of law 
enforcement and court cost. 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

- 19 - 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Capital Projects Fund - The capital projects fund is a special revenue fund used to account for 
the expenditures used for the construction and maintenance of certain road projects in the 
County. 
 

The County also reports the following fund type: 
 

Agency Funds - The agency funds are used to account for assets held by the County as an agent for 
individuals, private organizations, and other governments.  Agency funds are custodial in nature 
and do not involve measurement of changes in financial position. 

 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
Measurement focus refers to what is being measured; basis of accounting refers to when revenues and 
expenditures are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements.  Basis of 
accounting relates to the timing of the measurement made, regardless of the measurement focus 
applied.  Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Under the 
modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual; i.e., when 
they become both measurable and available. “Measurable” means the amount of the transaction can be 
determined and “available” means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be 
used to pay liabilities of the current period. A one-year availability period is used for recognition of all 
Governmental Fund revenues.  Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred.  
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences are 
recorded only when payment is made. 
 
The revenues susceptible to accrual are licenses, charges for services, intergovernmental revenues and 
interest income.  Gasoline and Sales taxes collected and held by the state at year end on behalf of the 
County are also recognized as revenue.  All other governmental fund revenues are recognized when 
received. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the County’s policy to use 
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as needed. 

 
When expenditures are incurred for which committed, assigned or unassigned amounts could be used, it 
is the County’s policy to use them in that order. 
 
Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 
Florida Statutes establishes the fiscal year as the twelve-month period beginning October 1.  The various 
departments of the County and the Constitutional Officers submit to the Clerk of the Circuit Court a 
budget of estimated expenditures for the ensuing fiscal year after which the Clerk subsequently submits 
a budget of estimated expenditures and revenues to the Board of County Commissioners. 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

- 20 - 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Upon receipt of the budget estimates, the Board of County Commissioners holds public hearings on the 
proposed budget.  Information about the proposed budget is then published in the Monticello News.   
The budget is legally enacted through passage of a Resolution by the Board of County Commissioners.  
The Board of County Commissioners is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between line items and 
departments within any fund; however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund must 
be due to unanticipated revenues and be approved by the Board of County Commissioners and an 
amendment to the originally adopted budget. Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted or as 
amended by the Board of County Commissioners.  Individual amendments were not material in relation 
to the original appropriations which were adopted other than those for unanticipated revenues. 
 
The County operates under a budgetary system wherein the Board of County Commissioners adopts a 
budget each year for the overall financial operation of the County, to include the operations of each of 
the other elected officials.  Any funds remaining in the various general funds of each elected official must 
revert to the Board of County Commissioners immediately after the end of each fiscal year.  The primary 
sources of revenues of the County are ad valorem taxes, racing tax, state revenue sharing proceeds, 
federal grants, gasoline taxes, sales taxes and special assessments. 
 
The budgetary information presented for the general fund and any major special revenue funds is prepared 
on the modified accrual basis.  Encumbrances are not recorded.  Unexpended items at year-end must be 
reappropriated in the subsequent year. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include amounts in demand deposits as well as short-term investments with a 
maturity date within three months of the date acquired by the government.  Short-term investments also 
include amounts placed with the State Board of Administration for participation in the Local Government 
Surplus Funds Trust Fund investment pools created by Sections 218.405 and 218.417, Florida Statutes.   
 
Cash of some funds is pooled into common pooled accounts in order to maximize investment 
opportunities.  Each fund whose monies are deposited in the pooled cash accounts has equity therein, 
and interest earned on the investment of these monies is allocated based upon relative equity during 
the year.  An individual fund’s pooled cash and cash investments are available upon demand and are 
considered to be “cash equivalents” when preparing these financial statements.  Negative balances 
incurred in pooled cash at year-end are treated as interfund receivables of the General Fund and 
interfund payables of the deficit fund. 
 
Investments 
The County follows GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments 
and for External Investment Pools, in reporting on investments owned.  Generally, this statement requires 
various investments be reported at fair value, including debt securities and open-ended mutual funds. 
 
Interfund Balances 
Activities between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the 
end of the fiscal year are referred to as “due to/from other funds”.  All residual balances outstanding 
were related to governmental activities and are not reported in the government-wide financial 
statements. 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

- 21 - 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Restricted Assets 
Certain net position of the County are classified as restricted assets on the statement of net position 
because their use is limited either by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation; or by 
restrictions imposed externally by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments.  In a fund with both restricted and unrestricted assets, qualified expenses are considered 
to be paid first from restricted net position and then from unrestricted net position. 
 
Capital Assets      
The County’s capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., 
roads, bridges, right of ways, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the capital asset accounts of 
the County.  Property and equipment with initial, individual costs that exceed $1,000 and an estimated 
useful life in excess of one year are recorded as capital assets.  Capital assets are recorded at historical 
cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded at 
estimated fair market value at the date of donation.  The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that 
do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend its useful life are expensed as incurred. Capital 
assets purchased by the Clerk of Circuit Court, Property Appraiser, Supervisor of Elections, and Tax 
Collector are accounted for within the Board of County Commissioner’s capital assets.  The Sheriff is 
accountable for and thus maintains capital asset records pertaining only to equipment used in his 
operations.  These assets have been combined with the Board’s governmental activities capital assets in 
the statement of net position. 
 
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

  Assets    Years  
 Buildings and improvements   10-40 
 Machinery and equipment    3-10 
 Road and bridge infrastructure    20-40 
  

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. For assets 
constructed with governmental fund resources, interest during construction is not capitalized. 
 
Due to Others 
This account is used to account for assets held by the County in a trustee capacity for other 
governmental agencies or individuals. 
 
Unearned Revenues 
The unearned revenues will be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year they are earned in accordance 
with the accrual basis of accounting.  Unearned revenues reported in the governmental fund financial 
statements represent revenues which are measureable but not available, and in accordance with the 
modified accrual basis of accounting, are reported as unearned revenues.  
 
Accumulated Compensated Absences 
The County maintains a policy that permits employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick 
pay benefits that will be paid to employees upon separation from County service if certain criteria are met.  
These benefits, plus their related tax and retirement costs are classified as compensated absences.  
Employees may be paid for unused vacation hours accrued up to a maximum amount.  Payment of unused 
sick leave, upon termination, is also provided for up to varying amounts. 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

- 22 - 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
The long-term portion of compensated absences are accrued and reported in the government-wide 
financial statements.  No expenditure is reported in the government fund level statements for these 
amounts until payment is made.  Compensated absences liability is based on current rates of pay.  This is 
accounted for pursuant to GASB Statement No. 16, Accounting for Compensated Absences. 
 
Long Term Debt 
In the government-wide financial statements, outstanding debts are reported as liabilities.  The 
governmental fund financial statements recognize the proceeds of debt as other financial sources of the 
current period.  Issuance costs are reported as expenditures. 

 
Governmental Fund Balances 
The County adopted GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Type Definitions 
(GASB Statement No. 54). This GASB Statement clarifies governmental fund balance classifications and 
fund-type definitions. Fund balances are classified either as non-spendable or spendable. See Note 12. 
 
Net position 
For the year ending September 30, 2017, the County reports net position as restricted or unrestricted.  
Restricted net position have externally imposed constraints placed on the use of resources by creditors, 
grantors, contributors, laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation.  Unrestricted net position is comprised of all other balances, including 
committed, assigned and unassigned. 
 
Encumbrances 
Encumbrances represent commitments in the form of purchase orders which are chargeable to an 
appropriation and for which a part of the appropriation is reserved.  Encumbrances do not represent 
expenditures or liabilities.  The County does not record encumbrances outstanding at year end. 
 
Management Estimates and Assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with general accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial 
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenditures during the reporting period.  
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Deferred Outflows of Resources 
A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net assets that applies to a future period and will 
not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until that future time. 
 
Deferred Inflows of Resources 
A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period and will not 
be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that future time. 
 
 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

- 23 - 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
New Accounting Standards Adopted 
In fiscal year 2017, the County adopted four new statements of financial accounting standards issued by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board:  

• GASB Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension 
Plans.  

• GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than 
Pensions 

• GASB Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures.  
• GASB Statement No. 78, Pensions Provided Through Certain Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit 

Pension Plans.  
• GASB Statement No. 80, Blending Requirements for Certain Component Units an amendment of GASB 

Statement No. 14 
 
GASB Statement No. 74 (GASB 74) establishes accounting and financial reporting standards, but not funding 
or budgetary standards, for state and local governmental other postemployment benefit (“OPEB”) plans. The 
statement replaces Statement No. 43, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than 
Pension Plans, as amended, and Statement No. 57, OPEB Measurement by Agent Employers and Agent 
Multiple-Employer Plans.  The adoption of GASB 74 had no impact on the County’s governmental fund 
financial statements. The requirements of GASB 74 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 
2016. 
 
GASB Statement No. 75 (GASB 75) establishes accounting and financial reporting standards, but not funding 
or budgetary standards, for state and local governmental postemployment benefits other than pensions 
(“OPEB”) plans. The statement replaces Statement No. 45, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit 
Plans Other Than Pension Plans, as amended, and Statement No. 57, OPEB Measurement by Agent Employers 
and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans.  The adoption of GASB 75 had no impact on the County’s governmental 
fund financial statements. The requirements of GASB 75 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 
2017 and were early implemented. 
 
GASB Statement No. 77 (GASB 77) defines a tax abatement and contains required disclosures about a 
reporting government’s own tax abatement agreements and those agreements that are entered into by 
other governments and that reduce the reporting government’s tax revenues.  There was no impact on the 
County’s financial statements as a result of the implementation of GASB 77. The requirements of GASB 77 
are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015. 
 
GASB Statement No. 78 (GASB 78) amends the scope and applicability of Statement No. 68 Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Pensions—and amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 to exclude pension plans 
provided to employees of state or local governmental employers through a cost-sharing multiple-employer 
defined benefit pension plan that (a) is not a state or local government pension plan, (b) is used to provide 
defined benefits both to employees of state or local governmental employers and to employees of 
employers that are not state or local governments,  
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

- 24 - 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
and (c) has no predominant state or local governmental employer (either individually or collectively with 
other state or local governmental employers that provide pensions through the pension plan). The 
Statement also establishes requirements for recognition and measurement of pension expense, 
expenditures, and liabilities; note disclosures; and required supplementary information for pensions that 
have the characteristics described above. There was no material impact on the County’s financial statements 
as a result of the implementation of GASB 78.  The requirements of GASB 78 are effective for reporting 
periods beginning after December 15, 2015. 
 
GASB Statement No. 80 (GASB 80) amends the blending requirements for the financial statement 
presentation of component units of all state and local governments by providing an additional criterion. A 
component unit should be included in the reporting entity financial statements using the blending method if 
the component unit is organized as a not-for-profit corporation in which the primary government is the sole 
corporate member as identified in the component unit’s articles of incorporation or bylaws.  There was no 
impact on the County’s financial statements as a result of the implementation of GASB 80.  The requirements 
of GASB 80 are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2016. 
 
Recently Issued But Not Yet Effective 
GASB has issued the following pronouncements that may affect future financial position, results of 
operations, cash flows, or financial presentation of the County upon implementation. Management has not 
yet evaluated the effect of implementation of these standards. 

       GASB    Effective 
Statement No.       GASB Accounting Standard  Fiscal Year 

 
81 Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements 2018 
83 Certain Asset Retirement Obligations 2019 
84 Fiduciary Activities 2020 
85 Omnibus 2017  2018 
86 Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues 2018 
87 Leases 2021 
88 Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings 
   And Direct Payments 2019 
89 Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a  

                               Construction Period                                                            2021 
 
Subsequent Events 
The County has evaluated subsequent events through the date of the Independent Auditors’ Report 
which is the date the financials were available to be issued. 
 
 
 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

- 25 - 

 
NOTE 2 - PROPERTY TAXES 

 
Under Florida law, the assessment of all properties and the collection of all county, municipal and school 
board property taxes are consolidated in the offices of the Property Appraiser and Tax Collector.  The laws 
of the state regulating tax assessment are also designed to assure a consistent property valuation method 
statewide.  Florida Statutes permit counties to levy property taxes at a rate of up to 10 mills for general 
operations.  The 2017 millage rate assessed by the County was 7.7198 mills. 
 
The tax levy of the County is established by the Board prior to October 1, of each year and the Property 
Appraiser incorporates the County millage into the total tax levy, which includes the various municipalities, 
the county school board, and other taxing authorities. 
 
All property is assessed according to its fair market value January 1, of each year.  Each assessment roll is 
submitted to the Executive Director of the Florida Department of Revenue for review to determine if the 
rolls meet all of the appropriate requirements of Florida Statutes. 
 
All taxes become payable on November 1, of each year, or as soon thereafter as the assessment roll is 
certified and delivered to the Tax Collector.  All unpaid taxes become delinquent on April 1 following the 
year in which they are assessed.  Discounts are allowed for early payment at the rate of 4% in the month of 
November, 3% in the month of December, 2% in the month of January and 1% in the month of February.  
Taxes paid in March are without discount. 
 
Delinquent taxes on real property bear interest of 18% per year.  On or prior to June 1 following the tax 
year, certificates are sold for all delinquent taxes on real property.  After sale, tax certificates bear 
interest of 18% per year or at any lower rate bid by the buyer. 

 
Application for a tax deed on any unredeemed tax certificates may be made by the certificate holder 
after a period of two years.  Unsold tax certificates are held by the County. 
 
Delinquent taxes on personal property bear interest of 18% per year until the tax is satisfied either by 
seizure and sale of the property or by the five-year statute of limitations. 
 
NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
At year end, the carrying amount of the County's deposits was $5,823,197 and the bank balance was 
$6,252,693. The bank balance was covered by federal depository insurance and, for the amount in 
excess of such federal depository insurance, by the State of Florida's Public Deposit Act. Provisions of the 
Act require that public deposits may only be made at qualified public depositories. The Act requires each 
qualified public depository to deposit with the State Treasurer eligible collateral equal to or in excess of 
the required collateral as determined by the provisions of the Act. In the event of a failure by a qualified 
public depository, losses in excess of federal depository insurance and proceeds from the sale of 
securities pledged by the defaulting depository are assessed against the other qualified public 
depositories of the same type as the depository in default. When other qualified public depositories are 
assessed additional amounts, they are assessed on a pro-rata basis. 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 -26- 

 
NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Florida Statutes authorize the County to invest in certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements and the 
State Treasurer's Investment Pool.  In addition, the statutes allow the County to invest in bonds, notes or 
other obligations of the United States Government, certain bonds of any state or local government unit, 
and bonds issued by certain government agencies. 
 
The County invested funds in the Florida State Board of Administration Local Governments Surplus Funds 
Investment Pool. At September 30, 2017, the market value and the carrying value of these funds was 
$273,557.  The funds are recorded as equity in pooled investments on the balance sheet at September 30, 
2017 (See Note 1 for definition of cash equivalents) and are included in carrying value and bank balance in 
the first paragraph of this note.  Additional information and investment policies regarding the Local 
Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund may be obtained from the State Board of Administration at 
www.sbafla.com/prime. 
 
The State of Florida’s Local Government Investment Pool is administered by the Florida State Board of 
Administration (SBA), which provides regulatory oversight. The powers and duties of the SBA are defined in 
Florida Statute 218.409. In addition, Chapter 19-7 of the Florida Administrative Code identifies the rules and 
regulations governing the administration of the State Pool. These rules provide guidance and establish the 
general operating procedures for the administration of the pool. The SBA provides regulatory oversight for 
the Florida PRIME Fund. As a pool participant, the County owns a share of the respective pool, not the 
underlying securities. 
 
The Florida PRIME Fund is an external investment pool that has adopted operating procedures consistent 
with the requirements of GASB Statement No. 79 to measure its investments at amortized cost. Therefore, 
the County’s investment in PRIME is at amortized cost. 

 
Credit Risk 
 
The credit risk of certain investments, such as investment pools managed by other governments, cannot 
be categorized as to credit risk because the County investments are not evidenced by specific, 
identifiable investment securities. 
 
As of September 30, 2017, the County’s investment in the Florida PRIME is rated by Standard and Poors 
and the current rating is AAAm.    
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
The weighted average days to maturity (WAM) of the Florida PRIME at September 30, 2017, is 51 days.  
Next interest rate reset for floating rate securities are used in the calculation of the WAM.  The weighted 
average life (WAL) of Florida PRIME at September 30, 2017 is 80 days. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
At September 30, 2017, the County did not hold any deposits or investments that were considered to have 
a custodial credit risk. 

 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 -27- 

 
NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
At September 30, 2017, the County did not have any investments that were considered to have a 
concentration of credit risk. 
 
NOTE 4 - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE    
 
Accounts receivable are ambulance receivables accounted for in the County’s General Fund.  Accounts 
receivable totaled $1,191,913 and is shown net of allowance of doubtful accounts and contractual 
adjustments of $1,027,249.  This allowance represents an uncollected billing ratio based on past history 
of collections and aged accounts receivable listings. Bad debt expense for the year was $221,077. 
 
NOTE 5 - INVENTORY OF SUPPLIES 
 
Inventories of fuel are recorded under the purchases method at cost as an expenditure in the County 
Transportation Trust Fund at the time of purchase.  The ending monthly inventory value is recorded as 
an asset with a related reserved fund balance which indicates that inventory does not constitute 
"available spendable resources" even though it is a component of net current assets.  Cost is determined 
using the first-in, first-out method. 
 
NOTE 6 - INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 
 
Transfers are used to (a) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to 
the fund that the statute or budget requires to expend them and to (b) move unrestricted revenues 
collected in the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance 
with budgetary authorizations.   
 
Interfund transfers for the year ended September 30, 2017, consisted of the following: 
 
Transfers to General Fund from:
   Nonmajor Governmental Funds 288,866$      
   Fines and Forfeitures Fund 3,939,974     

Transfers to Fines and Forfeitures Fund from:
   General Fund 2,851,729     

Transfers to Nonmajor Governmental Funds from: 
   General Fund 878,411         
   Transportation Fund 297,325         

Total interfund transfers 8,256,305$   
 

 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 -28- 

 
NOTE 6 - INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONTINUED) 
 
The purpose of individual fund interfund receivable and payable balances at September 30, 2017 was for 
pooling of cash balances and loans to other funds.  None of the balances are expected to be repaid 
within the next year. 
 
Interfund receivables/payables for the year ended September 30, 2017, consisted of the following: 
 

INTERFUND INTERFUND
RECEIVABLES PAYABLES

General Fund  $         1,149,572  $            596,941 
Fines and Forfeitures Fund                              -                426,413 
Capital Projects                          26                572,370 
Transportation Fund                              -                439,244 

Nonmajor governmental funds
  Landfill                262,206                              - 
  Fire Assessment Fund                276,989                              - 
  SHIP Trust Fund                     3,289                              - 
  Grant Fund                260,772                              - 
  E-911 Fund                210,797                              - 
  Debt Service Fund                     1,953                              - 
  Literacy Alliance                              -                   67,986 
  FEMA Fund                   62,650 

Total  $         2,165,604  $         2,165,604 

  
The general fund has amounts due to and from constitutional officers, which represent the return of excess 
monies due at the end of the fiscal year, from either budget officers or fee officers.  All remaining balances 
resulted from the time lag between the dates that (a) interfund goods and services are provided or 
reimbursable expenditures occur, (b) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (c) payments 
between funds are made. 
 
 
NOTE 7 - DUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTS 
 
Due from other governments consists of funds earned as of September 30, 2017, but not yet received by 
the County.  The majority of these amounts were received in October and November 2017. 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 -29- 

 
NOTE 8 - CAPITAL ASSETS   

 
Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2017, was as follows: 
 
 

BEGINNING ENDING
BALANCE INCREASES DECREASES BALANCE

Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land and improvements 1,737,456$    -$                   -$                   1,737,456$    
Construction in progress 692,273          766,724        -                     1,458,997      

Total capital assets not being depreciated 2,429,729      766,724        -                     3,196,453      

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 10,506,628    124,315        -                     10,630,943    
Equipment 8,880,126      1,107,302    264,000        9,723,428      
Equipment - Sheriff 2,466,143      74,301          -                     2,540,444      
Roads 32,071,922    -                     -                     32,071,922    

Total capital assets being depreciated 53,924,819    1,305,918    264,000        54,966,737    

Less:  Total accumulated depreciation 39,195,705    1,315,941    24,298          40,487,348    

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 14,729,114    (10,023)        239,702        14,479,389    

Governmental activities capital assets, net 17,158,843$  756,701$     239,702$     17,675,842$  

  
Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows: 

Governmental activities
General government 379,076$        
Public safety 371,676          
Physical environment 156,353          
Transportation 406,112          
Culture and recreation 2,724              

Total depreciation expense-governmental activities 1,315,941$    

 
 
  



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 -30- 

 
NOTE 9 - LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
The County’s long-term debt is to be repaid from governmental activities only.   
          
Items of equipment were acquired in prior years and current year under various installment purchase 
obligations bearing interest at 2.14% to 5.66% per annum.  These obligations require monthly and 
annual installments of various amounts and expire at various dates through 2021. 
 
The County borrowed funds in the amount of $1,800,000 to refund the Series 1999 Bonds. The note 
payable includes interest at 1.84% and includes quarterly payments of $68,686, including interest, 
through 2021. The note is collateralized by an assignment of Local Government half-cent sales tax 
revenues, half-cent supplement sales tax and pari-mutual tax revenues.  
 
The County borrowed funds in the amount of $604,500 to construct a building in the industrial park. The 
note payable includes interest at 3.92%, and includes monthly payments of $4,447, including interest, 
through August 2031. The note is collateralized by an assignment of Non-Ad Valorem revenues. 
 
The County issued its $4,615,000 Jefferson County, Florida, Gas Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2012. The 
Bonds are dated November 15, 2012 and pays interest at 2% to 2.75% semi-annually on June 1 and 
December 1 of each year.  Principal is payable annually on December 1, 2013 and each December 1 
thereafter in amounts varying from $185,000 in 2013 up to $265,000 in 2029.  The Bonds were issued to 
provide sufficient funds to finance the cost of the acquisition and construction of certain road 
improvements in the County.  The 2012 Bonds are being issued under the authority of Chapter 125, Part 
1, Florida Statutes, as amended, Sections 206.41, Section 206.47 and 336.024, Florida Statutes, as 
amended and other applicable provisions of law and under and pursuant to Resolution No. 2012-11-15-
12-02, adopted by the Board of County Commissioners of the County on November 15, 2012. The Bonds 
are special obligations of the County and are payable solely from and secured by a prior lien and pledge 
of (i) a portion of the proceeds of the constitutional fuel tax collected by the State to the Issuer and (ii) 
all moneys, including investment earnings thereof, in the funds and accounts established under the 
Resolution. 
 
The County borrowed funds in the amount of $152,928 to purchase equipment. The note payable 
includes interest at 3.25%, and includes yearly payments of $33,779, including interest, through 
September 2022.  The note is collateralized by equipment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 -31- 

 
NOTE 9 - LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Long-term debt activity for the year ended September 30, 2017, was as follows: 

DUE
BEGINNING ENDING WITHIN

BALANCE ADDITIONS REDUCTIONS BALANCE ONE YEAR
Governmental activities:
Revenue bonds 4,045,000$  -$                200,000$      3,845,000$  200,000$   
Note payable 1,783,873    217,029     283,836        1,717,066    383,767     
Capital lease obligations 991,008        116,976     447,944        660,040       206,651     
Compensated absences 458,974        281,146     295,260        444,860       114,743     
Landfill closure and post-closure costs 267,371        -                   50,694          216,677       54,169        

Total 7,546,226$  615,151$   1,277,734$  6,883,643$  959,330$   

 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 
-32- 

 
NOTE 9 - LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Payments on the revenue bonds, leases payable and notes payable that pertain to the County’s 
governmental activities are made by the debt service funds. The compensated absences liability 
attributable to the governmental activities will be liquidated primarily by the General Fund. 
 
Debt service requirements on long-term debt at September 30, 2017 are as follows: 

FISCAL YEAR ENDING

SEPTEMBER 30, PRINCIPAL INTEREST PRINCIPAL INTEREST

2018 200,000$             95,325$               206,651$             18,528$               
2019 205,000               91,325                 277,358               10,479                 
2020 210,000               87,225                 176,031               7,624                   
2021 215,000               83,025                 -                            -                            
2022 220,000               77,650                 -                            -                            

2023-2027 1,175,000            311,926               -                            -                            
2028-2032 1,330,000            160,133               -                            -                            
2033-2037 290,000               8,700                   -                            -                            

Total 3,845,000$         915,309$             660,040$             36,631$               

FISCAL YEAR ENDING
SEPTEMBER 30, PRINCIPAL INTEREST

2018 383,767$             44,372$               
2019 326,664               35,130                 
2020 333,833               27,960                 
2021 204,597               20,933                 
2022 68,911                 17,547                 

2023-2027 207,569               59,264                 
2028-2032 191,725               15,547                 

Total 1,717,066$         220,753$             

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
REVENUE BONDS CAPITAL LEASE OGLIGATIONS

NOTES PAYABLE
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

 

 
Long-term landfill closure and post-closure liability – this obligation relates to long-term landfill post-
closure costs.  

 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 
-33- 

 
NOTE 10 - STATE RETIREMENT PROGRAM AND NET PENSION LIABILITY  
 
Defined Benefit Plans 
 
The County participates in two defined benefit pension plans that are administered by the State of 
Florida, Department of Management Services, Division of Retirement.  The plans provide retirement, 
disability or death benefits to retirees or their designated beneficiaries.  Chapter 121, Florida Statutes, 
establishes the authority for benefit provisions.  Changes to the law can only occur through an act of the 
Florida Legislature.  The State of Florida issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial 
statements and required supplementary information for the plans.  That report is available from the 
Florida Department of Management Services’ website (www.dms.myflorida.com). 
 
The Florida Retirement System (FRS) Pension Plan is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit 
pension plan with a Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) available for eligible employees. The 
FRS was established and is administered in accordance with Chapter 121, Florida Statutes. Retirees 
receive a lifetime pension benefit with joint and survivor payment options. FRS membership is 
compulsory for employees filling regularly established positions in a state agency, county agency, state 
university, state college, or district school board, unless restricted from FRS membership under Sections 
121.053 or 121.122, Florida Statutes, or allowed to participate in a defined contribution plan in lieu of 
FRS membership. Participation by cities, municipalities, special districts, charter schools and 
metropolitan planning organizations is optional. 

The Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit 
pension plan established and administered in accordance with Section 112.363, Florida Statutes. The 
benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees of the state-administered retirement systems in paying 
their health insurance costs.  To be eligible to receive a HIS benefit, a retiree under a state administered 
retirement system must provide proof of eligible health insurance coverage, which can include 
Medicare. 

Benefits Provided 

Benefits under the FRS Pension Plan are computed on the basis of age and/or years of service, average 
final compensation, and service credit. Credit for each year of service is expressed as a percentage of the 
average final compensation. For members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, the average final 
compensation is the average of the five highest fiscal years’ earnings; for members initially enrolled on 
or after July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is the average of the eight highest fiscal years’ 
earnings.  The total percentage value of the benefit received is determined by calculating the total value 
of all service, which is based on the retirement plan and/or class to which the member belonged when 
the service credit was earned. 

Eligible retirees and beneficiaries receive a monthly HIS payment equal to the number of years of service 
credited at retirement multiplied by $5.  The minimum payment is $30 and the maximum payment is 
$150 per month, pursuant to Section 112.363, Florida Statutes. 
 
 
 

http://www.dms.myflorida.com/


Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 
-34- 

 
NOTE 10 - STATE RETIREMENT PROGRAM AND NET PENSION LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Contributions 

The contribution requirements of plan members and the employer are established and may be amended 
by the Florida Legislature.  Employees are required to contribute 3.00% of their salary to the FRS. The 
employer’s contribution rates as of September 30, 2017, were as follows: 

Class or Plan FRS HIS

Florida Retirement System:
Regular 6.26% 1.66%
Senior Management Service Class 21.05% 1.66%
Elected county officials' class 43.84% 1.66%
Special Risk 21.61% 1.66%
DROP 11.60% 1.66%

 
The employer’s contributions for the year ended September 30, 2017, were $774,744 to the FRS and 
$100,570 to the HIS. 
 
Pension Liabilities and Pension Expense  

In its financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2017, the County reported a liability for its 
proportionate share of the net pension liabilities.  The net pension liabilities were measured as of June 
30, 2017, and the total pension liabilities used to calculate the net pension liability were determined by 
an actuarial valuation dated July 1, 2017.  The County’s proportions of the net pension liabilities were 
based on the County’s share of contributions to the pension plans relative to the contributions of all 
participating entities, actuarially determined. 

FRS HIS
Net Pension Liability at June 30, 2017 8,742,900$   2,002,330$   

Proportion at:
   Current measurement date 0.0296000% 0.0187000%
   Prior measurement date 0.0295000% 0.0187000%

Pension expense (benefit) 1,594,135$   146,780$      

 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 
-35- 

 
NOTE 10 - STATE RETIREMENT PROGRAM AND NET PENSION LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions  

At September 30, 2017, the County reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred

Outflows Inflows Outflows Inflows

Description of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience 802,388$          (48,431)$           -$                       (4,169)$             

Changes of assumptions 2,938,232         -                         281,459            (173,144)           

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on
   pension plan investments -                         (216,671)           1,110                -                         
Changes in proportion and differences between employer

   contributions and proportionate share of contributions 492,387            (119,044)           77,057              (95,627)             
County contributions subsequent to the measurement date

  the measurement date 214,513            -                         25,877              -                         

Total 4,447,520$      (384,146)$        385,503$          (272,940)$        

FRS HIS

 
 
Deferred outflows of resources related to employer contributions paid subsequent to the measurement 
date and prior to the employer’s fiscal year end will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability in the reporting period ending September 30, 2017.  Other pension-related amounts reported as 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized in pension expense 
as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, FRS HIS
2018 589,766$      27,109$         
2019 1,354,380     27,109           
2020 912,021         27,109           
2021 190,567         24,018           
2022 592,753         8,034             

Thereafter 209,374         (26,693)         

Total 3,848,861$   86,686$         

 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 
-36- 

 
NOTE 10 - STATE RETIREMENT PROGRAM AND NET PENSION LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 

The total pension liability for each of the defined benefit plans, measured as of June 30, 2016, was 
determined by an actuarial valuation dated July 1, 2016, using the individual entry age normal actuarial 
cost method and the following significant actuarial assumptions: 
 

FRS HIS
Inflation 2.60% 2.60%
Salary increases 3.25% 3.25%
Investment rate of return 7.10% N/A
Discount rate 7.10% 3.58%

 
 
Mortality assumptions for both plans were based on the Generational RP-2000 with Projection Scale BB. 
 
For both plans, the actuarial assumptions used in the valuation dated July 1, 2017 were based on the 
results of an actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2008, through June 30, 2013. 
 
The following changes in key actuarial assumptions occurred in 2017: 

 
FRS: The long-term expected rate of return and the discount rate used to determine the total 
pension liability decreased from 7.60% to 7.10%. 
 
HIS: The municipal bond index rate and the discount rate used to determine the total pension 
liability decreased from 2.85% to 3.58%. 

 
The long-term expected investment rate of return was not based on historical returns, but instead was 
based on a forward-looking capital market economic model. Each asset class assumption is based on a 
consistent set of underlying assumptions, and includes an adjustment for the inflation assumption. For 
the FRS Pension Plan, the table below summarizes the consulting actuary’s assumptions based on the 
long-term target asset allocation.  
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
-37- 

 
NOTE 10 - STATE RETIREMENT PROGRAM AND NET PENSION LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 
 

Compound
Annual Annual

Target Arithmetic (Geometric) Standard
Asset Class Allocation Return Return Deviation
Cash 1.00% 3.00% 3.00% 1.80%
Fixed Income 18.00% 4.50% 4.40% 4.20%
Global Equity 53.00% 7.80% 6.60% 17.00%
Real Estate (Property) 10.00% 6.60% 5.90% 12.80%
Private Equity 6.00% 11.50% 7.80% 30.00%
Strategic Investments 12.00% 6.10% 5.60% 9.70%

Total 100.00%

 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for the FRS Pension Plan was 7.10%. FRS’ 
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension 
liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return. 
 
Because the HIS Program is essentially funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, a municipal bond rate of 3.58% 
was used to determine the total pension liability for the program. The Bond Buyer General Obligation 
Bond 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index was used as the applicable municipal bond index. 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount 
rate.  The sensitivity analysis shows the impact to the employer’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability if the discount rate was 1.00% higher or 1.00% lower than the current discount rate. 
 

FRS Net Pension Liability
Current 

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.10%) (7.10%) (8.10%)

Governmental Employer's proportionate 
   share of the net pension liability 15,824,121$ 8,742,900$   2,863,864$   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
-38- 

 
 
NOTE 10 - STATE RETIREMENT PROGRAM AND NET PENSION LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 
 

HIS Net Pension Liability 
Current 

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(2.58%) (3.58%) (4.58%)

Governmental Employer's proportionate 
   share of the net pension liability 2,284,924$   2,002,330$   1,766,945$   

 
 
Pension Plans’ Fiduciary Net Position 
 
Detailed information about the pension plans’ fiduciary net position is available in the State’s separately 
issued financial reports.   
 
Defined Contribution Plan 
 
Pursuant to Chapter 121, Florida Statutes, the Florida Legislature created the Florida Retirement 
Investment Plan (“FRS Investment Plan”), a defined contribution pension plan qualified under Section 
401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. The FRS Investment Plan is an alternative available to members of 
the Florida Retirement System in lieu of the defined benefit plan. There is a uniform contribution rate 
covering both the defined benefit and defined contribution plans, depending on membership class. 
Required employer contributions made to the plan during the year ended September 30, 2017, totaled 
$151,953. 
 
NOTE 11 - GRANTS 

 
The County participates in several state and federal grant programs.  These programs are subject to 
program compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives.  The audits of these programs for or 
including the year ended September 30, 2017, have not yet been accepted/approved by the grantors.  
Accordingly, the final determination of the County's compliance with applicable grant requirements will 
be established at a future date.  The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the 
grantor agencies cannot be determined, although the County expects such amounts, if any, to be 
immaterial. 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
-39- 

 
NOTE 12 - FUND EQUITY 
 
Fund balances are classified based upon a hierarchy of the County’s ability to control spending of these 
fund balances and can be classified in the following categories: 
 
Nonspendable – Amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not spendable in form or they are 
legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
 
Restricted – Amounts that can be spent only for purposes stipulated by external parties, constitution 
provision or enabling legislation. 
 
Committed – Amounts constrained for a specific purpose by the Board of County Commissioners. 
 
Assigned – For the general fund, amounts constrained for the intent to be used for a specific purpose by 
the Board of County Commissioners.  For all governmental funds other than the general fund, any positive 
remaining amounts not classified as nonspendable, restricted or committed. 
 
Unassigned – All amounts not included in other spendable classifications. 
 
The County had $18,544 in non-spendable fund balance which represents the inventory balance at 
September 30, 2017.  Committed fund balance totaling $10,700 at September 30, 2017 represents amounts 
committed by the Board of County Commissioners for constitutional office capital purchases and 
operations.  The County also had $102,465 in assigned fund balance for constitutional office capital 
purchases at September 30, 2017. 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
-40- 

 
NOTE 12 - FUND EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 

Funds Purpose
General Fund Funding for:

Landfill escrow 132,659$           
Medical impact fees 67,370               
Tourist development tax 58,517               
Fire impact fees 47,465               
Court related technology and modernization 56,821               
Mosquito Control 61,141               
Total general fund 423,973$           

Special Revenue Fund Funding for:
  Transporation 428,359             
  Fines and Forfeitures 115,488             
Nonmajor governmental funds
  E-911 431,371             
  Landfill 247,915             
  Grants 520,376             
  Fire Assessment 285,778             
  Debt Service 277,250             
  Sheriff Special Revenue 9,256                 
Total nonmajor governmental funds 1,771,946          

Total restricted fund balance 2,739,766$       

Restricted Fund Balance:

 
NOTE 13 - LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
The County is involved in various litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of 
management, after consultation with legal counsel, these matters will be resolved without a material 
adverse effect on the County's financial position. 
 
NOTE 14 - LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POST CLOSURE CARE COSTS 
 
The County was required by State law to close its landfill which has no further capacity as of September 
30, 1994.  The post closure cost of maintenance, monitoring and testing are estimated to be 
approximately $50,632 per year for the next 8 years.  The estimate of post closure costs is based upon 
information provided by environmental engineers and consultants under contract with the County.  The 
Solid Waste Trust Fund is a special revenue fund maintained by the County to accumulate the assets 
necessary to fund the post closure liabilities referenced above.  The County maintains an escrow account 
to fund post closure costs annually.  The escrow balance at September 30, 2017, was $132,659. 
 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
-41- 

 
NOTE 15 - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 
 
Plan Description – The County has implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 
75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions for retiree 
health insurance.   
 
The Jefferson County Retiree Healthcare Plan (Plan) is a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan 
which provides Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) to eligible retirees and their eligible dependents. 
 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.0801, the Florida Statutes, employees who retire from the 
County and eligible dependents, may continue to participate in the group health insurance plan.  
Retirees and their eligible dependents shall be offered the same health insurance coverage as is offered 
to active employees at a premium cost of no more than the premium cost applicable to active 
employees.  The Plan does not issue a publicly available financial report.   
 
Eligibility for participation in the Plan is limited to full-time employees of the County, if the criteria have 
been met to qualify for retirement benefits.  See Note 10. 
 
Benefits Provided - The County provides post-employment healthcare to its retirees.  Health benefits are 
provided through the County’s healthcare provider.  The benefit levels are the same as those afforded to 
active employees.  Health benefits include inpatient and outpatient medical services and prescriptions. 
 
Membership – At September 30, 2017, there were no terminated employees entitled to benefits by not 
yet receiving them. The membership of the Plan consisted of: 
 
Active employees 128
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 20
Total membership 148

Participating employers 1

 
 
Contributions and Funding Policy - A qualifying trust or agency fund has not been authorized by the 
County.  The County negotiates the premium rates with Capital Health Plan.  The required contribution is 
based on pay-as-you-go financing requirements.  Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 
are required to contribute 100% of their current premium costs, which for fiscal year 2017 was $64,790.  
The chart below shows the cost of the monthly retiree premiums as of the valuation date:



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
-42- 

 
NOTE 15 - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION (CONTINUED) 

Capital
Health

Coverage Plan

Retiree  $        646.91 
Retiree & Spouse  $     1,241.33 
Retiree & Children  $     1,055.39 
Family  $     1,611.99  
 
OPEB Liability and Expense - At September 30, 2017, the County reported a liability of $938,966 for the 
net OPEB liability. The net OPEB liability was measured as of September 30, 2017, and was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of October 1, 2016. Standard actuarial update procedures were used to roll 
forward to the measurement date from the actuarial valuation date.  
 
For the year ended September 30, 2017, the County recognized OPEB expense of $54,124. At September 
30, 2017, the County reported no deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources related 
to OPEB. 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions – The total OPEB liability in the October 1, 2016, actuarial valuation 
was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods 
included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified. 
 
Inflation    2.50% per annum 
 
Cost of Living Increases:   Increase in accordance with the healthcare cost trend rates 
 
Projected annual salaries increase  3.00% per annum 
 
Healthcare cost trend rate    8.00% initial year reduced 0.5% each year 

 until reaching ultimate trend rate of 5.00% 
 
Mortality     RP-2000 generational table scaled using Scale AA 

 & applied on a gender-specific basis 
 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 2.80%. The discount rate 
is based on the 20-year municipal bond index as provided by the Asset Consulting Group.



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
-43- 

 
NOTE 15 - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION (CONTINUED) 
 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - 
The following presents the County’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, as well as what the 
Library’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate 
that is 1 percent lower (1.80%) or 1 percent point higher (3.80%) than the current discount rate: 
 

1% Decrease (1.80%) Current Discount Rate 1% Increase (3.80%) 

Net OPEB Liability 1,026,585$                      938,966$                         855,662$                         

 
 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate- The following presents 
the County’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability if it were calculated using healthcare cost 
trend rates that are 1 percent lower (4.00%) or 1 percent point higher (6.00%) than the current 
healthcare cost trend rates: 

Net OPEB Liability 817,969$                         938,966$                         1,087,154$                      

Current Healthcare Cost 
Trend Rate (8.00% 

drecreasing to 5.00%)
1% Increase (9.00% 

decreasing to 6.00%)
1% Decrease (7.00% 
Decreasing to 4.00%)

 
 
NOTE 16 - OPERATING LEASES 
 
The County currently leases office space from Jefferson County, Florida School Board for $24,000 per 
year.  The County also has various equipment leases.  During fiscal year 2017, the County entered an 
operating lease for two Mack dump trucks.  The lease term is $25,000 down and five yearly payments of 
$53,871 for five years if the County chose to exercise the lease agreement past September 30, 2017.  The 
County returned the trucks after year end. The future minimum lease payments due from the County are 
as follows, for the years ended September 30: 
 
2018 77,871$         
2019 53,871           
2020 53,871           
2021 53,871           
2022 53,871           

Total 293,355$       



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
-44- 

 
NOTE 17 - RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees and/or the public; or damage to property of others.  
The County purchases commercial insurance against losses for the following types of risk: 

• Real and Personal Property Damage 
• Public Employees Bond 
• Workers' Compensation and employer’s liability 
• General and automobile Liability 
• Comprehensive General Liability 
• Accidental death and dismemberment 
• Public officials’ liability 
• Inmate major medical 

 
The Sheriff participates in the Florida Sheriff’s Self-Insurance Fund program, which is a public entity risk 
pool that permits the Sheriff to cover risk relating to professional liability, public officials’ liability, public 
employees’ blanket bond, and money and securities coverage.  The Sheriff purchases commercial 
insurance to cover other risks and losses. 
 
NOTE 18 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Contractual Commitments 
 
At September 30, 2017, the Board had contractual commitments for construction projects in excess of 
amounts recognized in the financial statements. 
 
NOTE 19 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS   
 
Subsequent to year end, the County has signed agreements with various agencies for grant funding for 
various projects.   
 
Subsequent to year end, the County also approved multiple construction contracts totaling over $2.2 
million to be completed within the 2018 fiscal year. 
 
On January 4, 2018, the Board of County Commissioners authorized issuance of Gas Tax Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2018 for the purpose of financing cost of transportation improvements in the amount of 
$5,850,000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
-45- 

NOTE 20 - DEFICIT FUND BALANCES 
 
The Board had two special revenue funds with deficit fund balances as of September 30, 2017 as follows: 

Funds Amount
FEMA Fund  $         (2,025)
Capital Projects Fund  $       (71,417)  

 
They will be funded by future revenues in the next fiscal year. 
 
NOTE 21 - BUDGETARY INFORMATION 
 
The County had expenditures that were in excess of their budget in the following funds: 
 
Funds Amount
Transportation  $    (629,758)
Capital Projects (336)$             

 
This is a technical violation of Florida Statutes, Chapter 129. 
 
NOTE 22 – PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 
 
Beginning fund balance for the Fines and Forfeitures fund was restated by $119,000 as of and for the 
year ended September 30, 2016 to correct an error related to rent payable to Jefferson County School 
Board. Expenses on the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance would 
increase by $24,000 for the year ended September 30, 2016 and the remaining amount was for prior 
years. 
 
Beginning fund balance for the Transportation fund was restated by $59,588 as of and for the year 
ended September 30, 2016 to correct errors related to overstated inventory of $82,588 and an 
overpayment of accounts payable of $23,000 in the prior year. Expenses on the Statement of Revenue, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance would decrease by $59,588 for the year ended September 
30, 2016. 
 
Beginning fund balance for the State Housing Initiative Partnership (SHIP) funds was restated by 
$129,935 to correct an error in the deferred revenue as of September 30, 2016. There was no effect on 
the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance for the year ended September 
30, 2016. 
 
Beginning fund balance for the General fund was restated by $46,146 as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2016 to correct an error in accounts payable of $100,000 and Due from Other 
Governments of $53,854. Intergovernmental Revenues would decrease by $53,854 and expenses would 
decrease by $100,000 on the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance for the 
year ended September 30, 2016. 
 
Beginning fund balance for the Fire fund was restated by $28,118 and as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2016 to correct overstatement of accounts payable related to a lease purchase.  



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
-46- 

 
NOTE 22 – PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Expenses on the Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance would decrease by 
$28,118 for the year ended September 30, 2016. 
 
Beginning fund balance for the Landfill fund was restated by $35,981 to correct overstatement of 
accounts payable as of September 30, 2016. There was no effect on the Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance for the year ended September 30, 2016.  
 
Beginning fund balance for E911 fund was restated by $27,760 to correct error in Due from Other 
Government Unit as of and for the year ended September 30, 2016. Revenues on the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance would decrease by $27,760 for the year ended 
September 30, 2016. 
 
NOTE 23 – CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE 
 
The County restated the beginning net position of the governmental activities as follows to implement 
provisions of GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits 
Other Than Pensions: 
 

Governmental 
Activities

Net position - beginning of the year, as previously reported after prior period adjustments 10,275,908$           
Restatement:
   Net OPEB liability (440,842)                 

Net position - beginning of the year, as restated 9,835,066$             

 



                    COMBINING FINANCIAL
                                       STATEMENTS 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds (Page 1 of 2) 

 
See Independent Auditors’ Report 

-47- 

 
September 30, 2017

SHIP Grants Fire E-911
Trust Fund Fund Assessment Payroll Fund Landfill

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents -$                       -$                       -$                       2,953$               -$                        -$                       
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 51,792 174,928            -                          -                          -                          -                         
Due from other funds 3,289                 260,772            276,989            -                          210,797             262,206            
Due from other governmental units -                         95,439              13,397               -                          424,804             32,858              
Total assets 55,081$            531,139$          290,386$          2,953$               635,601$           295,064$          

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses -$                       11,051$            4,608$               2,953$               204,230$           47,149$            
Interest payable -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          -                         
Due to other funds -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          -                         
Unearned revenue 55,081              -                         -                          -                          -                          -                         

Total liabilities 55,081              11,051              4,608                 2,953                 204,230             47,149              

Fund balances

Restricted -                         520,088            285,778            -                          431,371             247,915            
Unassigned -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          -                         

Total fund balances -                         520,088            285,778            -                          431,371             247,915            

Total liabilities and fund balances 55,081$            531,139$          290,386$          2,953$               635,601$           295,064$          

Special Revenue

 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds (Page 2 of 2) 

 
See Independent Auditors’ Report 

-48- 

 
 

September 30, 2017

Total
Non-Major

Debt Literacy Sheriff Governmental
Service FEMA Alliance Special Revenue Funds

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       2,953$                    
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 312,205            -                         102,370            9,256 650,551                  
Due from other funds 1,953                 -                         -                          -                          1,016,006              
Due from other governmental units -                         60,625              -                          -                          627,123                  
Total assets 314,158$          60,625$            102,370$          9,256$               2,296,633$            

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       269,991$               
Interest payable 36,908              -                         -                          -                          36,908                    
Due to other funds -                         62,650              67,986               -                          130,636                  
Unearned revenue -                         -                         34,096               -                          89,177                    

Total liabilities 36,908              62,650              102,082            -                          526,712                  

Fund balances

Restricted 277,250            -                         288                    9,256                 1,771,946              
Unassigned -                         (2,025)               -                          -                          (2,025)                     

Total fund balances 277,250            (2,025)               288                    9,256                 1,769,921              

Total liabilities and fund balances 314,158$          60,625$            102,370$          9,256$               2,296,633$            
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds (Page 1 of 2) 

See Independent Auditors’ Report 
-49- 
 

 

 
 

SHIP Grants Fire E-911
Trust Fund Fund Assessment Payroll Fund Landfill

Revenues
Intergovernmental -$                          -$                               -$                               -$                      215,390$              -$                     
Grants 529,938               332,495                    3,342                         -                         393,830                183,151          
Charges for services -                             -                                 -                                 -                         -                             69,422             
Investment earnings 24                         5                                -                                 -                         -                             1,425               
Other fees and miscellaneous revenues -                             -                                 762,237                    -                         -                             1,298,482       

Total revenues 529,962               332,500                    765,579                    -                         609,220                1,552,480       

Expenditures
Current:
  General government -                             -                                 -                                 -                         -                             -                        
  Public safety -                             -                                 -                                 -                         106,943                -                        
  Fire safety -                             -                                 794,696                    -                         -                             -                        
  Health and sanitation -                             -                                 -                                 -                         -                             1,504,271       
  Transportation -                             -                                 -                                 -                         -                             -                        
  Economic development 529,962               328,699                    -                                 -                         -                             -                        
Capital outlay -                             -                                 236,448                    -                         393,830                41,150             
Debt service
  Principal -                             -                                 24,607                      -                         -                             -                        
  Interest and other charges -                             -                                 3,510                         -                         -                             -                        

Total expenditures 529,962               328,699                    1,059,261                 -                         500,773                1,545,421       

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures -                             3,801                         (293,682)                   -                         108,447                7,059               

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in -                             -                                 599,976                    -                         -                             -                        
Transfers out -                             -                                 (7,984)                       -                         (270,000)               (10,882)           

Net other financing sources (uses) -                             -                                 591,992                    -                         (270,000)               (10,882)           

Net change in fund balances -                             3,801                         298,310                    -                         (161,553)               (3,823)             

Fund balances - beginning as previously reported 129,935               516,287                    (40,650)                     -                         565,164                215,757          

Prior Period Adjustments - Note 22 (129,935)              -                                 28,118                      -                         27,760                  35,981             

Fund balances - beginning as previously reported -                             516,287                    (12,532)                     -                         592,924                251,738          

Fund balances - ending -$                          520,088$                  285,778$                  -$                      431,371$              247,915$        

For the year ended September 30, 2017

Special Revenue



Jefferson County, Florida 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds (Page 2 of 2) 

See Independent Auditors’ Report 
-50- 
 

 

 

Total
Non-Major

Debt Literacy Sheriff Governmental
Service FEMA Alliance Special Revenue Funds

Revenues
Intergovernmental -$                               -$                               -$                               -$                               215,390$              
Grants -                                 -                                 193,420                    -                                 1,636,176             
Charges for services -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 69,422                  
Investment earnings 817                            -                                 287                            44                              2,602                     
Other fees and miscellaneous revenues -                                 -                                 -                                 35,909                      2,096,628             

Total revenues 817                            -                                 193,707                    35,953                      4,020,218             

Expenditures
Current:
  General government 361                            -                                 -                                 -                                 361                        
  Public safety -                                 -                                 -                                 94,587                      201,530                
  Fire safety -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 794,696                
  Health and sanitation -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 1,504,271             
  Transportation -                                 2,025                         -                                 -                                 2,025                     
  Economic development -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 858,661                
  Culture and recreation -                                 -                                 193,419                    -                                 193,419                
Capital outlay -                                 -                                 -                                 14,175                      685,603                
Debt service
  Principal 454,363                    -                                 -                                 -                                 478,970                
  Interest and other charges 117,707                    -                                 -                                 -                                 121,217                

Total expenditures 572,431                    2,025                         193,419                    108,762                    4,840,753             

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (571,614)                   (2,025)                       288                            (72,809)                     (820,535)               

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 575,760                    -                                 -                                 -                                 1,175,736             
Transfers out -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 (288,866)               
Proceeds from long-debt -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 -                             

Net other financing sources (uses) 575,760                    -                                 -                                 -                                 886,870                

Net change in fund balances 4,146                         (2,025)                       288                            (72,809)                     66,335                  

Fund balances - beginning as previously reported 273,104                    -                                 -                                 82,065                      1,741,662             

Prior Period Adjustments - Note 22 -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 (38,076)                 

Fund balances - beginning as previously reported 273,104                    -                                 -                                 82,065                      1,703,586             

Fund balances - ending 277,250$                  (2,025)$                     288$                          9,256$                      1,769,921$           

For the year ended September 30, 2017



Jefferson County, Florida 
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 

Agency Funds 

See Independent Auditors’ Report 
-51- 
 

 

 
September 30, 2017

Clerk of the Tax 
Circuit Court Collector Sheriff Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 245,873$          1,194,391$       14,350$           1,454,614$      

Total assets 245,873$          1,194,391$       14,350$           1,454,614$      

Liabilities
Due to other governments -$                       1,154,945$       -$                      1,154,945$      
Due to other funds 14,985 39,446 -                        54,431              
Due to others 230,888            -                          14,350             245,238

Total liabilities 245,873$          1,194,391$       14,350$           1,454,614$      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



          REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY
                                   INFORMATION                     

sgreen
Typewritten Text

sgreen
Typewritten Text

sgreen
Typewritten Text

sgreen
Typewritten Text

sgreen
Typewritten Text

sgreen
Typewritten Text

sgreen
Typewritten Text

sgreen
Typewritten Text

sgreen
Typewritten Text

sgreen
Typewritten Text

sgreen
Typewritten Text



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Proportional Share of Net Pension Liability - FRS 

(Last 5 Fiscal Years) 

See Independent Auditors’ Report 
-52- 
 

 

 
 
 
 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

County's proportion of the net pension liability 
(asset) 0.029600% 0.029500% 0.029500% 0.027500% 0.024300%

County's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability (asset) 8,742,900$         7,441,356$         3,809,280$         1,674,948$         4,185,158$         

County's covered - employee payroll 6,397,923$         6,117,786$         6,080,100$         5,874,049$         5,823,171$         

County's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability (asset) as a percentage of its own 
covered - employee payroll 136.65% 121.63% 62.65% 28.51% 71.87%

FRS Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of 
the total pension liability 83.89% 84.88% 92.00% 96.09% N/A

Note: Data was unavailable prior to 2013  
 

Notes to schedules: 
The amounts presented for each fiscal year for the FRS and HIS were determined as of the measurement date, which was June 30th of the current 
fiscal year. 
 
GASB Statement No. 68 was implemented in 2015. Until a full 10-year trend is compiled, information for those years for which it is available will be 
presented. 

 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Contributions - FRS 

(Last 5 Fiscal Years) 

See Independent Auditors’ Report 
-53- 
 

 

 
 
 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Contractually required contributions 774,744$            745,245$            719,039$            601,305$            327,165$            

Contributions in relation to the contractually 
required contribution (774,744)             (745,245)             (719,039)             (601,305)             (327,165)             

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         

County's covered-employee payroll 6,397,923$         6,117,786$         6,080,100$         5,874,049$         5,823,171$         

Contributions as a percentage of covered-
employee payroll 12.11% 12.18% 11.83% 10.24% 5.62%  

 
 
 

Notes to schedules: 
 
GASB Statement No. 68 was implemented in 2015. Until a full 10-year trend is compiled, information for those years for which it is available will be 
presented.



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Proportional Share of Net Pension Liability - HIS 

(Last 5 Fiscal Years) 

See Independent Auditors’ Report 
-54- 
 

 

 
 
 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

County's proportion of the net pension liability 
(asset) 0.018700% 0.018700% 0.018900% 0.018600% 0.022700%

County's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability (asset) 2,002,330$         2,182,199$         1,926,120$         1,741,841$         1,669,844$         

County's covered - employee payroll 6,397,923$         6,117,786$         6,080,100$         5,874,049$         5,823,171$         

County's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability (asset) as a percentage of its own 
covered - employee payroll 31.30% 35.67% 31.68% 29.65% 28.68%

HIS Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of 
the total pension liability 1.64% 0.97% 0.50% 0.99% N/A

Note: Data was unavailable prior to 2013  
 
 
 

Notes to schedules: 
The amounts presented for each fiscal year for the FRS and HIS were determined as of the measurement date, which was June 30th of the current 
fiscal year. 
 
GASB Statement No. 68 was implemented in 2015. Until a full 10-year trend is compiled, information for those years for which it is available will be 
presented.



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Contributions - HIS 

(Last 5 Fiscal Years) 

See Independent Auditors’ Report 
-55- 
 

 

 
 
 
 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Contractually required contributions 100,570$            96,042$              72,196$              63,866$              62,827$              

Contributions in relation to the contractually 
required contribution (100,570)             (96,042)               (72,196)               (63,866)               (62,827)               

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         

County's covered-employee payroll 6,397,923$         6,117,786$         6,080,100$         5,874,049$         5,823,171$         
 

Contributions as a percentage of covered-
employee payroll 1.57% 1.57% 1.19% 1.09% 1.08%  

 
 
 
 

Notes to schedules: 
 
GASB Statement No. 68 was implemented in 2015. Until a full 10-year trend is compiled, information for those years for which it is available will be 
presented.



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of County’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability 

Last 10 Fiscal Years*       

See Independent Auditors’ Report 
-56- 
 

 

 
 
 
 

2017

County's portion of the net OPEB liability 100.00%

County's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability 938,966$         

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 0.00%
   total OPEB liability

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Notes to schedules: 
Contributions to the OPEB plan are not based on a measure of pay, therefore, no measure of payroll 
is presented. 
Changes of benefit terms – In the October 1, 2016, actuarial valuation, there were no changes of 
benefit terms. 
Changes of assumptions – In the October 1, 2016 actuarial valuation, there were no changes of 
assumptions. 
 
 
* Fiscal year 2017 was the first year of implementation, therefore only one year is shown. 



   COMPLIANCE SECTION               
 



 
 
 
 

-57- 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND 

OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT 
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
   and Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, and 
each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of Jefferson County, Florida (the “County”) 
as of and for the year ended September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise Jefferson County, Florida’s basic financial statements and have issued our report 
thereon dated December 6, 2018.   
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit, we considered the County’s internal control over financial reporting 
(internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 
purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the County’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies that may exist that 
were not identified.  However, as described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs, 
we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses and 
significant deficiencies. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the County’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis.  We consider the deficiencies, listed as Board 2017-001, Board 2017-002, Board 2016-001, 
Board 2016-002, Board 2008-001, Clerk 2017-001, Clerk 2017-002, Clerk 2017-003, Clerk 2017-004, Clerk 
2017-005, Clerk 2015-001, Clerk 2008-001, and Clerk 2008-002 described in the accompanying schedule 
of findings and questioned costs to be material weaknesses. 



To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
   and Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 

 
-58- 

 

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less  
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.  We consider the deficiencies described in the schedule of findings and questioned costs as 
items Board 2015-001, Board 2014-001, Board 2013-002, Board 2008-002, Clerk 2008-001, Sheriff 2008-
001, SOE 2008-001, and SOE 2008-002, to be significant deficiencies. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the County’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The 
results of our tests disclosed  instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards which are described in the summary schedule of findings and 
questioned cost as items Clerk 2017-001 and Clerk 2017-004.  
 
We also noted certain other matters that we reported to the management of the County in a separate 
letter dated December 6, 2018. 
 
Jefferson County’s Response to Findings 
 
Jefferson County, Florida’s written response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the 
accompanying letter.  We did not audit the County’s response and, accordingly, we express no opinion 
on it.  
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the County, Constitutional Officers and 
management, the State of Florida Auditor General, specific legislative or regulatory bodies, and state 
awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone 
other than these specified parties. 
 

 
Marianna, Florida 
December 6, 2018 
 



 
 
 

 
-59- 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR STATE  
PROJECT AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY 

 CHAPTER 10.550, RULES OF THE FLORIDA AUDITOR GENERAL 
 
To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
   and Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major State Project 
 
We have audited Jefferson County, Florida, Board of County Commissioners’ (the County) compliance with 
the types of compliance requirements described in the Department of Financial Services’ State Projects 
Compliance Supplement, that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major state projects for 
the year ended September 30, 2017.  Jefferson County, Florida’s major state projects are identified in the 
summary of auditors' results section of the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.   
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grants applicable to its state projects. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the County’s major state projects 
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit 
of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor General. 
Those standards and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor General require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major state 
project occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the County’s compliance 
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. 



To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
   and Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 

 
-60- 

 

 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
state project. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the County’s compliance. 

Opinion on Each Major State Project 

In our opinion, the County complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major state projects for the 
year ended September 30, 2017. 

 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Management of the County, is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control 
over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and 
performing our audit of compliance, we considered the Board’s internal control over compliance with 
the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major state project to 
determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on compliance for each major state project and to test and report on internal 
control over compliance in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor General, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control over 
compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a state project on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance 
is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state 
project will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state project that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

 
 
 



To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
   and Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 

 
-61- 

 

 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor General. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any 
other purpose. 
 
 

 
Marianna, Florida 
December 6, 2018 



Page 1 of 2 

Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Expenditures of  

State Financial Assistance Projects 

See Independent Auditors’ Report and Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance 
Projects 

 
-62- 

 

 
 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2017

State Agency Grant/
State Program Title CSFA Contract
State Financial Assistance Projects Number Number Expenditures

Florida Housing Finance Corporation
Florida Housing Finance Corporation Program

State Housing Initiatives Partnership Program (SHIP) 40.901 n/a 529,938$            
Total Florida Housing Finance Corporation 529,938              

Florida Department of State and Secretary of State
Library and Information Services Program

State Aid to Libraries 45.030 17-ST-94 167,282              
Historical Resources Preservation and Exhibition Program

Acquisition, Restoration of Historic Property - Monticello High School 45.032 SC617 322,401              
Historic Preservation Grant - Lamont School 45.031 S1713 30,000                

Total Florida Department of State and Secretary of State 519,683              

Florida Executive Office of the Governor
Emergency Management Program

Emergency Management Programs - Preparedness & Assistance 31.063 17-BG-83-02-43-01-039 105,806              
Total Executive Officer of the Governor 105,806              

Florida Department of Environmental Protection
Waste Management Program

Cooperative Collection Center  Grant 37.007 SO950 46,623                
Small County Consolidated Grant - Solid Waste 37.012 SC719 90,909                

Total Florida Department of Environmental Protection 137,532              



Page 2 of 2 

Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Expenditures of  

State Financial Assistance Projects 

See Independent Auditors’ Report and Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance 
Projects 

 
-63- 

 

 
 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2017

State Agency Grant/
State Program Title CSFA Contract
State Financial Assistance Projects Number Number Expenditures

Florida Department of Transportation
Highway Operations

County Incentive Grant Program 55.008 G0D88 299,011              
Total Highway Operations 299,011              

Transportation Systems Operations Program
Small County Outreach Program (SCOP) - Barrington Road 55.009 G0302/435187-1-54-01 144,032              
Small County Outreach Program (SCOP) - Big Joe Road 55.009 G0303/436825-1-54-01 380,861              
Total SCOP 524,893              

Highway Operations Program
Small County Road Assistance Program (SCRAP) - Piney wood Rd. 55.016 G0342 317,031              
Small County Road Assistance Program (SCRAP) - St. Augustine Rd. 55.016 G0343 410,878              
Small County Road Assistance Program (SCRAP) - Freeman Rd 55.016 G0D87 166,447              
Small County Road Assistance Program (SCRAP) - W. Lake Rd. 55.016 G0J17 85,778                
Small County Road Assistance Program (SCRAP) - Thompson Valley 55.016 G0J28 147,585              
Total SCRAP 1,127,719           

Florida Department of Transportation 1,951,623           

Florida Department of Health
Emergency Medical Services Program

EMS Matching Awards - County Grant 64.005 C5033 6,803                   
Total Florida Department of Health 6,803                  

Florida Department of Agriculture
Consumer Protection Program

Mosquito Control 42.003 n/a 32,641                
Total Florida Department of Agriculture 32,641                

Florida Department of Management Services
E911 - GIS Center Line Services 72.002 S9-16-12-10 162,604              
E911- Backup System Replacement 72.002 S9-16-12-09 31,175                
E911 - E911 System Replacement (Operating System) 72.002 16-10-15 200,051              

Total Florida Department of Management Services 393,830              

Total Expenditures of State Financial Assistance Projects 3,677,856$        

 
NOTE:  There were no State Financial Assistance Projects passed through to subrecipients. 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of  

State Financial Assistance Projects 
For the year ended September 30, 2017 

 -64- 

 
NOTE 1 - BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 
The supplementary Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance Projects includes the grant 
activity of Jefferson County, Florida (the County).  State expenditures are presented on the modified 
accrual basis of accounting.  The information in these schedules is presented in accordance with the 
requirements of Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor General.  Therefore, some amounts 
presented in the Schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the basic 
financial statements. 
 
NOTE 2 - REPORTING ENTITY 
 
The County for purposes of the supplementary Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance 
Projects includes all the funds of the primary government as defined by GASB 14, The Financial Reporting 
Entity. 
 
NOTE 3 - INDIRECT COST 
 
The County has not elected to use the ten percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the 
Uniform Guidance.  
 
NOTE 4 – OTHER TYPES OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
 
There were no other types of financial assistance to include endowments, insurance in effect, non-cash 
assistance, donated property, or free rent received or included in the schedule of expenditures of state 
financial assistance.  
 
 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-65- 

 
A.  SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS 

 
1. The Independent Auditors' Report expresses an unmodified opinion on the financial statements 

of Jefferson County, Florida (the County). 
 
2. Material weaknesses and significant deficiencies disclosed during the audit of the financial 

statements are reported in the “Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards."  The findings listed as Board 2017-001, Board 
2017-002, Board 2016-001, Board 2016-002, Board 2008-001, Clerk 2017-002, Clerk 2017-003, 
Clerk 2017-005, Clerk 2015-001, Clerk 2008-001, and Clerk 2008-002 are material weaknesses.  
In addition, the findings listed as Board 2015-001, Board 2014-001, Board 2008-002, Sheriff 
2008-001, SOE 2008-001, and SOE 2008-002 are significant deficiencies.  

 
3. No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements of the County were 

disclosed during the audit. 
 
4. No material weaknesses or significant deficiencies relating to the audit of the major state financial 

assistance projects are reported in the “Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each 
Major State Project and on Internal Control over Compliance Required by Chapter 10.550, Rules of 
the Auditor General”.   

 
5. The “Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance for Each Major State Project and on Internal 

Control Over Compliance Required by Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor General” for 
Jefferson County, Florida expresses an unmodified opinion. 

 
6. There were no findings relative to the major state financial assistance projects for Jefferson 

County, Florida. 
 
7. The programs/projects tested as major programs/projects included the following: 

State Projects CSFA No.

Florida Department of Management Services
    E911 State Grant Program 72.002
Florida Department of Transportation
    Small County Road Assistance Program 55.016
    Small County Outreach Program 55.009  

 
8. The threshold for distinguishing Type A and Type B programs/projects was $300,000 for major 

state financial assistance projects. 
  

9. Jefferson County, Florida did not qualify as a low-risk auditee. 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-66- 

 
B. FINDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
Zika Mosquito Control Payments - Board 2017-001 

CRITERIA: The County must retain and submit documentation of costs related to mosquito control to 
earn payments from an agreement with the State of Florida for Zika Mosquito Control. 

CONDITION: Required monthly reports and supporting documentation for costs related to this 
agreement were not available. 

CAUSE: The agreement was prepared and funding advanced in a manner that was unusual and 
unfamiliar to County staff.  This created a lack of understanding of the recordkeeping requirements. 

EFFECT: The County does not appear to be in compliance with their agreement to provide reporting 
and documentation of costs.  Funds totaling $30,000 may be required to be repaid to the State of 
Florida. 

RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that management closely monitor all grants and similar 
agreements for documentation and compliance. 

VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 
84-85.  

Capital Outlay Classification and Recording - Board 2017-002 

CRITERIA: Generally accepted accounting principles require expenditures to be properly recorded 
between capital outlay and repairs. 

CONDITION: Many capital asset expenditures were incorrectly recorded as maintenance type 
expenditures. As a result, these transactions were not included as capital asset additions on the 
initial depreciation schedule. The capital asset inventory schedule did not contain all current year 
additions and subsequent deletions. 

CAUSE: Accounting staff does not carefully distinguish between capital outlay and repairs when 
recording transactions. 

 
EFFECT:  Transactions were not properly classified on the general ledger, depreciation schedules and 
asset inventory information was inaccurate.  

 

 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-67- 

 

Capital Outlay Classification and Recording - Board 2017-002 (Continued) 

RECOMMENDATION: All transactions should be reviewed for proper recording and classification. 
Particular attention should be given to distinguishing between capital outlay and maintenance type 
expenditures. Capital outlay costs should be recorded in the fixed asset records for accountability and 
reconciled to the general ledger on a timely basis.  We further recommend the County seek assistance 
from an accounting professional to work with existing staff and provide accounting guidance and 
oversight. 

VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 84-
85.  

Lease-Purchase of Equipment - Board 2016-001  
 
CRITERIA:  The purchase of fixed assets under a lease-purchase financial arrangement should be 
recorded at the gross purchase price with a corresponding liability based on the conditions of the lease. 
 
CONDITION: Equipment purchased through lease-purchase financing arrangements was not properly 
recorded. Payments on this debt were not properly charged to principal and interest. 
 
CAUSE:  Accounting staff was unfamiliar with the requirements related to recording lease-purchase 
transactions. 
 
EFFECT:  The expenditures for capital outlay and related liabilities were understated and payments were 
not properly recorded to principal and interest. 
   
RECOMMENDATION:  All lease-purchase debt and related capital outlay should be properly recorded 
and payments charged to principal and interest. We further recommend the County seek assistance 
from an accounting professional to work with existing staff and provide accounting guidance and 
oversight. 
 
STATUS:   This condition continues to exist.  There were multiple transactions related to lease purchases 
which were not recorded properly in 2017.    
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 84-
85. 

 
Classification of Revenues - Board 2016-002  

 
CRITERIA:  Receipts and revenues should be accurately classified based on the source of funds. 
 
CONDITION: Various transactions were posted to Miscellaneous Revenues instead of properly 
classifying them as debt proceeds, grants or other revenue sources. 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-68- 

 
Classification of Revenues - Board 2016-002 (Continued) 
 
CAUSE:  Accounting staff used Miscellaneous Revenues to record receipts which were not part of 
normal, recurring operations such as debt proceeds and grants. 
 
EFFECT:  Miscellaneous Revenues were overstated, the accounting reports did not properly reflect 
the specific revenues received. 

   
RECOMMENDATION:  Transactions should be properly recorded and classified in accounts which 
clearly reflect the source of funds. We further recommend the County seek assistance from an 
accounting professional to work with existing staff and provide accounting guidance and oversight. 
 
STATUS:   This condition continues to exist.  There were multiple transactions recorded in 
Miscellaneous Revenues which were not recorded properly in 2017 including debt proceeds and 
grants. 
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 
84-85. 
 
Grant Accounting - Board 2015-001 

 
CRITERIA:  The accrual basis of accounting should be used to record grant transactions. 

 
CONDITION: Some grant transactions were recorded on a cash basis instead of the accrual basis of 
accounting. As a result, adjustments were necessary to properly match revenues with expenditures. 

 
CAUSE:  Accounting staff recorded transactions on the cash basis. 
 
EFFECT:  Certain receivables, deferrals and payables were not recorded on a timely basis. 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  Accrual basis accounting must be followed to accurately record grant 
revenues and expenditures in the proper period. Account balances must be reviewed for proper 
cutoff and correct period of recognition including grant receivables, accounts payable and deferred 
income. We further recommend the County seek assistance from an accounting professional to 
work with existing staff and provide accounting guidance and oversight. 
 
STATUS: This condition continues to exist. 
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 
84-85. 
 
 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-69- 

 
Accrual Accounting - Board 2014-001  

 
CRITERIA:  The accrual basis of accounting should be used to record transactions. 

 
CONDITION: Many transactions were recorded on a cash basis instead of the accrual basis of 
accounting. As a result, significant adjustments were necessary to properly record expenditures and 
revenues in the correct period. 

 
CAUSE:  Accounting staff recorded transactions on the cash basis. 
 
EFFECT:  Certain receivables, deferrals and payables were not accurately recorded on a timely basis. 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  Accrual basis accounting must be followed to accurately record revenues and 
expenditures in the proper period. Account balances must be reviewed for proper cutoff and 
correct period of recognition including receivables, accounts payable and deferred income. We 
further recommend the County seek assistance from an accounting professional to work with 
existing staff and provide accounting guidance and oversight. 
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 
84-85. 
 
Accounts Receivable - Board 2013-002 

 
CRITERIA:  An allowance for doubtful accounts should be recorded to accurately reflect the 
expected realizable value of ambulance accounts receivable.  Amounts determined to be 
uncollectible should be written off. 

 
CONDITION: The allowance for doubtful ambulance accounts receivable was not adjusted at year 
end and was understated.  Uncollectible accounts were not monitored and written off on a timely 
basis.   

 
CAUSE:  Accounting staff recorded transactions on the cash basis.  
 
EFFECT:  Failure to properly manage accounts receivable and the related allowance for doubtful 
accounts caused net assets to be overstated. 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  Accounts receivable should be reviewed and monitored regularly.  Accounts 
considered uncollectible should be written off in a timely manner.  The allowance for doubtful 
accounts should be reviewed and adjusted to properly reflect realizable values. We further 
recommend the County seek assistance from an accounting professional to work with existing staff 
and provide accounting guidance and oversight. 
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 
84-85. 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-70- 

 
Segregation of Duties - Board 2008-001 

CRITERIA: The internal control environment should include proper segregation of duties and 
responsibilities over accounting functions.  
 
CONDITION: Separation of certain accounting and administrative duties among employees, which is 
recommended as an effective internal control procedures, was not considered feasible by the County 
because of its size and limited number of employees. The County recognizes that the cost of its internal 
control structure should not exceed the benefits expected to be derived.  The County also recognizes 
the inherent limitations of an internal control structure. Mistakes and irregularities may occur in any 
event with or without an adequate internal control structure. Furthermore adequate segregation of 
duties can be circumvented by collusion among persons. Nevertheless, internal control is strengthened 
when incompatible duties are separated and review procedures are established and adhered to. 

CAUSE: The County has limited personnel in the accounting department.  
 
EFFECT: The possibility exists that unintentional or intentional errors or irregularities could occur and 
not be promptly detected.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: We recommended that the County continue to seek ways to strengthen internal 
control through segregation of duties. 

STATUS: There is still a lack of segregation of duties between employees who have recordkeeping 
responsibilities and employees with custody of County assets. 
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 
84-85. 
 

Deficiency over Financial Reporting – Board 2008-002 
 

CRITERIA: An entity’s system of internal control over financial reporting should include controls over the 
prevention, detection and correction of misstatements in the audited financial statements.  

 
CONDITION: The County relies on the external auditor to assist with preparing the financial statements 
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.   
 
CAUSE: The County has an individual providing bookkeeping services; however, the County does not 
have an individual on staff with accounting education and experience to properly record more complex 
accounting transactions and prepare financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles.  

 
EFFECT: The fact the County does not have someone on staff to prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and to record complex accounting transactions 
results in a material weakness under professional standards.  

 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-71- 

 
Deficiency over Financial Reporting – Board 2008-002 (Continued) 
 
RECOMMENDATION: We understand the cost-benefit of employing someone with this expertise is not 
practical, therefore, we recommend the County continue to request outside assistance in recording 
more complex transactions and that additional training and/or education be provided to existing staff to 
enable them to more accurately record financial activities. 
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 84-
85. 

 
CLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT 
 

Public Records Modernization Fund Expenditures – Clerk 2017-001 

CRITERIA: Per Florida Statute 28.24(12)(d), funds in the Public Records Modernization Trust Fund must 
be used exclusively for equipment, maintenance, personnel training and technical assistance in 
modernizing the public records system of the Clerk’s office. 

CONDITION: An expenditure of $7,654 was made from the Public Records Modernization Trust Fund to 
an individual in a supervisory position for consulting services which were not adequately documented.  
There was no report issued for this matter and the services described are identical in nature and amount 
to an expenditure made in the previous fiscal year.  Additional transfers totaling $41,494 were made 
from restricted funds to operating funds to reimburse for expenditures which had already been 
reimbursed under Article V reporting. 

CAUSE: The expenditures were made without proper documentation or consideration of requirements 
for the use of these funds. 

EFFECT: The County is not in compliance with Florida Statute 28.24(12)(d). The amounts expended 
totaling $49,148 should be restored to the Public Records Modernization Trust Fund from operating 
funds. 

RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that management review expenditures for proper documentation 
and compliance with applicable laws, grants and regulations before approval and payment. 
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 86-
87. 
 

Bank Reconciliations – Clerk 2017-002   

CRITERIA:  Bank reconciliations should be prepared, reviewed and compared to the recorded balances 
on the general ledger for accuracy. 

 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-72- 

 

Bank Reconciliations – Clerk 2017-002   (Continued) 

CONDITION: Transactions totaling over $56,000 were posted to bank accounts in September 2017 which 
did not occur until October and November.  These transactions subsequent to year end should have 
been recorded as receivables or payables instead of posting them to the bank accounts.  As a result, 
significant adjustments were necessary to properly record bank balances and related accrual accounts at 
year end.  While the bank reconciliations were prepared timely, they were not compared to the recorded 
balances after all transactions had been posted for the year resulting in inaccuracies.  

CAUSE:  Accounting staff did not understand how to properly record the accruals and did not review the 
ending balances for accuracy. 

EFFECT:  Bank balances, some receivables and payables were not accurately recorded at year end. 

RECOMMENDATION:  Account balances must be reviewed for proper cutoff and compared to supporting 
documentation to insure accuracy. We further recommend the County seek assistance from an 
accounting professional to work with existing staff and provide accounting guidance and oversight. 
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 86-
87. 
 
Unapproved Board Transfers – Clerk 2017-003 

CRITERIA: Transfers between the Board and Constitutional Officers should be budgeted and approved 
prior to disbursement.  

CONDITION: Three separate transfers totaling $70,049.84 were made from the Board to the Clerk’s 
accounts to cover shortfalls in funding without prior authorization from the Board.  There was no 
documentation of approval for these transfers which were initiated by the Clerk’s accounting supervisor. 

CAUSE: The transfers were made without proper approval by the Board. 

EFFECT: The County is not in compliance with Florida Statute 129.06. The transferred amounts were not 
budgeted or approved by the Board. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that management review expenditures for proper documentation  
and compliance with applicable laws, grants and regulations before approval and payment. 
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 86-
87. 
 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-73- 

 
Health Insurance Payments – Clerk 2017-004 

CRITERIA: Health insurance payments are a benefit offered only to employees or retirees in accordance 
with the County’s personnel policies. Retirees are to pay or reimburse the County for all premiums 
associated with participation in the plan. 

CONDITION: The Clerk’s office provided health insurance coverage to a non-employee in a supervisory 
position who performed contractual services.  The Clerk’s office was reimbursed for this cost during part 
of the year but payments totaling $13,817 were made for the benefit of this contractor which were not 
included on their Form 1099 for 2017 reported to the Internal Revenue Service.  

CAUSE: The Clerk’s accounting staff misunderstood the requirements for eligibility and reporting for 
nonemployees. 

EFFECT: The Clerk is not in compliance with policies related to payment of retiree’s health insurance 
premiums and is not in compliance with Internal Revenue Service regulations for reporting of 
compensation. 

RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that management review expenditures for proper documentation 
and compliance with applicable laws, grants and regulations before approval and payment.  Further, all 
payments to or on behalf of individuals contractually employed must be properly reported to the 
Internal Revenue Service. 

VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 86-
87. 

Contractual Consulting Services – Clerk 2017-005 

CRITERIA: The Board’s purchasing policies dated October 2016 describe requirements for procurement 
of goods and services.  

CONDITION: The Clerk’s contract for financial consulting services was revised numerous times during the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2017.  None of these documents were signed by the Clerk or in 
compliance with the Board’s procurement policy.   Subsequent to year end, an hourly payment 
agreement was implemented to begin January 1, 2018.  It was noted that there is no approval process 
for the hours submitted under this agreement, a request for payment was submitted and paid for 
December 2017 prior to the agreed upon date, and one extra monthly payment has been issued during 
the year ended September 30, 2018.  

CAUSE: The Clerk’s office does not have adequate management oversight of the accounting staff. 

EFFECT: The Clerk’s office expenditures for contractual services not properly managed and controlled. 

 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-74- 

 

Contractual Consulting Services – Clerk 2017-005 (Continued) 

RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that management provide adequate oversight of expenditures 
and accounting operations. Expenditures should be reviewed for proper documentation, compliance 
with applicable laws, grants and regulations, and consideration of reasonable and necessary business 
practices before approval and payment. 
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 86-
87. 
 
Segregation of Duties - Clerk 2008-001 

CRITERIA: The internal control environment should include proper segregation of duties and 
responsibilities over accounting functions.  
 
CONDITION: Separation of certain accounting and administrative duties among employees, which is 
recommended as an effective internal control procedures, was not considered feasible by the Clerk’s 
office because of its size and limited number of employees. The Clerk recognizes that the cost of its 
internal control structure should not exceed the benefits expected to be derived.  The Clerk also 
recognizes the inherent limitations of an internal control structure. Mistakes and irregularities may occur 
in any event with or without an adequate internal control structure. Furthermore, adequate segregation 
of duties can be circumvented by collusion among persons. Nevertheless, internal control is 
strengthened when incompatible duties are separated and review procedures are established and 
adhered to. 

CAUSE: The Clerk’s office has a limited number of personnel in the accounting department.  
 
EFFECT: The possibility exists that unintentional or intentional errors or irregularities could occur and not 
be promptly detected.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: We recommended that the Clerk’s office continue to seek ways to strengthen 
internal control through segregation of duties. The Clerk should document their review of transactions, 
bank reconciliations and financial reports to provide evidence of compensating controls. 

STATUS: This condition continues to exist.  
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 86-
87. 
 
Deficiency over Financial Reporting – Clerk 2008-002 

 
CRITERIA: An entity’s system of internal control over financial reporting should include controls over the 
prevention, detection and correction of misstatements in the audited financial statements.  

 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-75- 

 
Deficiency over Financial Reporting – Clerk 2008-002 (Continued) 
 

CONDITION: The County relies on the external auditor to assist with preparing the financial statements 
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.   

CAUSE: The County has an individual providing bookkeeping services; however, the County does not 
have an individual on staff with accounting education and experience to properly record more complex 
accounting transactions and prepare financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles.  

 
EFFECT: The fact the County does not have someone on staff to prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and to record complex accounting transactions 
results in a material weakness under professional standards.  

 
RECOMMENDATION: We recommend the County continue to request outside assistance in recording 
more complex transactions and that additional training and/or education be provided to existing staff to 
enable them to more accurately record financial activities. 

STATUS: This condition continues to exist. 
 

VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 86-
87. 
 
Accrual Accounting – Clerk 2015-001  

 
CRITERIA:  The accrual basis of accounting should be used to record transactions. 
 
CONDITION: Many transactions were recorded on a cash basis instead of the accrual basis of accounting. 
As a result, significant adjustments were necessary to properly record expenditures and revenues in the 
correct period. 
 
CAUSE:  Accounting staff recorded transactions on the cash basis. 
 
EFFECT:  Certain receivables, deferrals and payables were not accurately recorded on a timely basis. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Accrual basis accounting must be followed to accurately record revenues and 
expenditures in the proper period. Account balances must be reviewed for proper cutoff and correct 
period of recognition including receivables, accounts payable and deferred income. We further 
recommend the County seek assistance from an accounting professional to work with existing staff 
and provide accounting guidance and oversight. 
 
STATUS: This condition continues to exist. 
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 86-
87. 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-76- 

 
SHERIFF AND SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS  

 
Significant Deficiency 2008-001:  Segregation of Duties 
 
CRITERIA: The internal control environment should include proper segregation of duties and 
responsibilities over accounting functions.  
 
CONDITION: Separation of certain accounting and administrative duties among employees, which is 
recommended as an effective internal control procedures, was not considered feasible by the Sheriff and 
Supervisor of Elections’ office because of its size and limited number of employees. They recognize that 
the cost of its internal control structure should not exceed the benefits expected to be derived.  They 
also recognize the inherent limitations of an internal control structure. Mistakes and irregularities may 
occur in any event with or without an adequate internal control structure. Furthermore, adequate 
segregation of duties can be circumvented by collusion among persons. Nevertheless, internal control is 
strengthened when incompatible duties are separated and review procedures are established and 
adhered to. 

CAUSE: The Sheriff’s and Supervisor of Elections’ office have a limited number of personnel in the 
accounting department.  
 
EFFECT: The possibility exists that unintentional or intentional errors or irregularities could occur and not 
be promptly detected.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: We recommended that the Sheriff’s and Supervisor of Elections’ office continue to 
seek ways to strengthen internal control through segregation of duties. The Sheriff and Supervisor of 
Elections should document their review of transactions, bank reconciliations and financial reports to 
provide evidence of compensating controls. 

STATUS:  This condition continues to exist for the Sheriff and the Supervisor of Elections.  
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on pages 88-
89. 
 

SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS  
 
Significant Deficiency 2008-002: Preparation of Gaap-Based Financial Statements 
 
CRITERIA: An entity’s system of internal control over financial reporting should include controls over the 
prevention, detection and correction of misstatements in the audited financial statements.  

 
CONDITION: The County relies on the external auditor to assist with preparing the financial statements 
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.   

 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 

-77- 

 
Significant Deficiency 2008-002: Preparation of Gaap-Based Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
CAUSE: The County has an individual providing bookkeeping services; however, the County does not 
have an individual on staff with accounting education and experience to properly record more complex 
accounting transactions and prepare financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles.  

 
EFFECT: The fact the County does not have someone on staff to prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and to record complex accounting transactions 
results in a material weakness under professional standards.  

 
RECOMMENDATION:  We understand that the cost-benefit ratio of hiring someone with this expertise is 
not practical, therefore; we recommend the County continue to request outside assistance when 
preparing annual financial statements. 
 
STATUS:  This condition continues to exist for Supervisor of Elections.  
 
VIEW OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIALS: See Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan on page 89. 
 

C.  FINDINGS - MAJOR STATE PROJECTS 
 

There were no current year findings. 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 

For the year ended September 30, 2017 
 

-78- 

 
 

PRIOR-YEAR FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 
MAJOR STATE PROJECTS  
  
None 
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT 

 
None 

 
 

 
 

 



 

 - 79 - 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’  
MANAGEMENT LETTER  

 
To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
  And Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Jefferson County, Florida, Board of County Commissioners (the 
“County”) as of and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, and have issued our report thereon dated 
December 6, 2018. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor 
General.   
 
Other Reporting Requirements 
 
We have issued our Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards; Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance For Each Major 
State Project and on Internal Control over Compliance Required By Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida 
Auditor General; Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs; and Independent Accountants’ Report on 
an examination conducted in accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, AT-C Section 315, regarding 
compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor General.  
Disclosures in those reports and schedules, which are dated December 6, 2018, should be considered in 
conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings  
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Florida Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address significant findings and recommendations made in the 
preceding annual financial audit report.  Corrective actions have been taken to address significant 
findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial audit report except as noted 
under the heading “Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.” 



To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
   and Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 

 - 80 - 

CURRENT YEAR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 

COMMENT ML 16-01: Expenditures exceeded budgeted amounts in the the Board of County 
Commissioners’ transportation and capital projects funds. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Expenditures should be monitored for compliance with budgets on a timely 
basis. If increased expenditures occur, the budget should be amended up to sixty days after year 
end to reflect updated results and related approval by the board. 
 
COMMENT ML 17-03:  Board minutes should include detail abstracts of Board actions as related 
to official County business. The official minutes did not contain information as it pertained to 
Board actions on various debt activity, grant contracts, lease purchases, change orders, capital 
outlay purchases and budget amendments and transfers. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Official minutes should be kept in sufficient detail to determine Board 
actions and intent. 
 

 
Official Title and Legal Authority 
 

Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Florida Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and 
legal authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed 
in the management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. This information is 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
Financial Condition 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)5.a. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate 
procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether or not the County has met 
one or more of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and to identify the 
specific conditions met. In connection with our audit, we determined that the County did not meet any 
of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes. 

 
Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.c. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied financial 
condition assessment procedures for the County.  It is management’s responsibility to monitor the County’s 
financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part on representations made by 
management and the review of financial information provided by same.  
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the management letter 
any findings and recommendations that improve financial management. In connection with our audit, 
we have no recommendations. 
 
 
 



To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
   and Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 

 - 81 - 

Annual Financial Report 
 

Section 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate 
procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether the annual financial report 
for the County for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, filed with the Florida Department of 
Financial Services pursuant to Section 218.32(1)(a), Florida Statutes, is in agreement with the annual 
financial audit report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017.  In connection with our audit, we 
determined that these two reports were in agreement.   
 
Additional Matters 
 

Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to communicate noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have occurred, 
that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material, but, which warrants the 
attention of those charges with governance.  In connection with our audit, we did not note any such 
findings. 
 
Purpose of this Letter 
 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor 
General,  granting agencies, and applicable management, and is not intended to be and should not be used 
by anyone other than these specified parties.   
 
 

 
 
Marianna, Florida 
December 6, 2018 



 

 - 82 - 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH  
SECTION 218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES, LOCAL GOVERNMENT  

INVESTMENT POLICIES 

 

To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
   And Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 

We have examined Jefferson County, Florida’s (the “County”) compliance with the requirements of 
Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies, during the year ended 
September 30, 2017. Management is responsible for the Jefferson County, Florida’s compliance with 
those requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Jefferson County, Florida’s 
compliance based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the County complied, in all material 
respects, with the specified requirements referenced above. An examination involves performing 
procedures to obtain evidence about the County’s complied with the specified requirements. The 
nature, timing, and extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgment, including an assessment 
of the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error.  We believe that our examination 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our examination does not provide a legal determination on 
the County’s compliance with specified requirements. 

In our opinion, the Jefferson County, Florida complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned 
requirements for the year ended September 30, 2017. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the State of Florida 
Auditor General and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 

 

 
Marianna, Florida 
December 6, 2018 

 
 



 

 - 83 - 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH  
SECTIONS 365.172(10) AND 365.173(2)(d), FLORIDA STATUTES 

 
 
 
To the Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
We have examined Jefferson County, Florida’s (the County) compliance with the requirements of Section 
365.172(10), Florida Statutes, Authorized Expenditures of E911 Fee, and Section 365.173(2)(d), Florida 
Statutes, Distribution and Use of (E911) Funds, during the year ended September 30, 2017. Management is 
responsible for the County’s compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the County’s compliance based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the examination 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the County complied, in all material respects, with the 
specified requirements referenced above. An examination involves performing procedures to obtain 
evidence about whether the County complied with the specified requirements. The nature, timing, and 
extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgment, including an assessment of the risks of material 
noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the County’s compliance with 
specified requirements.  

In our opinion, the County complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements for the 
year ended September 30, 2017. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the State of Florida Auditor 
General and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 

 
Marianna, Florida 
December 6, 2018 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Response 

 - 84 - 

 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Response 

 - 85 - 

 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Response 

 - 86 - 

 

 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Response 

 - 87 - 

 
 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Response 

 - 88 - 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Jefferson County, Florida 
Management’s Response 

 - 89 - 

 
 



                               SPECIAL-PURPOSE 
                   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



 
 
 
 

Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

  
 Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 
 September 30, 2017 
  
  
  



 
Jefferson County, Florida  

   Clerk of the Circuit Court 
Table of Contents 

September 30, 2017 
 
REPORT

Independent Auditors’ Report 1

SPECIAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Special-Purpose Balance Sheet - Governmental Fund 3

Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund   
Balance - Governmental Fund 4

Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund   
Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund 5

Special-Purpose Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Agency Funds 6

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 7

COMPLIANCE SECTION

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Special-Purpose Financial  
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 15

Independent Accountants' Report on Compliance with Section 218.415,
Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies 21

Independent Accountants' Report on Compliance with Section 28.35,
Florida Statutes, Florida Clerks of Court Operations Corporation,  and Section 28.36,
Florida Statutes, Budget Procedure 22

Independent Accountants' Report on Compliance with Section 61.181,
Florida Statutes, Depository for Alimony Transactions, Support, Maintenance
and Support Payments; Fees 23

Independent Auditors’ Management Letter 24

Management’s Response 26

   



REPORT



 

  

 
 
 
 
 INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Report on the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying special-purpose financial statements of the major fund and 
aggregate remaining fund information of the Jefferson County, Florida Clerk of the Circuit Court (the 
“Clerk”) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the special-
purpose financial statements, which collectively comprise the Clerk’s special-purpose financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these special-purpose 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of special-purpose financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these special-purpose financial statements based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in the 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the special-purpose financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the special-purpose financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the special-
purpose financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
special-purpose financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Clerk’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the special-
purpose financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 



 

To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the special-purpose financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the respective financial position of the major fund and the remaining aggregate 
fund information of the Clerk as of September 30, 2017, and the respective changes in financial 
position and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Emphasis of Matter  
 
As discussed in Note 1 to the special-purpose financial statements, the special-purpose financial 
statements referred to above were prepared solely for the purpose of complying with the Rules of 
the Auditor General of the State of Florida (“Rules”). In conformity with the Rules, the 
accompanying special-purpose financial statements are intended to present the financial position 
and changes in financial position of the General Fund and fiduciary fund types, only for that 
portion of the General Fund and fiduciary fund types of Jefferson County, Florida that is 
attributable to the Clerk.  They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position 
of Jefferson County, Florida as of September 30, 2017, and the changes in its financial position for 
the fiscal year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters. 
 
As discussed in Note 9 to the special-purpose financial statements, the 2016 special-purpose 
financial statements have been restated to correct a misstatement. Our opinion is not modified 
with respect to this matter. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 
6, 2018 on our consideration of the Clerk’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion 
on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Clerk’s 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
Marianna, Florida 
December 6, 2018 



                               SPECIAL-PURPOSE 
                   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Special-Purpose Balance Sheet 
Governmental Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-3- 

 

  

 
General

Fund
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 15,168$           
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7,673
Due from other funds 14,985
Due from Board of County Commissioners 17,539
Due from other governmental units 39,329

Total assets 94,694$           

Liabilities
Due to Board of County Commissioners 37,873$           

Total liabilities 37,873             

Fund balances
Restricted 56,821             

Total liabilities and fund balances 94,694$           

September 30, 2017

 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balance 

Governmental Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-4- 

 

 
For the year ended September 30, 2017

General
Fund

Revenues
Charges for services 125,847$        
Intergovernmental 56,624
Grants 96,369
Fines and forfeitures 249,577

Total revenues 528,417           

Expenditures
General government

Personal services 344,220           
Operating expenses 185,356           

Court-related
Personal services 331,540
Operating expenses 45,386

Total expenditures 906,502           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (378,085)         

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 411,229

Net other financing sources (uses) 411,229           

Net change in fund balance 33,144             

Fund balances - beginning, as previously reported - Restricted 92,729             

Prior period adjustment, note 9 (69,052)            

Fund balances - beginning, as restated - Restricted 23,677

Fund balances - ending - Restricted 56,821$           

 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and Actual 

General Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-5- 

 

 

Variance with
 Final Budget

Original Final Actual Favorable
Budget Budget Amounts (Unfavorable)

Revenues
Charges for services 121,000$        121,000$        125,847$        4,847$             
Intergovernmental 17,519             17,519 56,624             39,105             
Grants 96,369             392,559 96,369             (296,190)         
Fines and forfeitures 392,559           96,369 249,577 153,208           

Total revenues 627,447           627,447           528,417           (99,030)            

Expenditures
General government

Personal services 359,450 359,450 344,220           15,230             
Operating expenses 71,550 71,550 185,356           (113,806)         

Court-related
Personal services 456,947 456,947 331,540           125,407           
Operating expenses 49,500 49,500 45,386             4,114               

Total expenditures 937,447           937,447           906,502           30,945             

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (310,000)         (310,000)         (378,085)         (68,085)            

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 310,000           310,000           411,229           (101,229)         

Net other financing sources (uses) 310,000           310,000           411,229           (101,229)         

Net change in fund balance -$                      -$                      33,144$           33,144$           

For the year ended September 30, 2017

 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Special-Purpose Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 
Agency Funds 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-6- 

 

 

Agency
Funds

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 245,873$        

Total assets 245,873$        

Liabilities
Due to others 230,888$        
Due to other funds 14,985

Total liabilities 245,873$        

September 30, 2017

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -7- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The accounting policies and the presentation of these special-purpose financial statements have been 
designed to conform to generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to governmental units 
in accordance with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. The following is a summary of 
significant accounting principles and policies used in the preparation of these special-purpose financial 
statements. 

 
Reporting Entity 
The Jefferson County Clerk of Circuit Court (Clerk) is an integral part of Jefferson County, Florida and is 
an elected Constitutional Officer who is governed by state statutes and regulations. The special-
purpose financial statements of the Clerk are included in Jefferson County, Florida’s basic financial 
statements. The Clerk operates on a fee and budgetary system. Under the fee system, the officer 
retains fees, commissions, and other revenue to pay all operating expenditures, including statutory 
compensation. Under the budgetary system, appropriated funds are received from the Board of 
County Commissioners and any unexpended appropriations are remitted to the Board of County 
Commissioners after the end of the fiscal year.  The receipts from the Board are recorded as other 
financing sources on the Clerk’s special-purpose financial statements and as other financing uses on 
the Board’s financial statements.  Effective June 1, 2013, the Clerk was authorized to retain funds 
collected for court-related fines, fees and service charges.  The Clerk will also receive a monthly 
appropriation from the State of Florida Clerk of Court Trust Fund for any shortage of revenues up to 
the approved budget. The receipts from the State are recorded as intergovernmental revenue on the 
Clerk’s special-purpose financial statements.  As specified in Florida Senate Bill 1512, spending 
authority will continue to be provided by the State and will follow the county fiscal year (October 1 to 
September 30).  The Clerk’s special-purpose financial statements do not purport to reflect the 
financial position or the results of operations of Jefferson County, Florida taken as a whole. 

 
Entity status for financial reporting is governed by Statement No. 14 of the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB). Although the Clerks office is operationally autonomous from the Board of 
County Commissioners (“the Board”), it does not hold sufficient corporate powers of its own to be 
considered a legally separate entity for financial reporting purposes.  Therefore, the Clerk is reported 
as part of the primary government of Jefferson County, Florida. 

 
These special-purpose financial statements are not intended to be a complete presentation of the 
financial position and results of operations of Jefferson County, Florida taken as a whole. As permitted 
by Chapter 10.556(4), Rules of the Auditor General, State of Florida, the special-purpose financial 
statements consist of only the fund level financial statements as defined in GASB No. 34, and do not 
include presentations of government-wide financial statements of the Clerk. 

 
The operations of the Clerk are primarily funded by the Board and the Clerks of Court Operations 
Corporation (the “CCOC”).  The receipts from the Board are recorded as other revenues on the Clerk’s 
special-purpose financial statements and as expenditures on the Board’s financial statements.  Any 
excess of revenues and other financing sources received over expenditures are remitted to the Board 
at year-end.   



 
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -8- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Basis of Presentation 
These special-purpose financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the accounting 
principles and reporting guidelines established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) and accounting practices prescribed by the Auditor General, State of Florida. The basic 
financial statements for the County as a whole, which includes the funds of the Clerk, were prepared 
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America. 
 
In preparing these special-purpose financial statements the following are reported as major 
governmental funds: 

 
General Fund - The General Fund is used to account for all revenue and expenditures 
applicable to the general operations of the Clerk that are not required either legally or by 
generally accepted accounting principles to be accounted for in another fund. 

 
The Clerk also reported the following fund type: 

 
Agency Funds - The agency funds are used to account for assets held by the Clerk as an agent 
for individuals, private organizations, and other governments.  Agency funds are custodial in 
nature and do not involve measurement of changes in financial position. 

 
Measurement Focus 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to the fixed assets and long-term liabilities 
associated with a fund are determined by its measurement focus.  This means that generally, only 
current assets and current liabilities are included in the balance sheet.  Governmental fund operating 
statements present increases (revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and 
other financing uses) in net current assets.  Accordingly, they present a summary of sources and uses 
of “available spendable resources” during a period. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures are recognized in the accounts and 
reported in the special-purpose financial statements. Basis of accounting refers to the timing of the 
measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.   
 
All governmental fund financial statements are reported using a current financial resources 
measurement focus on a modified accrual basis of accounting.  The major modifications to the accrual 
basis are: (a) revenues are recorded in the accounting period in which they become available and 
measurable (available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be 
used to pay liabilities of the current period, considered to be sixty days for all revenue) (b) 
expenditures are recorded in the accounting period in which the liability is incurred, except for 
accumulated sick and vacation pay, which are not recorded until paid.  Charges for services and 
investment revenue are recorded as earned. 

 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -9- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
The fiduciary fund statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting.   

 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Clerk’s policy to use 
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as needed. 
 
Budgetary Requirements 
Government fund revenues and expenditures accounted for in budgetary funds are controlled by a 
formal integrated budgetary accounting system in accordance with the Florida Statutes.  An annual 
budget is adopted for the general fund.  All budget amounts presented in the accompanying special-
purpose financial statements have been adjusted for legally authorized amendments of the annual 
budget for the year.  Budgets are prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
 
The Clerk’s annual budget is monitored at varying levels of classification detail.  However, for purposes 
of budgetary control, expenditures cannot legally exceed the total annual budget appropriations at 
the individual fund level.  All appropriations lapse at year-end. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents include amounts in demand deposits as well as short-term investments 
with a maturity date within three months of the date acquired by the government.  Short-term 
investments also include amounts placed with the State Board of Administration for participation in 
the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund investment pools created by Sections 218.405 and 
218.417, Florida Statutes. 

 
Capital Assets and Depreciation 
Tangible personal property is recorded as expenditures in the governmental fund types at the time an 
asset is acquired.  Assets acquired by the Clerk are capitalized at cost in the capital asset accounts of 
the County. The Clerk maintains custodial responsibility for the capital assets used by his office. 

 
Estimated useful lives, in years, for depreciable assets are as follows: 

 
 Furniture, machinery, and equipment 3-30 years 
 

 
Due to Others 
This account is used to account for assets held by the Clerk in a trustee capacity for other 
governmental agencies or individuals. 

 
 

 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -10- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Accumulated Compensated Absences 
The Clerk maintains a policy that permits permanent full-time employees to accumulate earned but 
unused personal leave hours that will be paid to employees upon separation if certain criteria are met. 
These benefits, plus their related tax and retirement cost are classified as compensated absences.  
Employees may be paid for unused personal leave hours accrued up to a maximum amount in 
accordance with the personnel policy. 
 
The Clerk’s accumulated compensated absences are reported in the statement of net position in the 
County’s financial statements.  No expenditure is reported in the government fund level statements 
for these amounts until payment is due.  Compensated absences liability is based on current rate of 
pay. 
 
Governmental Fund Balances 
The Clerk adopted GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Type 
Definitions (GASB Statement No. 54) effective October 1, 2010. This GASB Statement clarifies 
governmental fund balance classifications and fund-type definitions. Fund balances are classified 
either as non-spendable or spendable. See Note 7. 
 
Risk Management and Insurance 
The Clerk is covered under the Board of County Commissioners insurance policies. The Board 
insures itself against losses from casualty, accident and dishonesty by purchasing insurance through 
a local insurance agency. The Board believes the level of insurance purchased is adequate to 
protect against material loss.  No significant changes in coverage or claims have been made in the 
last year. 
 
Management Estimates and Assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make use of estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
as of the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenditures 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from estimates. 

 
Subsequent Events 
Subsequent events have been evaluated through the date of the Independent Auditors’ Report, which 
is the date the special-purpose financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
New Accounting Standards  
In fiscal year 2017, the County adopted four new statements of financial accounting standards issued 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. See the County-wide financial statements for a list 
of newly implemented standards and those recently issued but not yet effective. 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -11- 

 
NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS   
 
At September 30, 2017, the carrying amount of the Clerk’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted 
cash was $268,714 and the bank balance was $275,496. The bank balance was covered by federal 
depository insurance and, for the amount in excess of such federal depository insurance, by the State 
of Florida's Public Deposit Act. Provisions of the Act require that public deposits may only be made at 
qualified public depositories. The Act requires each qualified public depository to deposit with the 
State Treasurer eligible collateral equal to or in excess of the required collateral as determined by the 
provisions of the Act. In the event of a failure by a qualified public depository, losses in excess of 
federal depository insurance and proceeds from the sale of securities pledged by the defaulting 
depository are assessed against the other qualified public depositories of the same type as the 
depository in default. When other qualified public depositories are assessed additional amounts, they 
are assessed on a pro-rata basis.  
 
The Clerk’s investment practices are governed by Chapter 218.415 of the Florida Statutes.  The Clerk is 
authorized to invest in certificates of deposit, money market certificates, obligations of the US 
Treasury, mutual funds and repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. Government securities, and 
the Local Government Surplus Trust Fund.   

 
Credit Risk 
The credit risk of certain investments, such as investment pools managed by other governments, 
cannot be categorized as to credit risk because the Clerk’s investments are not evidenced by 
specific, identifiable investment securities. 

 
Interest Rate Risk 
At September 30, 2017, the Clerk did not hold any deposits or investments that were considered to 
have interest rate risk. 

 
Custodial Credit Risk 
At September 30, 2017, the Clerk did not hold any deposits or investments that were considered to 
have custodial credit risk. 

 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
At September 30, 2017, the Clerk did not hold any investments that were considered to have 
concentration of credit risk.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -12- 

 
NOTE 3 - EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN 

 
The Clerk participates in the Florida Retirement System (FRS), a cost-sharing, multiple employer 
defined benefit public retirement system administered by the State of Florida Department of 
Administration, Division of Retirement, to provide retirement and survivor benefits to participating 
public employees. Chapter 121, Florida Statutes, establishes the authority for participant eligibility, 
contribution requirements, vesting eligibility and benefit provisions.  FRS issues a publicly available 
financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information. The 
report may be obtained by writing to the State of Florida Division of Retirement, Tallahassee, Florida, 
32399-1560, or by accessing their internet site at www.frs.state.fl.us/frs/public/annual. 

 
For those employees hired prior to July 1, 2011, FRS provides vesting of benefits after six years of 
creditable service.  Members are eligible for normal retirement after six years of service and attaining 
age 62, or 30 years of service regardless of age.  Early retirement may be taken any time after 
completing six years of service; however, there is a 5% benefit reduction for each year prior to normal 
retirement.  For those employees hired on or after July 1, 2011, the System provides for vesting of 
benefits after eight years of credible service. Normal retirement benefits are available to these 
employees who retire at or after age 65 with eight years of service with a 5% reduction of benefits for 
each year. FRS also provides death and disability benefits and cost- of-living adjustments. Generally, 
membership is compulsory for all full-time and part-time employees.  Prior to July 1, 2011, retirement 
coverage was employee noncontributory. Effective July 1, 2011 the Florida Legislature mandated all 
employees contribute 3% to their retirement coverage with immediate vesting of their contributions.  
  
The funding methods and the determination of benefits payable are provided in various acts of the 
Florida Legislature.  These acts provide that employers and employees pay contributions at rates 
determined each year by the legislature.  The employer rates, as a percentage of gross earnings, are 
as follows: 
  

    10/01/16 07/01/17 
  Through Through 
  06/30/17 09/30/17 

Regular employees   7.52%  7.92% 
Senior Management               21.77%  22.71% 
Elected county officials’ class  42.47%  45.50% 
Drop participants  12.99%  13.26% 
 
Chapter 121, Florida Statutes establishes the authority for participant eligibility, contribution 
requirements, vesting eligibility and benefit provisions.  For the period October 1, 2016 through 
September 30, 2017, the total payroll for the Clerk employees covered by the System was $542,538.  
The retirement contributions for all employees covered by the FRS for the years ended September 30, 
2017, 2016 and 2015 were $83,793, $81,545 and $79,792 respectively, which equal the required 
contributions.  For the year ended September 30, 2017, retirement contributions represent 15.44% of 
covered payroll.   
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -13- 

 
NOTE 3 - EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
GASB Statement No. 68 establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting, but not funding 
or budgetary standards, for defined benefit pensions and defined contribution pensions provided to 
the employees of state and local governmental employers through pension plans that are 
administered through trusts or equivalent arrangements.  This Statement replaces the 
requirements of Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental 
Employers, as well as the requirements of Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures, as they relate to 
pensions that are provided through pension plans within the scope of the Statement. 
 
The requirements of Statement No. 68 apply to the financial statements of all state and local 
governmental employers whose employees (or volunteers that provide services to state and local 
governments) are provided with pensions through pension plans that are administered through 
trusts or equivalent arrangements, and to the financial statements of state and local governmental 
nonemployer contributing entities that have a legal obligation to make contributions directly to 
such pension plans. This Statement establishes standards for measuring and recognizing liabilities, 
deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources, and expense/expenditures 
related to pensions. Note disclosure and RSI requirements about pensions also are addressed. For 
defined benefit pensions, this Statement identifies the methods and assumptions that should be 
used to project benefit payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present 
value, and attribute that present value to periods of employee service. 
 
The adoption of Statement No. 68 has no impact on the Jefferson County, Florida Clerk’s 
governmental fund financial statements, which continue to report expenditures in the amount of 
the actuarially determined contributions, as required by State law. The calculation of pension 
contributions is unaffected by the change.  
 
NOTE 4 - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION 
 
In addition to the retirement plan in Note 3, the County, in accordance with Section 112.0801, 
Florida Statutes, provides post-retirement health care benefits to all retired employees who 
participated in the group health plan while employed.  Employees of the Clerk are covered under 
the County’s plan.  The County is required to measure and recognize the annual cost of the future 
benefits and calculate the annual employer funding requirements and, to the extent funding is not 
made by the County recognize another post-employment benefit (OPEB) liability on the balance 
sheet of the County.  These amounts, if any, are recorded in the County’s government-wide 
financial statements. 
 
NOTE 5 - COURT RELATED FEES 
 
Based on the legal opinion provided by the Clerks of Court Operations Corporation general counsel 
of the provisions of Section 28.37(3), F.S., which was adopted as policy by the CCOC Finance and 
Budget Committee, all excess court-related funds have been included in a fund asset or liability, 
Due to/from Other Governmental Units.  As of September 30, 2017, there were no excess court-
related fees. 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -14- 

 
NOTE 6 - FUND EQUITY 
 
Non-spendable fund balances include amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in 
spendable form or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.  The Clerk had no non-
spendable net assets at September 30, 2017. 
 
Spendable fund balances are classified based on a hierarchy of the Clerk’s ability to control the 
spending of these fund balances and are reported in the following categories: restricted, committed, 
assigned and unassigned. For the year ended September 30, 2017, the Clerk reports net assets as 
restricted. Restricted net assets have externally imposed constraints placed on the use of resources by 
creditors, grantors, contributors, laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Unassigned fund balances have not been restricted, 
committed or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. For the year ended September 
30, 2017, the Clerk reported $56,821 in restricted fund balance for the modernization of public 
records and court-related technology. 
 
NOTE 7 - COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 
 
The Clerk has a Cooperative Agreement with the Florida Department of Revenue. This agreement 
encompasses all the Clerk’s child support functions.  It allows for indirect cost reimbursement.  The 
Clerk uses an established indirect cost rate to invoice the Department of Revenue each month.  These 
amounts are federal funds received under CFDA #93.563.  The net amount received was $96,369. 
 
NOTE 8 - EXCESS REVENUE 
 
Pursuant to Section 218.36(2), Florida Statutes, each County Officer shall pay into the county 
general fund all money in excess of the sum to which he or she is entitled under the provisions of 
Chapter 145.  Excess revenues over expenditures were returned to the Board of County 
Commissioners as required by Florida Statutes. 
 
NOTE 9 – PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 
 
Beginning fund balance has been restated by $69,052 to reflect amounts due to the Board of 
County Commissioners as of September 30, 2016. 



   COMPLIANCE SECTION               
 



 

 -15- 

 
 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF SPECIAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the special-purpose financial 
statements of the major fund and aggregate remaining fund information of the Jefferson County, 
Florida, Clerk of the Circuit Court (the “Clerk”) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2017, and 
the related notes to the special-purpose financial statements, which collectively comprise the Clerk’s 
basic  special-purpose financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated December 6, 
2018. 

 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

In planning and performing our audit of the special-purpose financial statements, we considered the 
Clerk’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the special-
purpose financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Clerk’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Clerk’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
may exist that were not identified. We did identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described 
below as finding No. C2008-001, C2008-002, C2015-001, C2017-002, C2017-003 and C2017-005 that 
we consider to be material weaknesses.  



 

 -16- 

To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
CURRENT YEAR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:   
 
Bank Reconciliations - C2017-002   
 

CRITERIA:  Bank reconciliations should be prepared, reviewed and compared to the recorded 
balances on the general ledger for accuracy. 
 
CONDITION: Transactions totaling over $56,000 occurring in October and November 2017 were 
posted to bank accounts in September 2017.  These transactions subsequent to year end should 
have been recorded as receivables or payables instead of posting them to the bank accounts.  As 
a result, significant adjustments were necessary to properly record bank balances and related 
accrual accounts at year end.  While the bank reconciliations were prepared timely, they were 
not compared to the recorded balances after all transactions had been posted for the year 
resulting in inaccuracies.  
 
CAUSE:  Accounting staff did not understand how to properly record the accruals and did not 
review the ending balances for accuracy. 
 
EFFECT:  Bank balances, some receivables and payables were not accurately recorded at year 
end. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Account balances must be reviewed for proper cutoff and compared to 
supporting documentation to insure accuracy. 

 
Unapproved Board Transfers - C2017-003 
 

CRITERIA: Transfers between the Board and Constitutional Officers should be budgeted and 
approved prior to disbursement.  

 
CONDITION: Three separate transfers totaling $70,049.84 were made from the Board to the 
Clerk’s accounts to cover shortfalls in funding without prior authorization from the Board.  There 
was no documentation of approval for these transfers which were initiated by the Clerk’s 
accounting supervisor. 
 
CAUSE: The transfers were made without proper approval by the Board. 
 
EFFECT: The County is not in compliance with Florida Statute 129.06(2). The transferred 
amounts were not budgeted. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that management review expenditures for proper 
documentation and compliance with applicable laws, grants and regulations before approval 
and payment. 

 
 
 
 



 

 -17- 

To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Contractual Consulting Services - C2017-005 
 

CRITERIA: The Board’s purchasing policies dated October 2016 describe requirements for 
procurement of goods and services.  
 
CONDITION: The Clerk’s contract for financial consulting services was revised seven times during 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017.  None of these documents were signed by the Clerk 
and they do not appear to be approved by the Board or in compliance with the Board’s 
procurement policy.   Subsequent to year end, an hourly payment agreement was implemented 
to begin January 1, 2018.  It was noted that there is no approval process for the hours submitted 
under this agreement, a request for payment was submitted and paid for December 2017 prior 
to the agreed upon date, and one extra monthly payment has been issued during the year 
ended September 20, 2018.  
 
CAUSE: The Clerk’s office does not have adequate management oversight of the accounting 
staff. 
 
EFFECT: The Clerk’s office expenditures for contractual services are not properly managed and 
controlled. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that management provide adequate oversight of 
expenditures and accounting operations. Expenditures should be reviewed for proper 
documentation, compliance with applicable laws, grants and regulations, and consideration of 
reasonable and necessary business practices before approval and payment. 

 
PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:   
 
Segregation of Duties - C2008-001 - NOT RESOLVED 

 
CRITERIA: The internal control environment should include proper segregation of duties and 
responsibilities over accounting functions.  
 
CONDITION: Separation of certain accounting and administrative duties among employees, 
which is recommended as an effective internal control procedures, was not considered feasible 
by the Clerk’s office because of its size and limited number of employees. The Clerk recognizes 
that the cost of its internal control structure should not exceed the benefits expected to be 
derived.  The Clerk also recognizes the inherent limitations of an internal control structure. 
Mistakes and irregularities may occur in any event with or without an adequate internal control 
structure. Furthermore adequate segregation of duties can be circumvented by collusion among 
persons. Nevertheless, internal control is strengthened when incompatible duties are separated 
and review procedures are established and adhered to. 
 
CAUSE: The Clerk’s office has limited personnel in the accounting department.  
 
EFFECT: The possibility exists that unintentional or intentional errors or irregularities could occur 
and not be promptly detected.  



 

 -18- 

To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Segregation of Duties - C2008-001 - NOT RESOLVED (Continued) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: We recommended that the Clerk’s office continue to seek ways to 
strengthen internal control through segregation of duties. The Clerk should document their 
review of transactions, bank reconciliations and financial reports to provide evidence of 
compensating controls. 
 
STATUS: This condition continues to exist.  

   
Preparation of GAAP–based Financial Statements - C2008-002 - NOT RESOLVED 
 

CRITERIA: An entity’s system of internal control over financial reporting should include controls 
over the prevention, detection and correction of misstatements in the audited financial 
statements.  
 
CONDITION: The County relies on the external auditor to assist with preparing the financial 
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.   
 
CAUSE: The County has an individual providing bookkeeping services; however, the County does 
not have an individual on staff with accounting education and experience to properly record 
more complex accounting transactions and prepare financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles.  
 
EFFECT: The fact the County does not have someone on staff to prepare the financial statements 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and to record complex accounting 
transactions results in a material weakness under professional standards.  

 
RECOMMENDATION: We recommend the County continue to request outside assistance in 
recording more complex transactions and that additional training and/or education be provided 
to existing staff to enable them to more accurately record financial activities. 
 
STATUS: This condition continues to exist. 

 
Accrual Accounting - C2015-001 - NOT RESOLVED 

 
CRITERIA:  The accrual basis of accounting should be used to record transactions. 
 
CONDITION: Many transactions were recorded on a cash basis instead of the accrual basis of 
accounting. As a result, significant adjustments were necessary to properly record expenditures 
and revenues in the correct period. 
 
CAUSE:  Accounting staff recorded transactions on the cash basis. 
 
EFFECT:  Certain receivables, deferrals and payables were not accurately recorded on a timely 
basis. 
 



 

 -19- 

To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 
Accrual Accounting - C2015-001 - NOT RESOLVED (Continued) 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  Accrual basis accounting must be followed to accurately record revenues 
and expenditures in the proper period. Account balances must be reviewed for proper cutoff 
and correct period of recognition including receivables, accounts payable and deferred income. 
 
STATUS: This condition continues to exist. 

 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Clerk’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion 
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards and which are 
described below as finding C2017-001 and C2017-004. 

 
Public Records Modernization Fund Expenditures - C2017-001 

 
CRITERIA: Per Florida Statute 28.24(12)(d), funds in the Public Records Modernization Trust Fund 
must be used exclusively for equipment, maintenance, personnel training and technical 
assistance in modernizing the public records system of the Clerk’s office. 
 
CONDITION: An expenditure of $7,654 was made from the Public Records Modernization Trust 
Fund to an individual in a supervisory position for consulting services which were not adequately 
documented.  There was no report issued for this matter and the services described are 
identical in nature and amount to an expenditure made in the previous fiscal year.  Additional 
transfers totaling $41,494 were made from restricted funds to operating funds to reimburse for 
expenditures which had already been reimbursed under Article V reporting. 
 
CAUSE: The expenditure was made without proper consideration of requirements for the use of 
these funds. 
 
EFFECT:  The County is not in compliance with Florida Statute 28.24(12)(d). The amounts 
expended totaling $49,148 should be restored to the Public Records Modernization Trust Fund 
from operating funds. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that management review expenditures for compliance 
with applicable laws, grants and regulations before approval and payment. 

 
 
 
 



 

 -20- 

To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Health Insurance Payments - C2017-004 
 

CRITERIA: Health insurance payments are a benefit offered only to employees or retirees in 
accordance with the County’s personnel policies. 
 
CONDITION: The Clerk’s office provided health insurance coverage to an individual in a 
supervisory position who performed contractual services and was not an employee or retiree.  
The Clerk’s office was reimbursed for this cost during part of the year but payments totaling 
$13,817 were made for the benefit of this contractor which were not included on their Form 
1099 for 2017 reported to the Internal Revenue Service.  
 
CAUSE: The Clerk’s accounting staff misunderstood the requirements for eligibility and reporting 
for nonemployees. 
 
EFFECT: The Clerk is not in compliance with their personnel policy and is not in compliance with 
Internal Revenue Service regulations for reporting of compensation. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that management review expenditures for proper 
documentation and compliance with applicable laws, grants and regulations before approval 
and payment.  Further, all payments to or on behalf of individuals contractually employed must 
be properly reported to the Internal Revenue Service. 

 
Clerk’s Response to Findings 

The Clerk’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying letter. 
The Clerk’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the special-
purpose financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Clerk’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Marianna, Florida 
December 6, 2018 



 

 -21- 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION  
218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES, LOCAL GOVERNMENT INVESTMENT POLICIES 

 

To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 

We have examined Jefferson County, Florida, Clerk of the Circuit Court’s (the “Clerk”) compliance 
with the requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies, 
during the year ended September 30, 2017. Management is responsible for the Clerk’s compliance 
with those requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Clerk’s compliance based 
on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Clerk complied, in all 
material respects, with the specified requirements referenced above. An examination involves 
performing procedures to obtain evidence about whether the Clerk complied with the specified 
requirements. The nature, timing, and extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including an assessment of the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error. We 
believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our examination does not 
provide a legal determination on the Clerk’s compliance with specified requirements.  

In our opinion, the Clerk complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements 
for the year ended September 30, 2017. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the State of Florida 
Auditor General and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

 
 
Marianna, Florida 
December 6, 2018 
 
 



 

 -22- 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION  
28.35, FLORIDA STATUTES, FLORIDA CLERKS OF COURT OPERATIONS 

CORPORATION, AND SECTION 28.36, FLORIDA STATUTES, BUDGET PROCEDURE 
 
  

To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 

We have examined the office of the Jefferson County, Florida, Clerk of Circuit Court’s (the “Clerk”) 
compliance with the requirements of Section 28.35, Florida Statutes, Florida Clerks of Court 
Operations Corporation, and Section 28.36, Florida Statutes, Budget Procedure, during the year 
ended September 30, 2017. Management is responsible for the Clerk’s compliance with those 
requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Clerk’s compliance based on our 
examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Clerk complied, in all 
material respects, with the specified requirements referenced above. An examination involves 
performing procedures to obtain evidence about whether the Clerk complied with the specified 
requirements. The nature, timing, and extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including an assessment of the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error. We 
believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our examination does not 
provide a legal determination on the Clerk’s compliance with specified requirements.  

In our opinion, the Clerk complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements 
for the year ended September 30, 2017. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the State of Florida 
Auditor General and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

 

 
 
Marianna, Florida 
December 6, 2018 
 
 



 

 -23- 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION  
61.181, FLORIDA STATUTES, DEPOSITORY FOR ALIMONY TRANSACTIONS,  

SUPPORT, MAINTENANCE AND SUPPORT PAYMENTS; FEES  
 
 

To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 

We have examined the office of the Jefferson County, Florida, Clerk of Circuit Court’s (the “Clerk”) 
compliance with the requirements of Section 61.181, Florida Statutes, Depository for Alimony 
Transactions, Support, Maintenance and Support Payments; Fees during the year ended September 
30, 2017. Management is responsible for the Clerk’s compliance with those requirements. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Clerk’s compliance based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Clerk complied, in all 
material respects, with the specified requirements referenced above. An examination involves 
performing procedures to obtain evidence about whether the Clerk complied with the specified 
requirements. The nature, timing, and extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including an assessment of the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error. We 
believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our examination does not 
provide a legal determination on the Clerk’s compliance with specified requirements.  

In our opinion, the Clerk complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements 
for the year ended September 30, 2017. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the State of Florida 
Auditor General and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

 

 
 
Marianna, Florida 
December 6, 2018 



  
 
 

 -24- 

                
 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ MANAGEMENT LETTER 
 
 
 
To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Report on the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying special-purpose financial statements of the Jefferson County, 
Florida, Clerk of the Circuit Court (the “Clerk”), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2017, 
and have issued our report thereon dated December 6, 2018. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the 
Auditor General. 
 
Other Reports and Schedule 
 
We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards; Independent Accountant’s Report 
on an examination conducted in accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, AT-C Section 315, 
regarding compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor 
General. Disclosures in those reports and schedule, which are dated December 6, 2018, should be 
considered in conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address significant findings and recommendations made in 
the preceding annual financial audit report.  Significant findings and recommendations made in the 
preceding annual financial audit report have not been corrected.  
 
 
 
 



  
 
 

 -25- 

To the Honorable Tim Sanders 
Clerk of the Circuit Court, Ad Interim of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
 
Official Title and Legal Authority 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)4, Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal 
authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed 
in the management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the special-purpose financial statements. 
 The Jefferson County, Florida, Clerk of the Circuit Court was established by the Constitution of the 
State of Florida, Article VIII, Section 1(d).  There were no component units related to the Jefferson 
County, Florida, Clerk of the Circuit Court. 
 
Financial Management 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)2, Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the management 
letter any findings and recommendations that improve financial management. In connection with 
our audit, we have the following recommendations. 
 
Additional Matters 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have 
occurred, that have an effect on the special-purpose financial statements that is less than material 
but which warrants the attention of those charged with governance.  In connection with our audit, 
we did note certain matters.  See Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Special-Purpose Financial 
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Letter 
 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida 
Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies, and the Jefferson County, Florida, Clerk and 
applicable management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties.  

 
Marianna, Florida 
December 6, 2018 



  
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 
Management’s Response 

 

 -26- 

 
 
 



  
Jefferson County, Florida 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 
Management’s Response 

 

 -27- 

 



 
 
 
 

Jefferson County, Florida 
Property Appraiser 

  
 Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 
 September 30, 2017 
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida  

   Property Appraiser 
Table of Contents 

 September 30, 2017 
 

 
REPORT

Independent Auditors’ Report 1

SPECIAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Special-Purpose Balance Sheet - Governmental Fund 3

Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund   
Balance - Governmental Fund 4

Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund   
Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund 5

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 6

COMPLIANCE SECTION

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Special-Purpose Financial 
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 14

Independent Accountants' Report on Compliance with Section 218.415,
Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies 16

Independent Auditors’ Management Letter 17

  
    



REPORT



 

   

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
To the Honorable Angela C. Gray 
Property Appraiser of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 
Report on the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying special-purpose financial statements of the major fund of the 
Jefferson County, Florida, Property Appraiser (the “Property Appraiser”) as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the special-purpose financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the Property Appraiser’s basic special-purpose financial statements as listed in 
the table of contents.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these special-purpose 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these special-purpose financial statements based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in the 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the special-purpose financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the special-purpose financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the special-
purpose financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
special-purpose financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Property Appraiser’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the special-purpose financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 



 

To the Honorable Angela C. Gray 
Property Appraiser of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the special-purpose financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the respective financial position of the major fund of the Property Appraiser as 
of September 30, 2017, and the respective changes in financial position and the respective 
budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 1 to the special-purpose financial statements, the Property Appraiser’s financial 
statements are special-purpose financial statements presenting only the financial position and results 
of operations of the Property Appraiser.  These special-purpose financial statements are not intended 
to be a complete presentation of the financial position and results of operations of Jefferson County, 
Florida, taken as a whole.  As permitted by Chapter 10.556(4), Rules of the Auditor General State of 
Florida, the special-purpose financial statements consist of only the fund level financial statements as 
defined in Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 34, and do not include 
presentations of government-wide financial statements of the Property Appraiser. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 
4, 2018 on our consideration of the Property Appraiser’s internal control over financial reporting and 
on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the Property Appraiser’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
Marianna, Florida 
September 4, 2018 
 



                               SPECIAL-PURPOSE 
                   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Property Appraiser 
Special-Purpose Balance Sheet 

Governmental Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-3- 

 

  

General
Fund

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 119,361$        

Total assets 119,361$        

Liabilities
Due to Board of County Commissioners 6,196$             

Total liabilities 6,196               

Fund balance
Committed 10,700             
Assigned 102,465           

Total fund balance 113,165           

Total liabilities and fund balance 119,361$        

September 30, 2017

 
 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Property Appraiser 
Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance 
Governmental Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-4- 

 

 

General 
Fund

Revenues
Charges for services 6,012$             
Investment earnings 291                  

Total revenues 6,303               
       

Expenditures
General government

Personal services 441,825           
Operating expenses 121,357           

Capital outlay 57,120             

Total expenditures 620,302           
 

(613,999)         

Other financing sources (uses)
Loan proceeds 152,928           

 Transfers in 580,432           
 Transfers out (6,196)              

Net other financing sources 727,164           

Net change in fund balance 113,165           

Fund balance - beginning -                        

Fund balance - ending 113,165$        

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures

For the year ended September 30, 2017

 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Property Appraiser 
Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and Actual 
General Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-5- 

 

 

Actual  Variance with 
Amounts  Final Budget  

Original Final (Budgetary  Favorable 
Budget  Budget  Basis)  (Unfavorable) 

Expenditures
General government

Personal services 440,333$        440,506$        435,522$        4,984$             
Operating expenses 133,450 133,450 121,357           12,093             

Capital outlay 6,732               6,732               6,657               75                     

 Total expenditures 580,515           580,688           563,536           17,152             

(580,515)         (580,688)         (563,536)         17,152             

Other financing sources (uses)
 Transfer in 580,515           580,688           580,432           (256)                 
 Transfer out -                        -                        (6,196)              (6,196)              

 Net other financing sources 580,515           580,688           574,236           (6,452)              

Net change in fund balance -$                      -$                      10,700$           10,700$           

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures

For the year ended September 30, 2017

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Property Appraiser 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -6- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The accounting policies and the presentation of these special-purpose financial statements have been 
designed to conform to generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to governmental units 
in accordance with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. The following is a summary of 
significant accounting principles and policies used in the preparation of these special-purpose financial 
statements. 
 
Reporting Entity 
Jefferson County, Florida is a political subdivision of the State of Florida.  It is governed by an 
elected Board of County Commissioners (the “Board”). The Board is responsible for the 
administration of all departments pursuant to the general laws of Florida. 
 
The Jefferson County Property Appraiser (the “Property Appraiser”) is an elected official of 
Jefferson County, Florida pursuant to the Constitution of the State of Florida, Article VIII, Section 
1(d), and is a part of the primary government of Jefferson County, Florida.  The Jefferson County 
Property Appraiser is responsible for the administration and operation of the Property Appraiser’s 
office and the Property Appraiser’s special-purpose financial statements do not include the financial 
statements of the Board or the other Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida. 
 
The accompanying special-purpose financial statements present the financial position and results of 
operations of the various fund types for all the funds controlled by the Jefferson County Property 
Appraiser’s Office.  
 
The Property Appraiser is a separately elected County official established pursuant to the Constitution 
of the State of Florida.  The Property Appraiser’s special-purpose financial statements do not purport 
to reflect the financial position or the results of operations of Jefferson County, Florida taken as a 
whole. 
 
Entity status for financial reporting purposes is governed by Statement No. 14 of the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB).  Although the Property Appraiser’s office is operationally 
autonomous from the Board of County Commissioners (“the Board”), it does not hold sufficient 
corporate powers of its own to be considered a legally separate entity for financial reporting 
purposes. Therefore, the Property Appraiser is reported as part of the primary government of 
Jefferson County, Florida. 
 
These special-purpose financial statements are not intended to be a complete presentation of the 
financial position and results of operations of Jefferson County, Florida taken as a whole.  As 
permitted by Chapter 10.556(4), Rules of the Auditor General State of Florida, the special-purpose 
financial statements consist of only the fund level financial statements as defined in GASB No. 34, and 
do not include presentations of government-wide financial statements of the Property Appraiser. 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Property Appraiser 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -7- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Reporting Entity (continued) 
The operations of the Property Appraiser are primarily funded by the Board. The receipts from the 
Board are recorded as other financing sources on the Appraiser’s financial statements and as other 
financial uses on the Board’s financial statements. Any excess of revenues and other financing sources 
received over expenditures are remitted to the Board at year-end. However, in the current year, the 
Board approved retainage of excess loan proceeds and revenues by the Property Appraiser for 
purchase of equipment in the subsequent year. See Note 6 for further disclosure. 
 
Basis of Presentation 
These financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the accounting principles and 
reporting guidelines established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and 
accounting practices prescribed by the Auditor General, State of Florida. The basic financial 
statements for the County as a whole, which includes the funds of the Property Appraiser, were 
prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
In preparing these financial statements, the following is reported as a major governmental fund: 

 
General Fund - The general fund is the general operating fund of the Property Appraiser.  It is 
used to account for all financial resources, except those required to be accounted for in 
another fund. 

 
Measurement Focus 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to the fixed assets and long-term liabilities 
associated with a fund are determined by its measurement focus.  This means that generally, only 
current assets and current liabilities are included in the balance sheet.  Governmental fund operating 
statements present increases (revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and 
other financing uses) in net current assets.  Accordingly, they present a summary of sources and uses 
of “available spendable resources” during a period. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures are recognized in the accounts and 
reported in the financial statements. Basis of accounting refers to the timing of the measurements 
made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.   
 
All governmental fund financial statements are reported using a current financial resources 
measurement focus on a modified accrual basis of accounting.  The major modifications to the accrual 
basis are: (a) revenues are recorded in the accounting period in which they become available and 
measurable (available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be 
used to pay liabilities of the current period, considered to be sixty days for all revenue) (b) 
expenditures are recorded in the accounting period in which the liability is incurred, except for 
accumulated sick and vacation pay, which are not recorded until paid.  Charges for services and 
investment revenue are recorded as earned. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Property Appraiser’s 
policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as needed. 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Property Appraiser 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -8- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Budgetary Requirements 
Expenditures are controlled by appropriations in accordance with the budget requirements set 
forth in Florida Statutes Chapter 195.087.  The budgeted revenues and expenditures in the 
accompanying financial statements reflect all amendments, approved by the Florida Department of 
Revenue and Board of County Commissioners. On or before June 1 of each year, the Property 
Appraiser shall submit to the Department of Revenue a budget for the operation of her office for 
the ensuing fiscal year. The Department of Revenue and Board of County Commissioners must 
approve the final budget.  
 
The actual results of operations in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund are presented on a budgetary basis for budgetary 
accounting purposes. The Property Appraiser only budgeted revenue and expenditures 
appropriated by the Board of County Commissioners.  Adjustments to convert the results of 
operation of the general fund at the end of the year from the budgetary basis of accounting to the 
GAAP basis of accounting are as follows: 
 

 Total Total 
  Expenditures Revenue 

GAAP basis  $ 620,302  $ 733,467 
Non-budgeted revenues and expenditures:   
  Revenues other than appropriations from the   
  Board of County Commissioners and    
  related expenditures            (56,766)        (159,231) 
Budgetary basis  $ 563,536  $ 574,236 
 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents  
Cash includes amounts in demand deposits as well as short term investments with a maturity date 
within three months of the date acquired by the government.  

 
Capital Assets and Depreciation 
Tangible personal property is recorded as expenditures in the governmental fund types at the time an 
asset is acquired.  Assets acquired by the Property Appraiser are capitalized at cost in the capital asset 
accounts of the County. The Property Appraiser’s assets are reported in the statement of net assets in 
the County’s financial statements. The Property Appraiser maintains custodial responsibility for the 
capital assets used by her office. 

 
Estimated useful lives, in years, for depreciable assets are as follows: 

 
 Furniture, machinery, and equipment 3-30 years 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Property Appraiser 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -9- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Accumulated Compensated Absences 
The Property Appraiser maintains a policy that permits permanent full-time employees to accumulate 
earned but unused vacation and sick leave hours that will be paid to employees upon separation if 
certain criteria are met.  These benefits, plus their related tax and retirement cost are classified as 
compensated absences.  Employees may be paid for unused leave hours accrued up to a maximum 
amount in accordance with personnel policy. 
 
The Property Appraiser’s accumulated compensated absences are reported in the statement of net 
assets in the County’s financial statements.  No expenditure is reported in the government fund level 
statement for these amounts until payment is due.  Compensated absences liability is based on 
current rate of pay. 
 
Risk Management and Insurance 
The Property Appraiser is covered under the Board of County Commissioners insurance policies.  
The Board insures itself against losses from casualty, accident and dishonesty by purchasing 
insurance through a local insurance agency. The Board believes the level of insurance purchased is 
adequate to protect against material loss.  No significant changes in coverage or claims have been 
made during the current year. 
 
Management Estimates and Assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make use of estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
as of the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenditures 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from estimates. 
 
Subsequent Events 
Subsequent events have been evaluated through the date of the Independent Auditors’ Report, which 
is the date the special-purpose financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
Fund Balance 
Fund balances are classified based upon a hierarchy of the Property Appraiser’s ability to control 
spending of these fund balances and can be classified in the following categories: 

 
Non-spendable fund balances include amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in 
spendable form or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
 
Spendable fund balances are classified as either restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned 
based on the hierarchy of the Property Appraiser’s ability to control spending. 

 
New Accounting Standards  
In fiscal year 2017, the County adopted four new statements of financial accounting standards issued 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. See the County-wide financial statements for a list 
of newly implemented standards and those recently issued but not yet effective. 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Property Appraiser 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -10- 

 
NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS  
 
At September 30, 2017, the carrying amount of the Property Appraiser’s cash and cash equivalents 
was $119,361 and the bank balance was $193,482. The bank balance was covered by federal 
depository insurance and, for the amount in excess of such federal depository insurance, by the State 
of Florida's Public Deposit Act. Provisions of the Act require that public deposits may only be made at 
qualified public depositories. The Act requires each qualified public depository to deposit with the 
State Treasurer eligible collateral equal to or in excess of the required collateral as determined by the 
provisions of the Act. In the event of a failure by a qualified public depository, losses in excess of 
federal depository insurance and proceeds from the sale of securities pledged by the defaulting 
depository are assessed against the other qualified public depositories of the same type as the 
depository in default. When other qualified public depositories are assessed additional amounts, they 
are assessed on a pro-rata basis. Florida Statutes authorize the Property Appraiser to invest in 
certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements and the State Treasurer’s Investment Pool. In addition, 
the statutes allow the Property Appraiser to invest in bonds, notes or other obligations of the United 
States Government, certain bonds of any state or local government unit, and bonds issued by certain 
government agencies.   

 
Credit Risk 
 
At September 30, 2017, the Property Appraiser did not hold any deposits or investments that were 
considered to have credit risk. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
At September 30, 2017, the Property Appraiser did not hold any investments that were considered 
to have interest rate risk. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
At September 30, 2017, the Property Appraiser did not hold any deposits or investments that were 
considered to have custodial credit risk. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
At September 30, 2017, the Property Appraiser did not hold any investments that were considered 
to have concentration of credit risk.   
  



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Property Appraiser 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -11- 

 
NOTE 3 - EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN 

 
The Property Appraiser participates in the Florida Retirement System (FRS), a cost-sharing, multiple 
employer defined benefit public retirement system administered by the State of Florida Department 
of Administration, Division of Retirement, to provide retirement and survivor benefits to participating 
public employees. FRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements 
and required supplementary information. The report may be obtained by writing to the State of 
Florida Division of Retirement, Tallahassee, Florida, 32399-1560, or by accessing their internet site at 
www.frs.state.fl.us/frs/public/annual. 

 
For those employees hired prior to July 1, 2011, FRS provides vesting of benefits after six years of 
creditable service.  Members are eligible for normal retirement after six years of service and attaining 
age 62, or 30 years of service regardless of age.  Early retirement may be taken any time after 
completing six years of service; however, there is a 5% benefit reduction for each year prior to normal 
retirement.  For those employees hired on or after July 1, 2011, the System provides for vesting of 
benefits after eight years of creditable service. Normal retirement benefits are available to these 
employees who retire at or after age 65 with eight years of service with a 5% reduction of benefits 
for each year prior to normal retirement. FRS also provides death and disability benefits and cost- of-
living adjustments. Generally, membership is compulsory for all full-time and part-time employees.  
Prior to July 1, 2011, retirement coverage was employee noncontributory. Effective July 1, 2011 the 
Florida Legislature mandated all employees contribute 3% to their retirement coverage with 
immediate vesting of their contributions.    
 
The funding methods and the determination of benefits payable are provided in various acts of the 
Florida Legislature.  These acts provide that employers and employees pay contributions at rates 
determined each year by the legislature.  The employer rates, as a percentage of gross earnings, are 
as follows: 
  

    10/01/16 07/01/17 
  Through Through 
  06/30/17 09/30/17 

Regular employees       7.52%     7.92% 
Elected county officials     42.47%   45.50% 
DROP participants 
Senior management 

     12.99% 
   21.77% 

  13.26% 
  22.71% 

 
 

Chapter 121, Florida Statutes establishes the authority for participant eligibility, contribution 
requirements, vesting eligibility and benefit provisions.  For the period October 1, 2016 through 
September 30, 2017, the total payroll for the Property Appraiser employees covered by the System 
was $349,162.  The retirement contributions for all employees covered by the FRS for the years ended 
September 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were $66,979, $57,520 and $61,055 respectively, which equal 
the required contributions.  For the year ended September 30, 2017, retirement contributions 
represent 19.18% of covered payroll.   
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Property Appraiser 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -12- 

 
NOTE 3 - EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
GASB Statement No. 68 establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting, but not funding 
or budgetary standards, for defined benefit pensions and defined contribution pensions provided to 
the employees of state and local governmental employers through pension plans that are 
administered through trusts or equivalent arrangements.  This Statement replaces the 
requirements of Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental 
Employers, as well as the requirements of Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures, as they relate to 
pensions that are provided through pension plans within the scope of the Statement. 
 
The requirements of Statement No. 68 apply to the financial statements of all state and local 
governmental employers whose employees (or volunteers that provide services to state and local 
governments) are provided with pensions through pension plans that are administered through 
trusts or equivalent arrangements, and to the financial statements of state and local governmental 
nonemployer contributing entities that have a legal obligation to make contributions directly to 
such pension plans. This Statement establishes standards for measuring and recognizing liabilities, 
deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources, and expense/expenditures 
related to pensions. Note disclosure and RSI requirements about pensions also are addressed. For 
defined benefit pensions, this Statement identifies the methods and assumptions that should be 
used to project benefit payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present 
value, and attribute that present value to periods of employee service. 
 
The adoption of Statement No. 68 has no impact on the Jefferson County, Florida Property 
Appraiser’s governmental fund financial statements, which continue to report expenditures in the 
amount of the actuarially determined contributions, as required by State law. The calculation of 
pension contributions is unaffected by the change. 
 
NOTE 4 - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION 
 
In addition to the retirement plan in Note 3, the County, in accordance with Section 112.0801, 
Florida Statutes, provides post-retirement health care benefits to all retired employees who 
participated in the group health plan while employed.  Employees of the Property Appraiser are 
covered under the County’s plan.  The County is required to measure and recognize the annual cost 
of the future benefits and calculate the annual employer funding requirements and, to the extent 
funding is not made by the County recognize another post-employment benefit (OPEB) liability on 
the balance sheet of the County.  These amounts, if any, are recorded in the County’s government-
wide financial statements. 
 
NOTE 5 - EXCESS REVENUE 
 
Pursuant to Section 218.36(2), Florida Statutes, each County Officer shall pay into the county 
general fund all money in excess of the sum to which he or she is entitled under the provisions of 
Chapter 145.  Excess revenues over expenditures were returned to the Board of County 
Commissioners as required by Florida Statutes.  
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Property Appraiser 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

 -13- 

 
NOTE 6 - FUND EQUITY 
 
Non spendable fund balances include amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in 
spendable form or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The Property 
Appraiser had no non-spendable net assets at September 30, 2017. 
 
Spendable fund balances are classified based on a hierarchy of the Property Appraiser’s ability to 
control the spending of these fund balances and are reported in the following categories: restricted, 
committed, assigned and unassigned. Restricted fund balances have externally imposed constraints 
placed on the use of resources by creditors, grantors, contributors, laws or regulations of other 
governments or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Assigned 
fund balances have constraints placed on the use of resources by the Property Appraiser’s intent to 
use the resources for a specific purpose. Unassigned fund balances have not been restricted, 
committed or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. For the year ending September 
30, 2017, the Property Appraiser reports committed fund balance in the amount of $10,700 and 
assigned fund balance in the amount of $102,465. By Board approval, the Property Appraiser was 
permitted to retain $10,700 to convert the Property Appraiser’s CAMA system.  The $102,465 
represents unspent loan proceeds to be used to complete the purchase of mapping software and 
related hardware. 
 



   COMPLIANCE SECTION               
 



 

 -14- 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF SPECIAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
To the Honorable Angela C. Gray 
Property Appraiser of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the special-purpose financial 
statements of the Jefferson County, Florida, Property Appraiser (the “Property Appraiser”) as of and 
for the year ended September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the special-purpose financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Property Appraiser’s basic special-purpose financial 
statements and have issued our report thereon dated September 4, 2018. 

 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Property 
Appraiser’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on 
the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Property Appraiser’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Property Appraiser’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  



To the Honorable Angela C. Gray 
Property Appraiser of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
 

 -15- 

Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Property Appraiser’s financial 
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could 
have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Property Appraiser’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal 
control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

 
Marianna, Florida 
September 4, 2018 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 -16- 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION  
218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES, LOCAL GOVERNMENT INVESTMENT POLICIES 

 

To the Honorable Angela C. Gray 
Property Appraiser of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 

We have examined Jefferson County, Florida Property Appraiser (the “Property Appraiser”) 
compliance with the requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, Local Government 
Investment Policies, during the year ended September 30, 2017. Management is responsible for the 
Property Appraiser’s compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Property Appraiser’s compliance based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Property Appraiser 
complied, in all material respects, with the specified requirements referenced above. An 
examination involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about whether the Property 
Appraiser complied with the specified requirements. The nature, timing, and extent of the 
procedures selected depend on our judgment, including an assessment of the risks of material 
noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error. We believe that our examination provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the 
Property Appraiser’s compliance with specified requirements.  

In our opinion, the Property Appraiser complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned 
requirements for the year ended September 30, 2017. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the State of Florida 
Auditor General and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

 
 
Marianna, Florida 
September 4, 2018 

 



 
 

-17- 
 

                        
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ MANAGEMENT LETTER 

 
To the Honorable Angela C. Gray 
Property Appraiser of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Report on the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying special-purpose financial statements of the Jefferson County, 
Florida, Property Appraiser (the “Property Appraiser”), as of and for the year ended September 30, 
2017, and have issued our report thereon dated September 4, 2018. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the 
Auditor General. 
 
Other Reports 
 
We have issued our Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards; and Independent Accountant’s Report on an examination 
conducted in accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, AT-C Section 315, regarding 
compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General.   
Disclosures in those reports, which are dated September 4, 2018, should be considered in 
conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address significant findings and recommendations made in 
the preceding annual financial audit report.  There were no findings and recommendations made in 
the preceding annual financial audit report.  
 
Official Title and Legal Authority 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal 
authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed 
in this management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  This item was 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 



 

-18- 
 

To the Honorable Angela C. Gray 
Property Appraiser of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Financial Management 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the management 
letter any findings and recommendations that improve financial management. In connection with 
our audit, we did not have any such findings. 
 
Additional Matters 

 
Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have 
occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but which 
warrants the attention of those charged with governance.  In connection with our audit, we did not 
have any such findings. 
 
Purpose of this Letter 

 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida 
Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies, and the Jefferson County, Florida Property 
Appraiser and applicable management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone 
other than these specified parties.  
 

 
Marianna, Florida 
September 4, 2018 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

Jefferson County, Florida 
Sheriff 

  
 Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 
 September 30, 2017 
  
  
  



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Table of Contents 

September 30, 2017 
 
REPORT

Independent Auditors’ Report 1

SPECIAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Special-Purpose Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds 4

Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund   
Balance - Governmental Funds 5

Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund   
Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund 6

Special-Purpose Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Agency Funds 7

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 8

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Combining Special-Purpose Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Governmental Funds 17

Combining Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in
Fund Balances – Nonmajor Governmental Funds 18

COMPLIANCE SECTION

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Special-Purpose Financial 
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 19

Independent Accountant's Report on Compliance with Section 218.415,
Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies 22

Independent Auditors’ Management Letter 23

Management’s Response 25
    



REPORT



 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 
To the Honorable Mac McNeill 
Sheriff of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 
Report on the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying special-purpose financial statements of each major fund and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the Jefferson County, Florida, Sheriff (the “Sheriff”) as of and 
for the year ended September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the special-purpose financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Sheriff’s basic special-purpose financial statements as 
listed in the table of contents.   

Management’s Responsibility for the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these special-purpose 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of special-purpose financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these special-purpose financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the special-purpose financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the special-purpose financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the special-
purpose financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
special-purpose financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Sheriff’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the special-
purpose financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 

 
 



To the Honorable Mac McNeill 
Sheriff of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the special-purpose financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the respective financial position of each major fund and the remaining fund 
information of the Sheriff as of September 30, 2017, and the respective changes in financial 
position and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Emphasis of Matter 

 
As discussed in Note 1 to the special-purpose financial statements, the Sheriff’s financial statements 
are special-purpose financial statements presenting only the financial position and results of 
operations of the Sheriff.  These special-purpose financial statements are not intended to be a 
complete presentation of the financial position and results of operations of Jefferson County, Florida, 
taken as a whole.  As permitted by Chapter 10.556(4), Rules of the Auditor General State of Florida, 
the special-purpose financial statements consist of only the fund level financial statements as defined 
in Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 34, and do not include presentations of 
government-wide financial statements of the Sheriff. 
 
Other Matters 
 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the special-purpose financial 
statements that collectively comprise the Sheriff’s basic financial statements. The combining and 
individual nonmajor fund financial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and 
are not a required part of the basic special-purpose financial statements. 

The combining and individual nonmajor fund special-purpose financial statements are the 
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic special-purpose financial statements. Such 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic special-
purpose financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic special-purpose financial statements or to the basic special-purpose financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual 
nonmajor fund financial statements are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic 
special-purpose financial statements as a whole. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



To the Honorable Mac McNeill 
Sheriff of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
December 11, 2018 on our consideration of the Sheriff’s internal control over financial reporting 
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the Sheriff’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
Marianna, Florida 
December 11, 2018 



                               SPECIAL-PURPOSE 
                   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Special-Purpose Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-4- 

 

  

 Other Total 
General Governmental Governmental

Fund Funds Funds
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 45,663$          -$                     45,663$          
Restricted cash and cash equivalents -                       9,256               9,256               
Due from other funds 62,650 -                       62,650            

Total assets 108,313$        9,256$            117,569$        

Liabilities
Accounts payable 95,063$          -$                     95,063$          
Due to Board of County Commissioners 13,250 -                       13,250            

Total liabilities 108,313          -                       108,313          
 

Fund balance
Restricted -                       9,256               9,256               

Total liabilities and fund balances 108,313$        9,256$            117,569$        

September 30, 2017

 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance 
Governmental Funds 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-5- 

 

 
For the year ended September 30, 2017

Other Total 
General Governmental Governmental

Fund Funds Funds
Revenues
Grants 81,780$          -$                     81,780$          
Investment earnings -                       44                    44                    
Other fees and miscellaneous revenues 2,025               35,909            37,934            

Total revenues 83,805            35,953            119,758          

Expenditures
Current:

Public safety and health - Personal services 3,321,230 -                       3,321,230       
Public safety and health - Operating expenses 912,423 94,587 1,007,010       

Capital outlay 60,126 14,175            74,301            

Total expenditures 4,293,779       108,762          4,402,541       

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (4,209,974)     (72,809)           (4,282,783)     

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 4,223,224 -                       4,223,224       
Transfers out (13,250) -                       (13,250)           

Net other financing sources (uses) 4,209,974       -                       4,209,974       

Net change in fund balance -                       (72,809)           (72,809)           

Fund balance - beginning -                       82,065            82,065            

Fund balance - ending -$                     9,256$            9,256$            



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and Actual 
General Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-6- 

 

 

Actual Variance with
 Amounts Final Budget

Original Final (Budgetary Favorable
Budget Budget Basis) (Unfavorable)

Revenues
Grants -$                   83,805$         81,780$         (2,025)$         

Total revenues -                      83,805           83,805           -                      

Expenditures
Current:

Public safety and health - Personal services 3,308,865 3,392,670 3,321,230     71,440           
Public safety and health - Operating expenses 847,159 847,159 912,423         (65,264)         

Capital outlay 62,200 62,200 60,126           2,074             
Contingency 5,000 5,000 -                      5,000             

Total expenditures 4,223,224     4,307,029     4,293,779     13,250           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (4,223,224)    (4,223,224)    (4,209,974)    11,225           

Other financing sources (uses) 
 Transfers in 4,223,224 4,223,224 4,223,224     -                      
 Transfers out -                      -                      (13,250)         (13,250)         

Total other financing sources 4,223,224     4,223,224     4,209,974     (13,250)         

Net change in fund balance -$                   -$                   -$                   (2,025)$         

For the year ended September 30, 2017

 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Special-Purpose Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 

Agency Funds 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-7- 

 

 

Agency Funds

Assets
Cash 14,350$         

Total assets 14,350$         

Liabilities
Due to others 14,350$         

Total liabilities 14,350$         

September 30, 2017

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-8- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The accounting policies and the presentation of these special-purpose financial statements have been 
designed to conform to generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to governmental units 
in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board.  The following is a summary of 
significant accounting principles and policies used in the preparation of these special-purpose financial 
statements. 

 
Reporting Entity 
Jefferson County, Florida is a political subdivision of the State of Florida.  It is governed by an elected 
Board of County Commissioners (the Board). The Board is responsible for the administration of all 
departments pursuant to the general laws of Florida. 
 
The Jefferson County Sheriff is an elected official of Jefferson County, Florida pursuant to the 
Constitution of the State of Florida, Article VIII, Section 1(d), and is a part of the primary government 
of Jefferson County, Florida.  The Jefferson County Sheriff is responsible for the administration and 
operation of the Sheriff's office, and the Jefferson County Sheriff's financial statements do not include 
the financial statements of the Board or the other Constitutional Officers of Jefferson County, Florida. 
 
The accompanying special-purpose financial statements present the financial position and results of 
operations of the various fund types for all the funds controlled by the Jefferson County Sheriff’s 
Office. 
 
The Jefferson County, Florida, Sheriff (the “Sheriff”) is a separately elected County official established 
pursuant to the Constitution of the State of Florida.  The Sheriff’s special-purpose financial statements 
do not purport to reflect the financial position or the results of operations of Jefferson County, Florida 
taken as a whole.  
  
Entity status for financial reporting is governed by Statement No. 14 of the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB).  Although the Sheriff’s office is operationally autonomous from the Board of 
County Commissioners (“the Board”), it does not hold sufficient corporate powers of its own to be 
considered a legally separate entity for financial reporting purposes.  Therefore, the Sheriff is reported 
as part of the primary government of Jefferson County, Florida.   
  
These special-purpose financial statements are not intended to be a complete presentation of the 
financial position and results of operations of Jefferson County, Florida taken as a whole. As permitted 
by Chapter 10.556(4), Rules of the Auditor General, State of Florida, the special-purpose financial 
statements consist of only the fund level financial statements as defined in GASB No. 34, and do not 
include presentations of government-wide financial statements of the Sheriff. 
 
The operations of the Sheriff are primarily funded by the Board.  The receipts from the Board are 
recorded as other financing sources on the Sheriff’s financial statements and as other financing uses 
on the Board’s financial statements.  Any excess of revenues and other financing sources received 
over expenditures are remitted to the Board at year-end. 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-9- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Basis of Presentation 
These special-purpose financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the accounting 
principles and reporting guidelines established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) and accounting practices prescribed by the Auditor General, State of Florida. The basic 
financial statements for the County as a whole, which includes the funds of the Sheriff, were prepared 
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.   
 
In preparing these financial statements the following are reported as major governmental funds: 

 
General Fund - The General Fund is used to account for all revenue and expenditures 
applicable to the general operations of the Sheriff that are not required either legally or by 
generally accepted accounting principles to be accounted for in another fund. 

 
In addition, the Sheriff reported the following non-major governmental funds: 
 
Special Revenue Funds - Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific 
revenues sources (other than major capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures for 
specified purposes.  The Sheriff reports the following special revenue funds in the financial statements 
under the title “Other Governmental Funds.” 

 
Inmate Welfare - Accounts for the activities related to operation of inmate commissary. 
 
Investigative Fund - Accounts for revenues and expenditures relating to various forfeitures, 
investigative fees and restitution. 
 
PGI Fund - Accounts for revenues and expenditures relating to various forfeitures and fees from 
drug related offenses. 
 
Confiscated Funds - Accounts for revenues and expenditures relating to various forfeitures and 
fees from drug related offenses. 
 
Charitable Contribution Fund - Accounts for revenues and expenditures relating to public 
donations to assist the less fortunate. 
 

The Sheriff also reported the following fund type: 
  

Agency Funds - The agency funds are used to account for assets held by the Sheriff as an agent 
for individuals, private organizations, and other governments.  Agency funds are custodial in 
nature and do not involve measurement of changes in financial position. 

 
 

 
 
 

 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-10- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Measurement Focus 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to the fixed assets and long-term liabilities 
associated with a fund are determined by its measurement focus.  This means that generally, only 
current assets and current liabilities are included in the balance sheet.  Governmental fund operating 
statements present increases (revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and 
other financing uses) in net current assets.  Accordingly, they present a summary of sources and uses 
of “available spendable resources” during a period. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures are recognized in the accounts and 
reported in the special-purpose financial statements. Basis of accounting refers to the timing of the 
measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.   

 
All governmental fund financial statements are reported using a current financial resources 
measurement focus on a modified accrual basis of accounting.  The major modifications to the accrual 
basis are: (a) revenues are recorded in the accounting period in which they become available and 
measurable (available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be 
used to pay liabilities of the current period, considered to be sixty days for all revenue) (b) 
expenditures are recorded in the accounting period in which the liability is incurred, except for 
accumulated sick and vacation pay, which are not recorded until paid.  Charges for services and 
investment revenue are recorded as earned. 

 
Major revenue sources susceptible to accrual include: intergovernmental revenues and grant 
revenues.  In general, charges for services and other revenue are recognized as earned. 

 
The fiduciary fund statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting.   

 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Sheriff’s policy to use 
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as needed. 

 
Budgetary Requirements 
Florida Statutes, Chapter 30.49 and 129.03(2), details the preparation, adoption and administration 
of the Sheriff’s annual budget. The Sheriff establishes an annual balanced budget for his office 
which displays the revenues available to the office and the functions for which the money is to be 
expended. All budget amounts presented in the accompanying financial statements have been 
adjusted for legally authorized amendments of the annual budget for the year.  Budgets are 
prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting. 

 
The Sheriff’s annual budgets are monitored at varying levels of classification detail.  However, for 
purposes of budgetary control, expenditures cannot legally exceed the total annual budget 
appropriations at the individual fund level.  All appropriations lapse at year end. 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-11- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash includes amounts in demand deposits as well as short term investments with a maturity date 
within three months of the date acquired by the government. 
 
Capital Assets and Depreciation 
Tangible personal property is recorded as expenditures in the governmental fund types at the time an 
asset is acquired.  Assets acquired by the Sheriff are capitalized at cost in the capital asset accounts of 
the County. The Sheriff maintains custodial responsibility for the capital assets used by his office. 

 
Estimated useful lives, in years, for depreciable assets are as follows: 

 
 Furniture, machinery, and equipment 3-30 years 

 
Accumulated Compensated Absences 
Permanent full-time employees of the Sheriff are entitled to earn vacation and sick time depending on 
the length of employment.  Upon separation of employment, employees can be paid up to 80 hours 
vacation time and 25% of unused sick time.  
 
The Sheriff’s accumulated compensated absences are reported in the statement of net assets in the 
County’s financial statements.  No expenditure is reported in the government fund level statement for 
these amounts until payment is due.  Compensated absences liability is based on current rate of pay.  
 
Due to Others 
This account is used to account for assets held by the Sheriff in a trustee capacity for other 
governmental agencies or individuals. 
 
Risk Management and Insurance 
The Sheriff participates in the Florida Sheriff Self-Insurance Fund, which is considered a public entity 
risk pool which purchases insurance policies on behalf of its members. The pool’s members are not 
obligated for risk associated with such coverage. Coverage under these programs includes: 

  General liability   
  Automobiles  
  Money and securities coverage 
   

The Sheriff provides for workers’ compensation coverage through the Board.  
 

In addition, the Sheriff participates in the Florida Self-Insurance Fund for risks related to professional 
liability and public officials' coverage.  The funding agreement provides that the liability fund will be 
self-sustaining through member premiums and that it will reinsure through commercial companies.  
Aggregate coverage provided by the liability fund is $3,500,000 for professional liability and 
$3,500,000 for public officials' coverage. 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-12- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Management Estimates and Assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make use of estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
as of the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenditures 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from estimates. 
 
Subsequent Events 
Subsequent events have been evaluated through the date of the Independent Auditors’ Report, which 
is the date the special-purpose financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
New Accounting Standards  
In fiscal year 2017, the County adopted four new statements of financial accounting standards issued 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. See the County-wide financial statements for a list 
of newly implemented standards and those recently issued but not yet effective. 
 
NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
At September 30, 2017, the carrying amount of the Sheriff’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted 
cash was $69,269 and the bank balance was $82,443. The bank balance was covered by federal 
depository insurance and, for the amount in excess of such federal depository insurance, by the State 
of Florida's Public Deposit Act. Provisions of the Act require that public deposits may only be made at 
qualified public depositories. The Act requires each qualified public depository to deposit with the 
State Treasurer eligible collateral equal to or in excess of the required collateral as determined by the 
provisions of the Act. In the event of a failure by a qualified public depository, losses in excess of 
federal depository insurance and proceeds from the sale of securities pledged by the defaulting 
depository are assessed against the other qualified public depositories of the same type as the 
depository in default. When other qualified public depositories are assessed additional amounts, they 
are assessed on a pro-rata basis.  

 
Florida Statutes authorize the Sheriff to invest in certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements and 
the State Treasurer’s Investment Pool. In addition, the statutes allow the Sheriff to invest in bonds, 
notes or other obligations of the United States Government, certain bonds of any state or local 
government unit, and bonds issued by certain government agencies.   
 
Credit Risk 
At September 30, 2017, the Sheriff did not hold any deposits or investments that were considered 
to have credit risk. 

 
Interest Rate Risk 
At September 30, 2017, the Sheriff did not hold any investments that were considered to have 
interest rate risk. 

 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-13- 

 
NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
Custodial Credit Risk 
At September 30, 2017, the Sheriff did not hold any deposits or investments that were considered 
to have custodial credit risk. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
At September 30, 2017, the Sheriff did not hold any investments that were considered to have 
concentration of credit risk.   
 
NOTE 3 - EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN 

 
In accordance with Florida Law, the Sheriff participates in the Florida Retirement System (FRS), a cost-
sharing, multiple-employer cost sharing defined benefit public retirement system administered by the 
State of Florida Department of Administration, Division of Retirement, to provide retirement and 
survivor benefits to participating public employees. Chapter 121, Florida Statutes establishes the 
authority for participant eligibility, contribution requirements, vesting eligibility and benefit provisions. 
FRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required 
supplementary information.  The report may be obtained by contacting the State of Florida Division of 
Retirement, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1560, or by accessing their internet site at 
www.frs.state.fl.us/frs/public/annual.  
 
The System provides vesting benefits after six years of creditable service.  Members are eligible for 
normal retirement after six years of service and attaining age 62, or 30 years of service regardless of 
age.  Early retirement may be taken any time after completing six years of service; however, there is a 
5% benefit reduction for each year prior to normal retirement. FRS also provides death and disability 
benefits and cost-of-living adjustments.  Generally, membership is compulsory for all full-time and 
part-time employees.  Prior to July 1, 2011, retirement coverage was employee noncontributory.  
Effective July 1, 2011 the Florida Legislature mandated all employee contribute 3% to their retirement 
coverage with immediate vesting of their contributions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-14- 

 
NOTE 3 - EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
The funding methods and the determination of benefits payable are provided in various acts of the 
Florida Legislature.  These acts provide that both the employer and employee make contributions at 
rates determined each year by the legislature.  The employer rates, as a percentage of gross earnings, 
are as follows: 
  

      
    10/01/16 07/01/17 
  Through Through 
  06/30/17 9/30/17 
 Regular employees       7.52%     7.92% 
 Senior management    21.77%  22.71% 
 Elected county officials   42.47%  45.50% 
 Special risk employees              22.57%            23.27% 
 DROP participants              12.99%  13.26% 

 
 
Chapter 121, Florida Statutes establishes the authority for participant eligibility, contribution 
requirements, vesting eligibility and benefit provisions.  For the period October 1, 2016 through 
September 30, 2017, the total payroll for the Sheriff employees covered by the System was 
$2,358,412. The retirement contributions for all employees covered by the FRS for the years ended 
September 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were $408,708, $364,864 and $359,661 respectively, which 
equal the required contributions. For the year ended September 30, 2017 retirement contributions 
represent 17.33% of covered payroll.  
 
GASB Statement No. 68 establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting, but not funding or 
budgetary standards, for defined benefit pensions and defined contribution pensions provided to the 
employees of state and local governmental employers through pension plans that are administered 
through trusts or equivalent arrangements.  This Statement replaces the requirements of Statement 
No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental Employers, as well as the 
requirements of Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures, as they relate to pensions that are provided 
through pension plans within the scope of the Statement. 
 
The requirements of Statement No. 68 apply to the financial statements of all state and local 
governmental employers whose employees (or volunteers that provide services to state and local 
governments) are provided with pensions through pension plans that are administered through 
trusts or equivalent arrangements, and to the financial statements of state and local governmental 
nonemployer contributing entities that have a legal obligation to make contributions directly to 
such pension plans. This Statement establishes standards for measuring and recognizing liabilities, 
deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources, and expense/expenditures 
related to pensions. Note disclosure and RSI requirements about pensions also are addressed. For 
defined benefit pensions, this Statement identifies the methods and assumptions that should be 
used to project benefit payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present 
value, and attribute that present value to periods of employee service. 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-15- 

 
NOTE 3 - EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
The adoption of Statement No. 68 has no impact on the Jefferson County, Florida Sheriff’s 
governmental fund financial statements, which continue to report expenditures in the amount of 
the actuarially determined contributions, as required by State law. The calculation of pension 
contributions is unaffected by the change.  
 
NOTE 4 - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION 
 
In addition to the retirement plan in Note 3, the County, in accordance with Section 112.0801, 
Florida Statutes, provides post-retirement health care benefits to all retired employees who 
participated in the group health plan while employed.  Employees of the Sheriff are covered under 
the County’s plan. The County is required to measure and recognize the annual cost of the future 
benefits and calculate the annual employer funding requirements and, to the extent funding is not 
made by the County recognize another post-employment benefit (OPEB) liability on the balance 
sheet of the County.  These amounts, if any, are recorded in the County’s government-wide 
financial statements. 
 
NOTE 5 - GRANTS 
 
The Sheriff participates in several state and federal grant programs. These programs are subject to 
program compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives. The audits of these programs 
for or including the year ended September 30, 2017, as well as prior years, have not yet been 
accepted/approved by the grantors. Accordingly, the final determination of the Sheriff’s compliance 
with applicable grant requirements will be established at a future date. The amount, if any, of 
expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined, although 
the Sheriff expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.   
 
NOTE 6 - LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
The Sheriff is involved in various litigation arising from the ordinary course of business.  In the opinion 
of management, after consultation with legal counsel, these matters will be resolved without a 
material adverse effect on the Sheriff’s financial position. 
 
NOTE 7 - EXCESS REVENUES  
 
Pursuant to Section 218.36(2), Florida Statutes, each County Officer shall pay into the county 
general fund all money in excess of the sum to which he or she is entitled under the provisions of 
Chapter 145.  Excess revenues over expenditures returned to the Board of County Commissioners 
as required by Florida Statutes are accrued and reported as a transfer out.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-16- 

 
NOTE 8 - FUND EQUITY 
 
Non-spendable fund balances include amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in 
spendable form or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The Sheriff had no 
non-spendable net assets at September 30, 2017. 
 
Spendable fund balances are classified based on a hierarchy of the Sheriff’s ability to control the 
spending of these fund balances and are reported in the following categories: restricted, committed, 
assigned and unassigned. For the year ending September 30, 2017, the Sheriff reports fund balances 
as restricted. Restricted fund balance has externally imposed constraints placed on the use of 
resources by creditors, grantors, contributors, laws or regulations of other governments or imposed 
by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Assigned fund balance has constraints 
placed on the use of resources by the Sheriff’s intent to use the resources for specific purposes.  
Unassigned fund balance has not been restricted, committed or assigned to specific purposes within 
the general fund. 
 
 
 
 
 



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Combining Special-Purpose Balance Sheet - 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

See Independent Auditors’ Report 
-17- 

Total 
 Inmate Charitable Nonmajor

Welfare Investigative PGI Confiscated Contribution Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds Fund Funds

Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7,071$            1,888$           146$                -$                     151$                9,256$            

Total assets 7,071$            1,888$           146$                -$                     151$                9,256$            

Liabilities
Accounts payable -$                     -$                   -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Total liabilities -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       -                       
 

Fund balance - restricted 7,071               1,888             146                  -                       151                  9,256               

Total liabilities and fund balances 7,071$            1,888$           146$                -$                     151$                9,256$            

September 30, 2017



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Combining Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

See Independent Auditors’ Report 
-18- 

For the year ended September 30, 2017

Total 
Inmate Charitable Nonmajor
Welfare Investigative PGI Confiscated Contribution Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Funds Fund Funds
Revenues
Investment earnings 44$                  -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     44$                  
Other fees and miscellaneous revenues 33,638            -                       1,371               -                       900                  35,909            

Total revenues 33,682            -                       1,371               -                       900                  35,953            

Expenditures
Current:

Public safety and health - Operating expenses 80,355            6,729              2,162               2,527               2,814               94,587            
Capital outlay -                       -                       -                       14,175 -                       14,175            

Total expenditures 80,355            6,729              2,162               16,702            2,814               108,762          

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (46,673)           (6,729)             (791)                 (16,702)           (1,914)             (72,809)           

Net change in fund balance (46,673)           (6,729)             (791)                 (16,702)           (1,914)             (72,809)           

Fund balance - beginning 53,744 8,617 937                  16,702            2,065 82,065            

Fund balance - ending 7,071$            1,888$            146$                -$                     151$                9,256$            



   COMPLIANCE SECTION               
 



 

-19- 

 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL  
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

SPECIAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
To the Honorable Mac McNeill 
Sheriff of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the special-purpose financial 
statements of the Jefferson County, Florida, Sheriff (the “Sheriff”) as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the special-purpose financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the Sheriff’s basic special-purpose financial statements and have issued our 
report thereon dated December 11, 2018. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

In planning and performing our audit of the special-purpose financial statements, we considered 
the Sheriff’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on 
the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Sheriff’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Sheriff’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We did 
identify a certain deficiency in internal control described below as finding No. S08-01 that we 
consider to be a significant deficiency.  
 



 

-20- 

To the Honorable Mac McNeill 
Sheriff of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:   
 
Need for Segregation of Duties S08-01 
 

CRITERIA: The internal control environment should include proper segregation of duties and 
responsibilities over accounting functions. 

 
CONDITION: There is a lack of segregation of duties between employees who have 
recordkeeping responsibility and employees in custody of the Sheriff’s assets. 

 
CAUSE: The Sheriff has limited personnel in the accounting department. 

 
EFFECT: The possibility exists that unintentional or intentional errors or irregularities could 
occur and not be promptly detected. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: We realize that due to the limited number of employees and certain 
incompatible duties being performed by the same employee, it is difficult to achieve ideal 
separation of duties. Nevertheless, internal control is strengthened when incompatible duties 
are separated and review procedures are established and adhered to. We also recommend the 
Sheriff log in to the bank’s website and review the original bank statement. 

 
   STATUS: This condition continues to exist.   
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Sheriff’s special-purpose financial 
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could 
have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

-21- 

To the Honorable Mac McNeill 
Sheriff of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Sheriff’s Response to Findings 
 
The Sheriff’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying letter. 
The Sheriff’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
special-purpose financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Sheriff’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
Marianna, Florida 
December 11, 2018 
 



 

-22- 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION  
218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES, LOCAL GOVERNMENT INVESTMENT POLICIES 

 

To the Honorable Mac McNeill 
Sheriff of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 

We have examined Jefferson County, Florida Sheriff (the “Sheriff”) compliance with the 
requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies, during 
the year ended September 30, 2017. Management is responsible for the Sheriff’s compliance with 
those requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Sheriff’s compliance based 
on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Sheriff complied, in all 
material respects, with the specified requirements referenced above. An examination involves 
performing procedures to obtain evidence about whether the Sheriff complied with the specified 
requirements. The nature, timing, and extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including an assessment of the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error. We 
believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our examination does not 
provide a legal determination on the Sheriff’s compliance with specified requirements. 

In our opinion, the Sheriff complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements 
for the year ended September 30, 2017. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the State of Florida 
Auditor General and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

 
 
Marianna, Florida 
December 11, 2018 



 

 
 

-23- 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ MANAGEMENT LETTER 
 
To the Honorable Mac McNeill 
Sheriff of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Report on the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying special-purpose financial statements of the Jefferson County, 
Florida Sheriff (the “Sheriff”), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2017, and have issued our 
report thereon dated December 11, 2018. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, 
Rules of the Auditor General. 
 
Other Reports  
 
We have issued our Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards; and Independent Accountant’s 
Report on an examination conducted in accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, AT-C 
Section 315, regarding compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the 
Auditor General.   Disclosures in those reports, which are dated December 11, 2018, should be 
considered in conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the 
preceding annual financial audit report.  Corrective actions have been taken to address findings and 
recommendations made in the preceding annual financial audit report except as noted under the 
heading Prior Year Findings and Recommendations. 
 
Official Title and Legal Authority 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal 
authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed 
in this management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  This item was 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 



 

 
 

-24- 

To the Honorable Mac McNeill 
Sheriff of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Financial Management  
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in our management 
letter any  recommendations to improve financial management. In connection with our audit, we 
do not have any such recommendations. 
 
Additional Matters 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have 
occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but which 
warrants the attention of those charged with governance.   In connection with our audit, we did not 
have any such findings. 
 
Purpose of this Letter 
 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida 
Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies, the Jefferson County, Florida Sheriff and 
applicable management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties.  
 

 
Marianna, Florida 
December 11, 2018 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Sheriff 
Management’s Response 

 
 

-25- 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Jefferson County, Florida 
Supervisor of Elections 

 

Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 

September 30, 2017 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Supervisor of Elections 
Table of Contents 

September 30, 2017 

 

 
 
REPORT

Independent Auditors' Report 1

SPECIAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Special-Purpose Balance Sheet – Governmental Fund 3

Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balance – Governmental Fund 4

Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
Fund Balance – Budget and Actual – General Fund 5

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 6

COMPLIANCE SECTION

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Special-Purpose Financial 
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards  13

Independent Accountants' Report on Compliance with Section 218.415,
Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies 16

Independent Auditors’ Management Letter 17

Management’s Response 19
 
 



REPORT



 
 

 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
To the Honorable Marty Bishop 
Supervisor of Elections of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Report on the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying special-purpose financial statements of the major fund of the 
office of the Jefferson County, Florida, Supervisor of Elections (the “Supervisor of Elections”) as of and 
for the year ended September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the special-purpose financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Supervisor of Elections’ basic special-purpose financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these special-purpose 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of special-purpose financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these special-purpose financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
special-purpose financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the special-purpose financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the special-
purpose financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
special-purpose financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Supervisor of Elections’ internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the special-purpose financial statements.



To the Honorable Marty Bishop 
Supervisor of Elections of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the special-purpose financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the respective financial position of the major fund of the Supervisor of Elections 
as of September 30, 2017, and the respective changes in financial position and the respective 
budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As discussed in Note 1 to the special-purpose financial statements, the special-purpose financial 
statements referred to above were prepared solely for the purpose of complying with the Rules of 
the Auditor General of the State of Florida (“Rules”).  In conformity with the Rules, the 
accompanying special-purpose financial statements are intended to present the financial position 
and changes in financial position of the General Fund of Jefferson County, Florida that is 
attributable to the Supervisor of Elections.  They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the 
financial position of Jefferson County, Florida as of September 30, 2017, and the changes in its 
financial position for the fiscal year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to these 
matters. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated August 10, 
2018 on our consideration of the Supervisor of Elections’ internal control over financial reporting 
and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant 
agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing and not to 
provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the Supervisor of Elections’ internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
Marianna, Florida 
August 10, 2018 
 
 
 



                               SPECIAL-PURPOSE 
                   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Supervisor of Elections 
Special-Purpose Balance Sheet 

Governmental Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-3- 

 

General 
 Fund

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 12,212$           
Restricted cash 1,872

Total assets 14,084$           

Liabilities
Due to Board of County Commissioners 12,212$           
Deferred revenue 1,872               

Total liabilities 14,084             

Fund balance -                        

Total liabilities and fund balance 14,084$           

September 30, 2017

 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Supervisor of Elections 
Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance 
Governmental Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-4- 

 

General
Fund

Expenditures
General government

Personal services 202,123$        
Operating expenses 57,504             

Capital Outlay 8,425               

Total expenditures 268,052           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (268,052)         

Other financing sources (uses)
280,200           

Transfers out (12,148)            

Net other financing sources (uses) 268,052           

Net change in fund balance -                        

Fund balance - beginning -                        
 
Fund balance - ending -$                      

Transfers in

For the year ended September 30, 2017

 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Supervisor of Elections 
Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and Actual 
General Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-5- 

 

Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Favorable
Budget Budget Amounts (Unfavorable)

Expenditures
General government

Personal services 203,000$        203,000$        202,123$        877$                
Operating expenses 77,200             68,700             57,504             11,196             

Capital outlay -                        8,500               8,425               75                     

Total expenditures 280,200           280,200           268,052           12,148             

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (280,200)         (280,200)         (268,052)         12,148             

Other financing sources (uses)
 Transfer in 280,200           280,200           280,200           -                        

Transfer out -                        -                        (12,148)            (12,148)            

Net other financing sources (uses) 280,200           280,200           268,052           (12,148)            

Net change in fund balance -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      

For the year ended September 30, 2017

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Supervisor of Elections 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-6- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The special-purpose financial statements of the Jefferson County, Florida Supervisor of Elections 
(the “Supervisor”) have been prepared in accordance with the accounting principles and reporting 
guidelines established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), and accounting practices 
prescribed by Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General, State of Florida.  The more significant 
of these governmental accounting policies applicable to the Supervisor of Elections are described 
below. 
 
Reporting Entity 
Jefferson County, Florida is a political subdivision of the State of Florida.  It is governed by an 
elected Board of County Commissioners (the “Board”). The Board is responsible for the 
administration of all departments pursuant to the general laws of Florida. 
 
The Supervisor is an elected official of Jefferson County, Florida pursuant to the Constitution of the 
State of Florida, Article VIII, Section 1(d), and is a part of the primary government of Jefferson 
County, Florida.  The Jefferson County Supervisor is responsible for the administration and 
operation of the Supervisor’s office, and the Jefferson County Supervisor’s special-purpose financial 
statements do not include the financial statements of the Board or the other Constitutional Officers 
of Jefferson County, Florida. 
 
The accompanying special-purpose financial statements present the financial position and results of 
operations of the various fund types for all the funds controlled by the Jefferson County 
Supervisor’s Office. 
 
The Supervisor is a separately elected County official established pursuant to the Constitution of the 
State of Florida.  The Supervisor’s special-purpose financial statements do not purport to reflect the 
financial position or the results of operations of Jefferson County, Florida taken as a whole. 
 
Entity status for financial reporting is governed by Statement No. 14 of the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB). Although the Supervisor’s office is operationally autonomous from the 
Board, it does not hold sufficient corporate powers of its own to be considered a legally separate 
entity for financial reporting purposes.  Therefore, the Supervisor is reported as part of the primary 
government of Jefferson County, Florida. 
 
These special-purpose financial statements are not intended to be a complete presentation of the 
financial position and results of operations of Jefferson County, Florida taken as a whole. As permitted 
by Chapter 10.556(4), Rules of the Auditor General, State of Florida, the special-purpose financial 
statements consist of only the fund level financial statements as defined in GASB No. 34, and do not 
include presentations of government-wide financial statements of the Supervisor. 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Supervisor of Elections 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-7- 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Reporting Entity (continued) 
The operations of the Supervisor are primarily funded by the Board.  The receipts from the Board are 
recorded as other financing sources on the Supervisor’s special-purpose financial statements and as 
other financing uses on the Board’s financial statements.  Any excess of revenues and other financing 
sources received over expenditures are remitted to the Board at year-end. 
 
Basis of Presentation 
These special-purpose financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the accounting 
principles and reporting guidelines established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) and accounting practices prescribed by the Auditor General, State of Florida. The basic 
financial statements for the County as a whole, which includes the funds of the Supervisor, were 
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America. 
 
In preparing these special-purpose financial statements the following are reported as major 
governmental funds: 
 

General Fund - The general fund is the general operating fund of the Supervisor of Elections.  It 
is used to account for all financial resources, except those required to be accounted for in 
another fund. 

 
Measurement Focus 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to the fixed assets and long-term 
liabilities associated with a fund are determined by its measurement focus.  This means that 
generally, only current assets and current liabilities are included in the balance sheet.  
Governmental fund operating statements present increases (revenues and other financing sources) 
and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net current assets.  Accordingly, they 
present a summary of sources and uses of “available spendable resources” during a period. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures are recognized in the accounts and 
reported in the special-purpose financial statements.  Basis of accounting refers to the timing of the 
measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.   
 
All governmental fund financial statements are reported using a current financial resources 
measurement focus on a modified accrual basis of accounting.  The major modifications to the accrual 
basis are: (a) revenues are recorded in the accounting period in which they become available and 
measurable (available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be 
used to pay liabilities of the current period, considered to be sixty days for all revenue) (b) 
expenditures are recorded in the accounting period in which the liability is incurred, except for 
accumulated sick and vacation pay, which are not recorded until paid.  Charges for services and 
investment revenue are recorded as earned. When both restricted and unrestricted resources are 
available for use, it is the Supervisor’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted 
resources as needed.  



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Supervisor of Elections 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-8- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Budgetary Requirements 
General governmental revenue and expenditures accounted for in budgetary funds are controlled by a 
formal integrated budgetary accounting system in accordance with the Florida Statutes.  An annual 
budget is prepared by the Supervisor of Elections and adopted by the Board for the general fund. 
 
The Supervisor of Elections' annual budget is monitored at varying levels of classification detail. 
However, for purposes of budgetary control, expenditures cannot legally exceed the total annual 
budget appropriations at the individual fund level.  All appropriations lapse at year end. 
        
Budget to actual comparisons are provided in the special-purpose financial statements for the general 
fund.  All budget amounts presented in the accompanying special-purpose financial statements have 
been adjusted for legally authorized amendments of the annual budget for the year.  Budgets are 
prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash includes amounts in demand deposits as well as short term investments with a maturity date 
within three months of the date acquired by the government. 

 
Capital Assets and Depreciation 
Tangible personal property is recorded as expenditures in the governmental fund types at the time 
an asset is acquired.  Assets acquired by the Supervisor are capitalized at cost in the capital asset 
accounts of the County. The Supervisor’s assets are reported in the statement of net assets in the 
County’s financial statements. The Supervisor maintains custodial responsibility for the capital 
assets used by his office. 
 
Estimated useful lives, in years, for depreciable assets are as follows: 
 

Furniture, machinery, and equipment 3-30 years 

 
Risk Management and Insurance 
The Supervisor is covered under the Board of County Commissioners insurance policies.  The Board 
insures itself against losses from casualty, accident and dishonesty by purchasing insurance through 
a local insurance agency.  The Board believes the level of insurance purchased is adequate to 
protect against material loss.  No significant changes in coverage or claims have been made during 
the current year. 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Supervisor of Elections 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-9- 

 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Management Estimates and Assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make use of estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
as of the date of the special-purpose financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and 
expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from estimates. 
 
Subsequent Events 
Subsequent events have been evaluated through the date of the Independent Auditors’ Report, which 
is the date the special-purpose financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
New Accounting Standards  
In fiscal year 2017, the County adopted four new statements of financial accounting standards issued 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. See the County-wide financial statements for a list 
of newly implemented standards and those recently issued but not yet effective. 
 
NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
At September 30, 2017, the carrying amount of the Supervisor’s cash and cash equivalents and 
restricted cash was $14,084 and the bank balance was $34,724. The bank balance was covered by 
federal depository insurance and, for the amount in excess of such federal depository insurance, by 
the State of Florida's Public Deposit Act. Provisions of the Act require that public deposits may only be 
made at qualified public depositories. The Act requires each qualified public depository to deposit 
with the State Treasurer eligible collateral equal to or in excess of the required collateral as 
determined by the provisions of the Act. In the event of a failure by a qualified public depository, 
losses in excess of federal depository insurance and proceeds from the sale of securities pledged by 
the defaulting depository are assessed against the other qualified public depositories of the same type 
as the depository in default. When other qualified public depositories are assessed additional 
amounts, they are assessed on a pro-rata basis.  
 
Florida Statutes authorize the Supervisor to invest in certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements 
and the State Treasurer’s Investment Pool. In addition, the statutes allow the Supervisor to invest in 
bonds, notes or other obligations of the United States Government, certain bonds of any state or local 
government unit, and bonds issued by certain government agencies.   
 
Credit Risk 
 
At September 30, 2017, the Supervisor did not hold any deposits or investments that were 
considered to have credit risk. 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Supervisor of Elections 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-10- 

 
NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
At September 30, 2017, the Supervisor did not hold any investments that were considered to have 
interest rate risk. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
At September 30, 2017, the Supervisor did not hold any deposits or investments that were 
considered to have custodial credit risk. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
At September 30, 2017, the Supervisor did not hold any investments that were considered to have 
concentration of credit risk.   
 
NOTE 3 - EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN 

 
In accordance with Florida Law, the Supervisor participates in the Florida Retirement System (FRS), a 
multiple-employer cost sharing defined benefit public retirement system administered by the State of 
Florida, Department of Administration, and Division of Retirement, to provide retirement and survivor 
benefits to participating public employees. Chapter 121, Florida Statutes establishes the authority for 
participant eligibility, contribution requirements, vesting eligibility and benefit provisions. FRS issues a 
publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary 
information.  The report may be obtained by contacting the State of Florida Division of Retirement, 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1560, or by accessing their internet site at 
www.frs.state.fl.us/frs/public/annual.  

                                                       
For those employees hired prior to July 1, 2011, FRS provides vesting of benefits after six years of 
creditable service.  Members are eligible for normal retirement after six years of service and attaining 
age 62, or 30 years of service regardless of age.  Early retirement may be taken any time after 
completing six years of service; however, there is a 5% benefit reduction for each year prior to normal 
retirement.  For those employees hired on or after July 1, 2011, the System provides for vesting of 
benefits after eight years of credible service. Normal retirement benefits are available to these 
employees who retire at or after age 65 with eight years of service with a 5% reduction of benefits for 
each year. FRS also provides death and disability benefits and cost- of-living adjustments. Generally, 
membership is compulsory for all full-time and part-time employees.  Prior to July 1, 2011, retirement 
coverage was employee noncontributory. Effective July 1, 2011 the Florida Legislature mandated all 
employees contribute 3% to their retirement coverage with immediate vesting of their contributions.   
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Supervisor of Elections 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-11- 

 
NOTE 3 - EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
The funding methods and the determination of benefits payable are provided in various acts of the 
Florida Legislature.  These acts provide that employers and employees pay contributions at rates 
determined each year by the legislature.  The employer rates, as a percentage of gross earnings, are 
as follows: 
  

    10/01/16 07/01/17 
  Through Through 
  06/30/17 09/30/17 

Regular employees   7.52%  7.92% 
Elected county officials  42.47% 45.50% 
 
Chapter 121, Florida Statutes establishes the authority for participant eligibility, contribution 
requirements, vesting eligibility and benefit provisions.  For the period October 01, 2016 through 
September 30, 2017, the total payroll for the Supervisor’s employees covered by the System was 
$145,300.  The retirement contributions for all employees covered by the FRS for the years ended 
September 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were $46,021, $37,158 and $37,427 respectively, which were the 
required contributions.  For the year ended September 30, 2017 retirement contributions represent 
31.67% of covered payroll. 
 
GASB Statement No. 68 establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting, but not funding 
or budgetary standards, for defined benefit pensions and defined contribution pensions provided to 
the employees of state and local governmental employers through pension plans that are 
administered through trusts or equivalent arrangements.  This Statement replaces the 
requirements of Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental 
Employers, as well as the requirements of Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures, as they relate to 
pensions that are provided through pension plans within the scope of the Statement. 
 
The requirements of Statement No. 68 apply to the financial statements of all state and local 
governmental employers whose employees (or volunteers that provide services to state and local 
governments) are provided with pensions through pension plans that are administered through 
trusts or equivalent arrangements, and to the financial statements of state and local governmental 
nonemployer contributing entities that have a legal obligation to make contributions directly to 
such pension plans. This Statement establishes standards for measuring and recognizing liabilities, 
deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources, and expense/expenditures 
related to pensions. Note disclosure and RSI requirements about pensions also are addressed. For 
defined benefit pensions, this Statement identifies the methods and assumptions that should be 
used to project benefit payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present 
value, and attribute that present value to periods of employee service. 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Supervisor of Elections 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-12- 

 
NOTE 3 – EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
The adoption of Statement No. 68 has no impact on the Jefferson County, Florida Supervisor of 
Elections’ governmental fund financial statements, which continue to report expenditures in the 
amount of the actuarially determined contributions, as required by State law. The calculation of 
pension contributions is unaffected by the change.  
 
NOTE 4 - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION 
 
In addition to the retirement plan in Note 3, the County, in accordance with Section 112.0801, 
Florida Statutes, provides post-retirement health care benefits to all retired employees who 
participated in the group health plan while employed.  Employees of the Supervisor of Elections are 
covered under the County’s plan.  The County is required to measure and recognize the annual cost 
of the future benefits and calculate the annual employer funding requirements and, to the extent 
funding is not made by the County recognize another post-employment benefit (OPEB) liability on 
the balance sheet of the County.  These amounts, if any, are recorded in the County’s government-
wide financial statements. 
 
NOTE 5 - EXCESS REVENUE 
 
Pursuant to Section 218.36(2), Florida Statutes, each County Officer shall pay into the county 
general fund all money in excess of the sum to which he or she is entitled under the provisions of 
Chapter 145.  Excess revenues over expenditures in the amount of $12,148 were returned to the 
Board of County Commissioners as required by Florida Statutes subsequent to year end.  
 
NOTE 6 - GRANTS 
 
The Supervisor participates in two state grant programs. These programs are subject to program 
compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives. The audits of these programs for or 
including the year ended September 30, 2017, have not yet been accepted/approved by the 
grantors. Accordingly, the final determination of the Supervisor’s compliance with applicable grant 
requirements will be established at a future date. The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be 
disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined, although the Supervisor expects such 
amounts, if any, to be immaterial.   
 
 



   COMPLIANCE SECTION               
 



  
 

-13- 

 
 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL  

REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT 
 OF SPECIAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED  

IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 

To the Honorable Marty Bishop 
Supervisor of Elections of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the special-purpose financial 
statements of the Jefferson County, Florida, Supervisor of Elections (the “Supervisor of Elections”) 
as of and for the year ended September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the special-purpose 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Supervisor of Elections’ basic special-purpose 
financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated August 10, 2018. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

In planning and performing our audit of the special-purpose financial statements, we considered 
the Supervisor of Elections’ internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine 
the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our 
opinions on the special-purpose financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Supervisor of Elections’ internal control. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Supervisor of Election’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We did 
identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described below as findings No. SOE08-01 and 
SOE08-02 that we consider to be significant deficiencies.  



 
 

-14- 

To the Honorable Marty Bishop 
Supervisor of Elections of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:   
 

Need for Segregation of Duties, SOE 08-01 
 
CRITERIA: The internal control environment should include proper segregation of duties and 
responsibilities over accounting functions.  

CONDITION: There is a lack of segregation of duties between employees who have 
recordkeeping responsibility and employees in custody of Supervisor of Elections’ assets.  

CAUSE: The Supervisor of Elections has limited personnel in the accounting department.  

EFFECT: The possibility exists that unintentional or intentional errors or irregularities could 
occur and not be promptly detected.  

RECOMMENDATION: We realize that due to the size of the Supervisor of Elections’ 
administrative staff, it is difficult to achieve ideal separation of duties. However, the Supervisor 
of Elections should remain very active and involved in the day-to-day operations. Controls 
should be implemented to help compensate for these weaknesses and to provide check and 
balances.  

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE: This condition continues to exist.    

 
Preparation of GAAP–Based Financial Statements, SOE 08-02 

 
CRITERIA: An entity’s system of internal control over financial reporting should include controls 
over the prevention, detection and correction of misstatements in the audited financial 
statements.  

CONDITION: The Supervisor of Elections relies on the external auditor to assist with preparing 
the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.  

CAUSE: The Supervisor of Elections does not have an individual on staff with the accounting 
education and experience to prepare financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  

EFFECT: The fact the Supervisor of Elections does not have someone on staff to prepare the 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and to record 
complex accounting transactions results in a significant deficiency under professional standards.  

RECOMMENDATION: We understand that the cost-benefit of hiring someone with this expertise 
is not practical, therefore; we recommend the Supervisor of Elections continue to request 
outside assistance. 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE:  This condition continues to exist. 
 
 



 
 

-15- 

To the Honorable Marty Bishop  
Supervisor of Elections of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Supervisor of Elections’ special-purpose 
financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which 
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of special-purpose financial statement 
amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of 
our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no 
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 
 
Supervisor of Elections’ Response to Findings 
 
The Supervisor of Elections’ response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the 
accompanying letter.  We did not audit the Supervisor of Elections’ response and, accordingly, we 
express no opinion on it. 
 
Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Supervisor of Elections’ internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal 
control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

 
Marianna, Florida 
August 10, 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

-16- 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION  
218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES, LOCAL GOVERNMENT INVESTMENT POLICIES 

 

To the Honorable Marty Bishop 
Supervisor of Elections of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 

We have examined Jefferson County, Florida’s Supervisor of Elections (the “Supervisor of 
Elections”) compliance with the requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, Local 
Government Investment Policies, during the year ended September 30, 2017. Management is 
responsible for the Supervisor of Election’s compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the Supervisor of Elections’ compliance based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Supervisor of 
Election’s complied, in all material respects, with the specified requirements referenced above. An 
examination involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about whether the Supervisor of 
Election’s complied with the specified requirements. The nature, timing, and extent of the 
procedures selected depend on our judgment, including an assessment of the risks of material 
noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error. We believe that our examination provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the 
Supervisor of Elections’ compliance with specified requirements.  

In our opinion, the Supervisor of Elections complied, in all material respects, with the 
aforementioned requirements for the year ended September 30, 2017. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the State of Florida 
Auditor General and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

 
Marianna, Florida 
August 10, 2018 
 
 



 

-17- 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ MANAGEMENT LETTER 
 
To the Honorable Marty Bishop  
Supervisor of Elections of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Report on the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the special-purpose financial statements of the Jefferson County, Florida, Supervisor 
of Elections (the “Supervisor of Elections”) as of and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, and 
have issued our report thereon dated August 10, 2018. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the 
Auditor General. 
 
Other Reports and Schedule 
 
We have issued our Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards; and Independent Accountants’ 
Report on an examination conducted in accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, AT-C 
Section 315, regarding compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the 
Auditor General.   Disclosures in those reports, which are dated August 10, 2018, should be 
considered in conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the 
preceding annual financial audit report.  Corrective actions have not been taken to address findings 
and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial audit report. 
 
Official Title and Legal Authority 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal 
authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed 
in this management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the special-purpose financial 
statements.  This item was disclosed in the notes to the special-purpose financial statements. 
 



 

-18- 

To the Honorable Marty Bishop  
Supervisor of Elections of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Financial Management 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the management 
letter any findings and recommendations that improve financial management. In connection with 
our audit, we did not have any such recommendations. 
 
Additional Matters 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have 
occurred, that have an effect on the special-purpose financial statements that is less than material 
but which warrants the attention of those charged with governance.  In connection with our audit, 
we did not have any such findings. 
 
Purpose of this Letter 

 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida 
Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies, and the Jefferson County, Florida Supervisor of 
Elections and applicable management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone 
other than these specified parties.  
 

 
Marianna, Florida 
August 10, 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Supervisor of Elections 
Management’s Response 

-19- 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 

Jefferson County, Florida  
Tax Collector 

 

Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 

September 30, 2017 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Tax Collector 
Table of Contents 

September 30, 2017 
 
 
REPORT

Independent Auditors' Report 1

SPECIAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Special-Purpose Balance Sheet – Governmental Fund 3

Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund
Balance – Governmental Fund 4

Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund
Balance – Budget and Actual – General Fund 5

Special-Purpose Statement of Fiduciary Net Position – Agency Fund 6

Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 7

COMPLIANCE SECTION

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 15
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Special-Purpose Financial 
Statements Performed in Accordance with Governmental Auditing Standards

Independent Accountants' Report on Compliance with Section 218.415
Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies 17

Independent Auditors’ Management Letter 18

 
 



REPORT



 

 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
To the Honorable Lois H. Hunter 
Tax Collector of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Report on the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying special-purpose financial statements of the major fund and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the Jefferson County, Florida, Tax Collector (the “Tax 
Collector”) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the special-
purpose financial statements, which collectively comprise the Tax Collector’s basic special-purpose 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these special-purpose 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of special-purpose financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these special-purpose financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in the 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the special-purpose financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the special-purpose financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the special-
purpose financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
special-purpose financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Tax 
Collector’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
special-purpose financial statements. 

 



 
To the Honorable Lois H. Hunter 
Tax Collector of Jefferson County 
Monticello, Florida 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the special-purpose financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the respective financial position of the major fund and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of the Tax Collector as of September 30, 2017, and the respective changes in 
financial position and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 1 to the special-purpose financial statements, the special-purpose financial 
statements referred to above were prepared solely for the purpose of complying with the Rules of 
the Auditor General of the State of Florida (“Rules”). In conformity with the Rules, the 
accompanying special-purpose financial statements are intended to present the financial position 
and changes in financial position of the General Fund and fiduciary fund types, only for that portion 
of the General Fund and fiduciary fund types of Jefferson County, Florida that is attributable to the 
Tax Collector.  They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of Jefferson 
County, Florida as of September 30, 2017, and the changes in its financial position for the fiscal year 
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated August 
24, 2018 on our consideration of the Tax Collector’s internal control over financial reporting and on 
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the Tax Collector’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
Marianna, Florida 
August 24, 2018 
 



                               SPECIAL-PURPOSE 
                   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Tax Collector 
Special-Purpose Balance Sheet 

Governmental Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-3- 

 

 

General
Fund

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 496,181$        
Due from other funds 39,446

Total assets 535,627$        

Liabilities
Accounts payable 8,216$             
Due to Board of County Commissioners 527,411           

Total liabilities 535,627           

Fund balance -                        

Total liabilities and fund balance 535,627$        

September 30, 2017

 
 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Tax Collector 
Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance 
Governmental Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-4- 

 

 
For the year ended September 30, 2017

General 
Fund

Revenues
Charges for services 981,843$        

Total revenues 981,843           

Expenditures
General government

Personal services 326,271           
Operating expenses 128,161           

Total expenditures 454,432           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures 527,411           

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers out (527,411)         

Net other financing sources (uses) (527,411)         

Net change in fund balance -                        

Fund balance - beginning -                        

Fund balance - ending -$                      

 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Tax Collector 
Special-Purpose Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and Actual 
General Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-5- 

 

 

Variance with
 Final Budget

Original Final Actual Favorable
Budget Budget Amounts (Unfavorable)

Revenues
Charges for services 924,000$        924,000$        981,843$        57,843$           

Total revenues 924,000           924,000           981,843           57,843             

Expenditures
General government

Personal services 365,626           365,626           326,271           39,355             
Operating expenses 122,000           122,000           128,161           (6,161)              

Total expenditures 487,626           487,626           454,432           33,194             
 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures 436,374           436,374           527,411           91,037             

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers out (436,374)         (436,374)         (527,411)         (91,037)            

 
Net other financing sources (uses) (436,374)         (436,374)         (527,411)         (91,037)            

Net change in fund balance -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      

For the year ended September 30, 2017

 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida 

Tax Collector 
Special-Purpose Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 

Agency Fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these special-purpose financial statements 
-6- 

 

 

Agency
Fund

Assets
Cash 1,194,391$     

Total assets 1,194,391$     

Liabilities
Due to other funds 39,446$           
Due to other governments 1,154,945       

Total liabilities 1,194,391$     

September 30, 2017



 
Jefferson County, Florida  

Tax Collector 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-7- 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The special-purpose financial statements of the Jefferson County, Florida Tax Collector (the “Tax 
Collector”) have been prepared in accordance with the accounting principles and reporting 
guidelines established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”), accounting 
principles generally accepted in the Unites States of American (“GAAP”), and accounting practices 
prescribed by Chapter 10.550 Rules of the Auditor General, State of Florida. The more significant of 
these governmental accounting policies used in the preparation of these special-purpose financial 
statements are described below.  
 
Reporting Entity 
The Jefferson County Tax Collector’s office is an agency of Jefferson County, Florida, which is a political 
subdivision of the State of Florida. The County was established on January 6, 1827, by the First Session 
of the Territorial Legislative Council. Jefferson County, Florida is governed by an elected Board of 
County Commissioners (“Board”), which derives its authority by the County Charter, Florida State 
Statutes and regulations. In addition to the members of the Board, there are five elected 
Constitutional Officers: Clerk of Courts, Sheriff, Tax Collector, Property Appraiser and Supervisor of 
Elections. The Constitutional Officers maintain separate accounting records and budgets. 
 
The accompanying special-purpose financial statements present the financial position and results of 
operations of the various fund types for all the funds controlled by the Jefferson County Tax 
Collector’s Office.  
 
The Tax Collector is a separately elected County official established pursuant to the Constitution of the 
State of Florida.  The Tax Collector’s special-purpose financial statements do not purport to reflect the 
financial position or the results of operations of Jefferson County, Florida taken as a whole. 
 
Entity status for financial reporting purposes is governed by Statement No. 14 of the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB).  Although the Tax Collector’s office is operationally autonomous 
from the Board of County Commissioners (the “Board”), it does not hold sufficient corporate powers 
of its own to be considered a legally separate entity for financial reporting purposes.  Therefore, the 
Tax Collector is reported as part of the primary government of Jefferson County, Florida. 
 
These special-purpose financial statements are not intended to be a complete presentation of the 
financial position and results of operations of Jefferson County, Florida taken as a whole.  As 
permitted by Chapter 10.556(4), Rules of the Auditor General State of Florida, the special-purpose 
financial statements consist of only the fund level financial statements as defined in GASB No. 34, and 
do not include presentations of government-wide financial statements of the Tax Collector. 
 
The Tax Collector operates on a fee system. Under the fee system, the officer retains fees, 
commissions, and other revenue to pay all operating expenditures, including statutory compensation. 
Any excess of revenue and other financial sources received over expenditures are remitted to the 
Board of County Commissioners after the end of the fiscal year.   



 
Jefferson County, Florida  

Tax Collector 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-8- 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Basis of Presentation 
These special-purpose financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the accounting 
principles and reporting guidelines established by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
and accounting practices prescribed by the Auditor General, State of Florida.  The basic financial 
statements for the County as a whole, which includes the funds of the Tax Collector, were prepared in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.   
   
In preparing these special-purpose financial statements the following is reported as a major 
governmental fund: 
   

General Fund - The general fund is the general operating fund of the Tax Collector.  It is 
used to account for all financial resources, except those required to be accounted for in 
another fund. 
 

The Tax Collector also reported the following fund type: 
 

Agency Fund - The agency funds are used to account for assets held by the Tax Collector as 
an agent for individuals, private organizations, and other governments.  Agency funds are 
custodial in nature and do not involve measurement of changes in financial position.  The 
Tax Collector reports Boats and Licenses, Tag, Tax, and Driver’s License Transactions in the 
agency fund. 

 
Measurement Focus 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to the fixed assets and long-term liabilities 
associated with a fund are determined by its measurement focus.  All governmental funds are 
accounted for on a spending or “financial flow” measurement focus.  This means that generally, only 
current assets and current liabilities are included in the balance sheet.  Governmental fund operating 
statements present increases (revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and 
other financing uses) in net current assets.  Accordingly, they present a summary of sources and uses 
of “available spendable resources” during a period. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in the 
accounts and reported in the special-purpose financial statements.  Basis of accounting relates to 
the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied. 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida  

Tax Collector 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-9- 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Basis of Accounting - continued 
 
All governmental fund financial statements are reported using a current financial resources 
measurement focus on a modified accrual basis of accounting.  The major modifications to the accrual 
basis are: (a) revenues are recorded in the accounting period in which they become available and 
measurable (available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be 
used to pay liabilities of the current period, considered to be sixty days for all revenue) (b) 
expenditures are recorded in the accounting period in which the liability is incurred, except for 
accumulated sick and vacation pay, which are not recorded until paid.  Charges for services and 
investment revenue are recorded as earned. 
 
The fiduciary fund statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting.   
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Tax Collector’s policy 
to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as needed. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents    
Cash and cash equivalents include amounts in demand deposits as well as short term investments 
with a maturity date within three months of the date acquired by the government. 
 
Capital Assets and Depreciation 
Tangible personal property is recorded as expenditures in the general fund at the time an asset is 
acquired. Assets acquired by the Tax Collector are capitalized at cost in the capital asset accounts of 
the County. The Tax Collector’s assets are reported in the Statement of Net Position in the County’s 
financial statements.  The Tax Collector maintains custodial responsibility for the capital assets used 
by her office. 
 
Estimated useful lives, in years, for depreciable assets are as follows: 
 
 Furniture, machinery, and equipment 3-30 years 
 
Accumulated Compensated Absences 
Permanent full-time employees of the Tax Collector are entitled to accrue personal leave time based 
upon the County’s personnel policy related to the length of employment with the Tax Collector’s 
office.  Upon separation from employment, employees can be paid for unused leave in accordance 
with the County’s personnel policy.   

 



 
Jefferson County, Florida  

Tax Collector 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-10- 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Accumulated Compensated Absences (continued) 
The Tax Collector’s accumulated compensated absences are reported in the statement of net position 
in the County’s financial statements.  No expenditure is reported in the government fund level 
statements for these amounts until payment is due.  Compensated absences liability is based on 
current rate of pay. 
 
Budgetary Requirements 
Florida Statutes, Chapter 218.35 and 195.087, details the preparation, adoption and administration 
of the Tax Collectors' annual budget.  The Tax Collector establishes an annual balanced budget for 
her office which displays the revenues available to the office and the functions for which the money 
is to be expended.  The budgeted revenues and expenditures in the accompanying special-purpose 
financial statements reflect all amendments approved by the Department of Revenue and the 
Board of County Commissioners.  The budget is prepared on a basis consistent with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States of America. 
 
Property Tax Collections 
Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, governs property tax collections. 
 

Current Taxes 
All property taxes become due and payable on November 1, and are delinquent on April 1 of 
the following year.  Discounts of 4%, 3%, 2% and 1% are allowed for early payment in 
November through February, respectively. 

 
Unpaid Taxes - Sale of Tax Certificates 
The Tax Collector advertises, as required by Florida Statutes, and then sells tax certificates on 
all real property for unpaid taxes.  Certificates not purchased are issued to the County.  Any 
person owning real property upon which a tax certificate has been sold may redeem the 
certificate by paying the Tax Collector the face amount of the tax certificate plus interest and 
other costs. 

 
Tax Deeds 
The owner of a tax certificate may, after two years of holding a certificate (after April 1), file 
an application for tax deed sale.  The County, as a certificate owner, may exercise similar 
procedures two years after taxes have been delinquent (after April 1). Tax deeds are issued 
to the highest bidder for the property, which is sold at public auction. The Clerk of the Court 
administers these sales. 

 



 
Jefferson County, Florida  

Tax Collector 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-11- 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Risk Management and Insurance 
The Tax Collector is covered under the Board of County Commissioners insurance policies.  The 
Board insures itself against losses from casualty, accident and dishonesty by purchasing insurance 
through a local insurance agency.  The Board believes the level of insurance purchased is adequate 
to protect against material loss.  No significant changes in coverage or claims have been made 
during the current year. 
 
Management Estimates and Assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make use 
of estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues 
and expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from estimates. 
  
Subsequent Events 
Subsequent events have been evaluated through the date of the Independent Auditors’ Report, which 
is the date the special-purpose financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
New Accounting Standards  
In fiscal year 2017, the County adopted four new statements of financial accounting standards issued 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. See the County-wide financial statements for a list 
of newly implemented standards and those recently issued but not yet effective. 
 
NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS  
 
At September 30, 2017, the carrying amount of the Tax Collector’s cash and cash equivalents was 
$1,690,572 and the bank balance was $1,312,450. The balance was covered by federal depository 
insurance and, for the amount in excess of such federal depository insurance, by the State of Florida's 
Public Deposit Act. Provisions of the Act require that public deposits may only be made at qualified 
public depositories. The Act requires each qualified public depository to deposit with the State 
Treasurer eligible collateral equal to or in excess of the required collateral as determined by the 
provisions of the Act. In the event of a failure by a qualified public depository, losses in excess of 
federal depository insurance and proceeds from the sale of securities pledged by the defaulting 
depository are assessed against the other qualified public depositories of the same type as the 
depository in default. When other qualified public depositories are assessed additional amounts, they 
are assessed on a pro-rata basis. 
 
Florida Statutes authorize the Tax Collector to invest in certificates of deposit, repurchase 
agreements and the State Treasurer’s Investment Pool.  In addition, the statutes allow the Tax 
Collector to invest in bonds, notes or other obligations of the United States Government, certain 
bonds of any state or local government unit, and bonds issued by certain government agencies. 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida  

Tax Collector 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-12- 

 
NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Credit Risk 
At September 30, 2017, the Tax Collector did not hold any deposits or investments that were 
considered to have credit risk. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
At September 30, 2017, the Tax Collector did not hold any investments that were considered to 
have interest rate risk. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
At September 30, 2017, the Tax Collector did not hold any deposits or investments that were 
considered to have custodial risk. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
At September 30, 2017, the Tax Collector did not hold any investments that were considered to 
have concentration of credit risk.   
 
NOTE 3 – EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN 
 
The Tax Collector participates in the Florida Retirement System (FRS), a cost-sharing, multiple 
employer defined benefit public retirement system administered by the State of Florida Department 
of Administration, Division of Retirement, to provide retirement and survivor benefits to participating 
public employees. FRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements 
and required supplementary information. The report may be obtained by writing to the State of 
Florida Division of Retirement, Tallahassee, Florida, 32399-1560, or by accessing their internet site at 
www.frs.state.fl.us/frs/public/annual. 
 
For those employees hired prior to July 1, 2011, FRS provides vesting of benefits after six years of 
creditable service.  Members are eligible for normal retirement after six years of service and attaining 
age 62, or 30 years of service regardless of age.  Early retirement may be taken any time after 
completing six years of service; however, there is a 5% benefit reduction for each year prior to normal 
retirement.  For those employees hired on or after July 1, 2011, the System provides for vesting of 
benefits after eight years of creditable service. Normal retirement benefits are available to these 
employees who retire at or after age 65 with eight years of service with a 5% reduction of benefits 
for each year prior to normal retirement. FRS also provides death and disability benefits and cost-of-
living adjustments. Generally, membership is compulsory for all full-time and part-time employees.  
Prior to July 1, 2011, retirement coverage was employee noncontributory. Effective July 1, 2011 the 
Florida Legislature mandated all employees contribute 3% to their retirement coverage with 
immediate vesting of their contributions.    
 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida  

Tax Collector 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-13- 

 
NOTE 3 – EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
The funding methods and the determination of benefits payable are provided in various acts of the 
Florida Legislature.  These acts provide that employers and employees pay contributions at rates 
determined each year by the legislature.  The employer rates, as a percentage of gross earnings, are as 
follows: 
 

                             10/01/16                       07/01/17 
        Through                         Through 

                                                                                                         06/30/17                             09/30/17 
Regular employees                                    7.52%                                                                    7.92%  
Elected county officials’ class                       42.47%                           45.50% 
DROP participants                  12.99%                     13.26% 
   
Chapter 121, Florida Statutes establishes the authority for participant eligibility, contribution 
requirements, vesting eligibility and benefit provisions.  For the period October 01, 2016 through 
September 30, 2017, the total payroll for the Tax Collector’s employees covered by the System was 
$279,670.  The retirement contributions for all employees covered by the FRS for the years ended 
September 2017, 2016 and 2015 were $25,961, $25,552 and $39,289 which were the required 
contributions.  For the year ended September 30, 2017 retirement contributions represent 9.28% of 
covered payroll. 
 
GASB Statement No. 68 establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting, but not funding 
or budgetary standards, for defined benefit pensions and defined contribution pensions provided to 
the employees of state and local governmental employers through pension plans that are 
administered through trusts or equivalent arrangements.  This Statement replaces the 
requirements of Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental 
Employers, as well as the requirements of Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures, as they relate to 
pensions that are provided through pension plans within the scope of the Statement. 
 
The requirements of Statement No. 68 apply to the financial statements of all state and local 
governmental employers whose employees (or volunteers that provide services to state and local 
governments) are provided with pensions through pension plans that are administered through 
trusts or equivalent arrangements, and to the financial statements of state and local governmental 
nonemployer contributing entities that have a legal obligation to make contributions directly to 
such pension plans. This Statement establishes standards for measuring and recognizing liabilities, 
deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources, and expense/expenditures 
related to pensions. Note disclosure and RSI requirements about pensions also are addressed. For 
defined benefit pensions, this Statement identifies the methods and assumptions that should be 
used to project benefit payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present 
value, and attribute that present value to periods of employee service. 
 
 
 



 
Jefferson County, Florida  

Tax Collector 
Notes to Special-Purpose Financial Statements 

-14- 

 
NOTE 4 – POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION 
 
In addition to the retirement plan in Note 3, the County, in accordance with Section 112.0801, 
Florida Statutes, provides post-retirement health care benefits to all retired employees who 
participated in the group health plan while employed.  Employees of the Tax Collector are covered 
under the County’s plan.  The County is required to measure and recognize the annual cost of the 
future benefits and calculate the annual employer funding requirements and, to the extent funding 
is not made by the County recognize another post-employment benefit (OPEB) liability on the 
balance sheet of the County.  These amounts, if any, are recorded in the County’s government-wide 
financial statements. 
 
NOTE 5 – EXCESS REVENUE 
 
Pursuant to Section 218.36(2), Florida Statutes, any excess revenues over expenditures determined 
as of the fiscal year end, “…is returned to each governmental unit in the same proportion as the 
fees paid by the governmental unit bear to the total fee income of the Tax Collector.” For the year 
ended September 30, 2017, excess revenues over expenditures of $527,411 are accrued and 
reported as a transfer out. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



   COMPLIANCE SECTION               
 



  
 

-15- 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER  
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED  
ON AN AUDIT OF SPECIAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED  

IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
To the Honorable Lois H. Hunter 
Tax Collector of Jefferson County 
Monticello, Florida 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the special-purpose financial 
statements of the Jefferson County, Florida, Tax Collector (the “Tax Collector”) as of and for the 
year ended September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the special-purpose financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the Tax Collector’s basic special-purpose financial statements and have 
issued our report thereon dated August 24, 2018. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the special-purpose financial statements, we considered 
the Tax Collector’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on 
the special-purpose financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Tax Collector’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Tax Collector’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the Tax Collector’s special-purpose financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

-16- 
  

To the Honorable Lois H. Hunter 
Tax Collector of Jefferson County 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Tax Collector’s special-purpose 
financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which 
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of special-purpose financial statement 
amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of 
our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no 
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Tax Collector’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal 
control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 
Marianna, Florida 
August 24, 2018 
 
 



  
 

-17- 

 
 

 
INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION  

218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES, LOCAL GOVERNMENT INVESTMENT POLICIES 

 

To the Honorable Lois H. Hunter 
Tax Collector of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 

 

We have examined Jefferson County, Florida, Tax Collector (the “Tax Collector”) compliance with 
the requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies, 
during the year ended September 30, 2017. Management is responsible for the Tax Collector’s 
compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Tax 
Collector’s compliance based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Tax Collector 
complied, in all material respects, with the specified requirements referenced above. An 
examination involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about whether the Tax Collector 
complied with the specified requirements. The nature, timing, and extent of the procedures 
selected depend on our judgment, including an assessment of the risks of material noncompliance, 
whether due to fraud or error. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the Tax Collector’s compliance 
with specified requirements.  

In our opinion, the Tax Collector complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned 
requirements for the year ended September 30, 2017. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the State of Florida 
Auditor General and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

 
 
Marianna, Florida 
August 24, 2018 



 

-18- 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ MANAGEMENT LETTER 
 
 
 
To the Honorable Lois H. Hunter 
Tax Collector of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
Report on the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying special-purpose financial statements of the Jefferson County, 
Florida, Tax Collector (the “Tax Collector”), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2017, and 
have issued our report thereon dated August 24, 2018. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the 
Auditor General. 
 
Other Reports  
 
We have issued our Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Special-Purpose Financial Statements 
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards; Independent Accountants’ Report 
on an examination conducted in accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, AT-C Section 315, 
regarding compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor 
General. Disclosures in those reports, which are dated August 24, 2018, should be considered in 
conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address significant findings and recommendations made in 
the preceding annual financial audit report.  There were no findings or recommendations made in 
the preceding annual special-purpose financial audit report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

-19- 
  

To the Honorable Lois H. Hunter 
Tax Collector of Jefferson County, Florida 
Monticello, Florida 
 
 
Official Title and Legal Authority 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)4, Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal 
authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed 
in the management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the special-purpose financial statements.  
The Jefferson County, Florida, Tax Collector was established by the Constitution of the State of 
Florida, Article VIII, Section 1(d).  There were no component units related to the Jefferson County, 
Florida, Tax Collector. 
 
Financial Management 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)2, Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the management 
letter any findings and recommendations that improve financial management. In connection with 
our audit, we did not have any such recommendations. 
 
Additional Matters 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have 
occurred, that have an effect on the special-purpose financial statements that is less than material 
but which warrants the attention of those charged with governance.  In connection with our audit, 
we did not have any such findings. 
 
Purpose of this Letter 
 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida 
Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies, and the Jefferson County, Florida Tax Collector 
and applicable management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than 
these specified parties.  

 
Marianna, Florida 
August 24, 2018 
 



 
Stephen Fulford        Gene Hall J T Surles Betsy Barfield Stephen Walker 

District 1   District 2 District 3 Vice-Chair District 4 Chairwoman District 5 
 

Kirk Reams Parrish Barwick T. Buckingham Bird 
Clerk of Courts County Coordinator County Attorney 

 

BOARD OF COUNTYCOMMISSIONERS 
JEFFERSON COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

THE KEYSTONE COUNTY-ESTABLISHED 1827 
1 COURTHOUSE CIRCLE; MONTICELLO, FLORIDA 32344 

PHONE: (850)-342-0287 

February 21, 2019 
 

 
General Business: Item E: 
There are currently 3 properties in the County Commission's name that have 
issues. 
 
The first property is the one out at Moody Road off of 59, north of Lloyd 
and across from Hiawatha Farms subdivision.  There are squatters there that 
need to be evicted by the county and then I would recommend selling via 
sealed bid.  A letter had previously been sent here allowing the squatters 
an opportunity to pay what was owed but the letter was sent back to my 
office unclaimed. 
 
The second property is the Herbert Thompson gas station on North 19.  This 
property has contamination issues, for which the commission is NOT 
statutorily responsible for but could adversely affect the likelihood of 
someone purchasing it via sealed bid.  Further direction from the board is 
needed. 
 
The third property is off 282 north forest, which is a trailer and lot where 
Jimmy Kinsey has been living.  I would recommend the board evict and sell 
via sealed bid unless he or one of his family members can pay what is owed, 
which is what the commission last directed when I was still working on 
these.  I am going to reach out to a family member that has mentioned this 
issue to me in the past to see if there is any interest in someone paying 
this off on his behalf. 
 
 
These are the three properties that need to be discussed next week. 
 
Item F: City Road Improvements Requests – Hall 
.   Include Jefferson County/City of Monticello Road Improvement Protocols on our next meeting 
agenda. 
 
County Coordinator Items:  
Reports of Road Department Activities have been provided along with construction projects 
completed or worked on.  

 

mailto:bbarfield@jeffersoncountyfl.gov
mailto:dmonroe@jeffersoncountfl.gov
mailto:pbarwick@jeffersoncountyfl.gov
mailto:tbbird@nettally.com






 
Stephen Fulford        Gene Hall J T Surles Betsy Barfield Stephen Walker 

District 1   District 2 District 3 Vice-Chair District 4 Chairwoman District 5 
 

Kirk Reams Parrish Barwick T. Buckingham Bird 
Clerk of Courts County Coordinator County Attorney 

 

BOARD OF COUNTYCOMMISSIONERS 
JEFFERSON COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

THE KEYSTONE COUNTY-ESTABLISHED 1827 
1 COURTHOUSE CIRCLE; MONTICELLO, FLORIDA 32344 

PHONE: (850)-342-0287 

February 21, 2019 
 

 
General Business: Item E: 
There are currently 3 properties in the County Commission's name that have 
issues. 
 
The first property is the one out at Moody Road off of 59, north of Lloyd 
and across from Hiawatha Farms subdivision.  There are squatters there that 
need to be evicted by the county and then I would recommend selling via 
sealed bid.  A letter had previously been sent here allowing the squatters 
an opportunity to pay what was owed but the letter was sent back to my 
office unclaimed. 
 
The second property is the Herbert Thompson gas station on North 19.  This 
property has contamination issues, for which the commission is NOT 
statutorily responsible for but could adversely affect the likelihood of 
someone purchasing it via sealed bid.  Further direction from the board is 
needed. 
 
The third property is off 282 north forest, which is a trailer and lot where 
Jimmy Kinsey has been living.  I would recommend the board evict and sell 
via sealed bid unless he or one of his family members can pay what is owed, 
which is what the commission last directed when I was still working on 
these.  I am going to reach out to a family member that has mentioned this 
issue to me in the past to see if there is any interest in someone paying 
this off on his behalf. 
 
 
These are the three properties that need to be discussed next week. 
 
Item F: City Road Improvements Requests – Hall 
.   Include Jefferson County/City of Monticello Road Improvement Protocols on our next meeting 
agenda. 
 
County Coordinator Items:  
Reports of Road Department Activities have been provided along with construction projects 
completed or worked on.  

 

mailto:bbarfield@jeffersoncountyfl.gov
mailto:dmonroe@jeffersoncountfl.gov
mailto:pbarwick@jeffersoncountyfl.gov
mailto:tbbird@nettally.com





	Financial Statements Final 2017.pdf
	Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting
	Interfund Balances
	Capital Assets




